
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS REGULAR MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS 
OF THE GOVERNOR’S EXECUTIVE ORDER N-29-20 WHICH SUSPENDS CERTAIN 

REQUIREMENTS OF THE RALPH M. BROWN ACT 
 

THIS MEETING WILL BE OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR IN-PERSON AND 
REMOTE PARTICIPATION.  SEATING CAPACITY IN COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
WILL BE LIMITED TO THE FIRST 16 PEOPLE, ON A FIRST COME, FIRST 

SERVE BASIS.  ADDITIONAL LIMITED SEATING WILL BE AVAILABLE ON THE 
SECOND FLOOR IN ROOM 203 (MAX. CAPACITY OF 15).  COMPLIANCE WITH 

ALL PUBLIC HEALTH & SAFETY GUIDELINES INCLUDING COVID-19 
SCREENING, TEMPERATURE CHECKS, FACE COVERINGS, AND PHYSICAL 

DISTANCING MEASURES WILL BE REQUIRED FOR IN-PERSON 
ATTENDANCE.  PLEASE PLAN TO ARRIVE APPROXIMATELY 15 MINUTES 

PRIOR TO THE SCHEDULED MEETING START TIME TO ALLOW FOR 
SCREENING PROCESSES.  MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC MAY ALSO 

PARTICIPATE REMOTELY IN THE MEETING VIA THE FOLLOWING METHODS: 
 
As always, the public may view the City Council meetings live on the City of Tracy’s website at 
www.CityofTracy.org or on Channel 26.  To view from the City’s website, select “Watch Live 
Council Meetings” from the drop down menu “Select an Online Service” at the top of the City’s 
homepage. You will be directed to the “Council Meeting Videos” page where you may select the 
video for the appropriate date under “Upcoming Events.” 
 
If you only wish to watch the meeting and do not wish to address the Council, the City requests that 
you stream the meeting through the City’s website or watch on Channel 26.  
 
Remote Public Comment: 
 
Public comment, limited to 250 words or less, submitted via email will be accepted for agendized 
items before the start of the Council meeting at 7:00 p.m.  Please send an email to 
publiccomment@cityoftracy.org  and Identify the item you wish to comment on in your email’s 
subject line. 
 
During the upcoming City Council meeting public comment will be accepted via the options listed 
below.  If you would like to comment remotely, please follow the protocols below: 

 Comments via: 
o Phone by dialing (209) 831-6010, or 
o Online by visiting https://cityoftracyevents.webex.com and using the following 

Event Number: 142 899 0779 and Event Password:  TracyCC 
o If you would like to participate in the public comment anonymously, you may 

submit your comment via phone or in WebEx by typing “Anonymous” when 
prompted to provide a First and Last Name and inserting 
Anonymous@example.com when prompted to provide an email address. 
 

TRACY CITY COUNCIL     REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
 

Tuesday, May 18, 2021, 7:00 P.M. 
 
Tracy City Hall, 333 Civic Center Plaza, Tracy                  Web Site:  www.cityoftracy.org 

http://www.cityoftracy.org/
mailto:publiccomment@cityoftracy.org
https://cityoftracyevents.webex.com/
mailto:Anonymous@example.com
http://www.cityoftracy.org/


TRACY CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 2    May 18, 2021 
 

 

 

 Protocols for submitting comments by phone: 
o If you wish to discuss an item on the “Consent Calendar” identify the item when 

calling in. All requests to discuss an item on the “Consent Calendar” must be 
submitted before the Mayor announces that the time to submit such a request has 
expired.  

o Identify the item you wish to comment on to staff when calling in. Comments 
received by phone will be accepted for the “Items from the Audience/Public 
Comment” and “Regular Items” portions of the agenda.   

o Comments received by phone for the “Items from the Audience/Public Comment” portion of 
the agenda must be received by the time the Mayor opens that portion of the agenda for 
discussion.   

o Comments received by phone on each “Regular Item” will be accepted until the Mayor 
announces that public comment for that item is closed. 
 

 Protocols for commenting via WebEx: 
o If you wish to comment on the “Consent Calendar”, “Items from the Audience/Public 

Comment” or “Regular Agenda” portions of the agenda: 
  Listen for the Mayor to open that portion of the agenda for discussion, then raise your 

hand to speak by clicking on the Hand icon on the Participants panel to the right of 
your screen.   

 If you no longer wish to comment, you may lower your hand by clicking on the Hand 
icon again. 

o Comments for the “Consent Calendar” “Items from the Agenda/Public Comment” or “Regular 
Agenda” portions of the agenda will be accepted until the public comment for that item is 
closed.  
 

 The total allotted time for public comment will be as follows: 
o Consent Calendar: 10 minutes  
o Items from the Audience: 15 minutes 
o Regular Items: 10 minutes  

 
Comments received by publiccomment@cityoftracy.org, phone call, or on Webex outside of the 
comment periods outlined above will not be included in the record. 
 
Americans With Disabilities Act - The City of Tracy complies with the Americans with Disabilities Act and 
makes all reasonable accommodations for the disabled to participate in Council meetings. Persons requiring 
assistance or auxiliary aids should call City Hall (209/831-6105) 24 hours prior to the meeting. 
 
Addressing the Council on Items on the Agenda - The Brown Act provides that every regular Council meeting 
shall provide an opportunity for the public to address the Council on any item within its jurisdiction before or during 
the Council's consideration of the item, provided no action shall be taken on any item not on the agenda.  To 
facilitate the orderly process of public comment and to assist the Council to conduct its business as efficiently as 
possible, members of the public wishing to address the Council are requested to, but not required to, hand a 
speaker card, which includes the speaker’s name or other identifying designation and address to the City Clerk 
prior to the agenda item being called.  Generally, once the City Council begins its consideration of an item, no more 
speaker cards will be accepted.  An individual’s failure to present a speaker card or state their name shall not 
preclude the individual from addressing the Council.  Each citizen will be allowed a maximum of five minutes for 
input or testimony.  In the event there are 15 or more individuals wishing to speak regarding any agenda item 
including the “Items from the Audience/Public Comment” portion of the agenda and regular items, the maximum 
amount of time allowed per speaker will be three minutes.  When speaking under a specific agenda item, each 
speaker should avoid repetition of the remarks of the prior speakers.  To promote time efficiency and an orderly 
meeting, the Presiding Officer may request that a spokesperson be designated to represent similar views.  A 
designated spokesperson shall have 10 minutes to speak.  At the Presiding Officer’s discretion, additional time may 
be granted. The City Clerk shall be the timekeeper. 

mailto:publiccomment@cityoftracy.org


TRACY CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 3    May 18, 2021 
 

 

 

 
Consent Calendar - All items listed on the Consent Calendar are considered routine and/or consistent with 
previous City Council direction. One motion, a second, and a roll call vote may enact the items listed on the 
Consent Calendar.  No separate discussion of Consent Calendar items shall take place unless a member of the 
City Council, City staff or the public request discussion on a specific item. 
 
Addressing the Council on Items not on the Agenda – The Brown Act prohibits discussion or action on items 
not on the posted agenda.  The City Council’s Meeting Protocols and Rules of Procedure provide that in the interest 
of allowing Council to have adequate time to address the agendized items of business, “Items from the 
Audience/Public Comment” following the Consent Calendar will be limited to 15-minutes maximum period.  “Items 
from the Audience/Public Comment” listed near the end of the agenda will not have a maximum time limit. A five-
minute maximum time limit per speaker will apply to all individuals speaking during “Items from the Audience/Public 
Comment”.  For non-agendized items, Council Members may briefly respond to statements made or questions 
posed by individuals during public comment; ask questions for clarification; direct the individual to the appropriate 
staff member; or request that the matter be placed on a future agenda or that staff provide additional information to 
Council. When members of the public address the Council, they should be as specific as possible about their 
concerns. If several members of the public comment on the same issue an effort should be made to avoid repetition 
of views already expressed. 
 
Notice - A 90 day limit is set by law for filing challenges in the Superior Court to certain City administrative 
decisions and orders when those decisions or orders require: (1) a hearing by law, (2) the receipt of evidence, and 
(3) the exercise of discretion. The 90 day limit begins on the date the decision is final (Code of Civil Procedure 
Section 1094.6). Further, if you challenge a City Council action in court, you may be limited, by California law, 
including but not limited to Government Code Section 65009, to raising only those issues you or someone else 
raised during the public hearing, or raised in written correspondence delivered to the City Council prior to or at the 
public hearing. 
 

Full copies of the agenda are available on the City’s website: www.cityoftracy.org 
 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
INVOCATION 
ROLL CALL 
ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
PRESENTATION: 

 RECEIVE INFORMATIONAL PRESENTATION/LEGISLATIVE UPDATE FROM 
ASSEMBLYMEMBER CARLOS VILLAPUDUA'S OFFICE 

1. CONSENT CALENDAR 
 

1.A. APPROVAL OF MAY 4, 2021 CLOSED SESSION AND REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

1.B. APPROVE A THREE-YEAR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH MTM 
TRANSIT, LLC, FOR SERVICES RELATING TO THE CITY OF TRACY’S TRACER 
PUBLIC TRANSIT SYSTEM WITH A TOTAL NOT TO EXCEED AMOUNT OF 
$10,917,793.01 

1.C. APPROVE AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF TRACY AND HF&H CONSULTANTS, LLC TO PERFORM A 
SOLID WASTE RATE STUDY, INCREASING THE NOT TO EXCEED AMOUNT BY  
$17,000 FOR A TOTAL NOT TO EXCEED AMOUNT OF $147,720 

http://www.cityoftracy.org/
http://www.cityoftracy.org/
http://www.cityoftracy.org/
http://www.cityoftracy.org/


TRACY CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 4    May 18, 2021 
 

 

 

1.D. APPROVE THE DEFERRED IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT (DIA) FOR SEEFRIED 
INDUSTRIAL PROPERTIES, AND AUTHORIZE FOR THE CITY CLERK TO FILE THE 
DEFERRED IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT WITH THE OFFICE OF THE SAN 
JOAQUIN COUNTY RECORDER 

1.E. WAIVE SECOND READING AND ADOPT ORDINANCE 1307, AN ORDINANCE OF THE 
CITY OF TRACY ADDING CHAPTER 7.28 (“WIRELESS TELECOMMUNICATIONS 
FACILITIES IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY”) TO TITLE 7 (“PUBLIC WORKS”) OF 
THE TRACY MUNICIPAL CODE  

1.F. ADOPT RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF THE CERTIFICATIONS 
AND ASSURANCES AND AUTHORIZED AGENT FORMS FOR THE LOW CARBON 
TRANSIT OPERATION PROGRAM (LCTOP) FOR THE USE OF FREE STUDENT BUS 
RIDES USING AN ALLOCATION OF $28,116 IN LCTOP FUNDS 

2. ITEMS FROM THE AUDIENCE 
 
3. REGULAR AGENDA 

 
3.A. DISCUSS CITY'S RESPONSE TO COVID-19 (VERBAL REPORT) 

3.B. PUBLIC HEARING OF THE CITY COUNCIL TO CONSIDER ADOPTION OF THE CITY 
OF TRACY FISCAL YEARS 2021-22 OPERATING AND CAPITAL BUDGET AND 
ADOPTION OF THE FUND RESERVE, DEBT, AND INVESTMENT POLICIES 

3.C. INTRODUCE AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TRACY AMENDING CHAPTER 5.08 
“ANIMALS” OF TITLE 5 “SANITATION AND HEALTH” OF THE TRACY MUNICIPAL 
CODE TO ADHERE TO CURRENT STANDARDS OF ANIMAL CARE AND PRACTICES 
AND ESTABLISH NEW OPERATIONAL ADMINISTRATIVE PRACTICES AND 
PERMITTING REQUIREMENTS  

3.D. APPOINT ONE APPLICANT TO SERVE ON THE MEASURE V RESIDENTS’ 
OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE FROM ELIGIBILITY LIST 

3.E. APPOINT THREE APPLICANTS TO SERVE ON THE CITY OF TRACY 
TRANSPORTATION ADVISORY COMMISSION  

 
4. ITEMS FROM THE AUDIENCE 
 
5. STAFF ITEMS 
 
6. COUNCIL ITEMS AND COMMENTS 
 
7. ADJOURNMENT 



 
TRACY CITY COUNCIL - SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES 

 
May 4, 2021, 5:00 p.m. 

 
Tracy City Hall, 333 Civic Center Plaza, Tracy 

 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER – Mayor Young called the meeting to order at 5:01 p.m. for the 

purpose of a closed session to discuss the items outlined below.    
 

2. ROLL CALL – Roll call found Council Member Davis, Mayor Pro Tem Vargas, and 
Mayor Young present.  Council Members Arriola and Bedolla arrived at 5:04 p.m. 
 

3. ITEMS FROM THE AUDIENCE – There was no public comment. 
 
4. CLOSED SESSION  

  
a. Conference with Labor Negotiators (Gov. Code § 54957.6) 

 

 City Negotiators: 
Jenny Haruyama, City Manager 
Kimberly Murdaugh, Human Resources Director  
Karin Schnaider, Finance Director 
Leticia Ramirez, City Attorney  
Tim Davis, Special Counsel  

  
 Employee Organizations: 

General Teamsters Local No. 439, IBT  
South County Fire Chief Officer’s Association 
Tracy Fire Fighters Association 
Tracy Mid Managers Bargaining Unit  
Tracy Police Management Association 
Tracy Police Officers’ Association 
Tracy Technical and Support Services Employee Association 
 

b. Conference with Legal Counsel – Existing Litigation (Gov. Code § 54956.9(d)(1)) 
 

 Mitracos v. City of Tracy et al. (San Joaquin County Superior Court Case No.:  
STK-CV-UWM-2018-5531) 

 
c. Conference with Legal Counsel – Anticipated Litigation (Gov. Code § 54956.9) 

 
 Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to § 54956.9(d)(2). (One case).  

 
There was no public comment. 

 
5. RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION - Motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Vargas and 

seconded by Council Member Davis to recess the meeting to closed session at 5:10 
p.m.  Roll call vote found all in favor; passed and so ordered.   
 



 
Special Meeting Minutes 2 May 4, 2021 

 
 
6. RECONVENE TO OPEN SESSION – Motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Vargas and 

seconded by Council Member Davis to reconvene to open session.  The meeting 
reconvened to open session at 7:00 p.m. 

 
7. REPORT OF FINAL ACTION – None. 

 
8. COUNCIL ITEMS AND COMMENTS – None.  

 
9. ADJOURNMENT – Time:  7:02 p.m.  

 
ACTION: Motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Vargas and seconded by Council Member 

Arriola to adjourn.  Roll call found all in favor; passed and so ordered.   
 
 
 
The agenda was posted at City Hall on April 29, 2021.  The above are action minutes. 
 
 
 
 

____________________________  
Mayor  

ATTEST:  
 
 
 
___________________________  
City Clerk 



TRACY CITY COUNCIL           REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
 

May 4, 2021, 7:00 p.m. 
                      
City Hall, 333 Civic Center Plaza, Tracy                Web Site:  www.ci.tracy.ca.us 

 
Due to the COVID-19 emergency, the regular meeting was conducted pursuant to the 
provisions of the Governor’s Executive Order N-29-20, which suspends certain requirements of 
the Ralph M. Brown Act.  Residents participated remotely via email, phone and WebEx during 
the meeting. 

 
Mayor Young called the meeting to order at 7:07 p.m. 
 
Mayor Young led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Pastor Tim Heinrich, Crossroads Baptist Church provided the invocation. 
 
Roll call found Council Members Arriola, Bedolla, Davis, Mayor Pro Tem Vargas, and Mayor 
Young present.   
 
Mayor Young announced the following Proclamations: National Day of Prayer – May 6, 2021, 
and National Public Works Week – May 16-22, 2021. 

1. CONSENT CALENDAR – Following the removal of consent items 1.B by Council 
Member Davis, 1.C and 1.D by Council Member Davis and Robert Tanner, and 1.E by 
Alice English motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Vargas and seconded by Council 
Member Arriola to adopt the Consent Calendar.  Roll call vote found all in favor; passed 
and so ordered. 

 
1.A APPROVAL OF APRIL 20, 2021, CLOSED SESSION, SPECIAL MEETING AND 

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES – Minutes were adopted  
 

1.B APPROVE THE FINAL SUBDIVISION MAP AND SUBDIVISION 
IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT FOR TRACT 3954, TRACY HILLS VILLAGE 7C, 
AND AUTHORIZE THE  CITY CLERK TO FILE THE SUBDIVISION 
IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT WITH THE OFFICE OF THE SAN JOAQUIN 
COUNTY RECORDER  
 
Council Member Davis pulled the item to ask staff clarifying questions regarding 
the project. 
 
Robert Armijo, City Engineer provided the staff report, and responded to Council 
questions. 
 
City Council questions and comments followed. 
 
Mike Souza responded mitigations for Tracy Hills Phase 1.A do not include the 
widening of Corral Hollow and is not triggered by this phase of Tracy Hills, so it is 
not accurate to say the trigger was pushed back by this project.   

http://www.ci.tracy.ca.us/


Regular Meeting Minutes 2 May 4, 2021 
 

Alice English shared her concerns regarding traffic impacts on Corral Hollow, 
safety hazards, no traffic light at Linne and Corral Hollow Roads, asked the City 
Manager to do something about staff, and added traffic studies are bogus. 
 
Kevin Silva asked if there is a title report showing who holds mineral rights to the 
Ellis tract, and stated his family could hold rights to properties at Tracy Hills and 
Ellis. 
 
Robert Tanner stated a single family home may have two cars, would be 
doubling that with duets, and shared his concerns regarding more homes 
bringing more traffic. 
 
City Council questions and comments followed. 

 
ACTION: Motion was made by Council Member Arriola and seconded by Council Member 

Bedolla to adopt Resolution 2021-048 approving the Final Subdivision Map and 
Subdivision Improvement Agreement for Tract 3954, Tracy Hills Village 7C, and 
authorizing the City Clerk to file the agreement with the office of the San Joaquin 
County Recorder.  Roll call found Council Members Arriola, Bedolla and Mayor 
Young in favor; passed and so ordered.  Council Member Davis and Mayor Pro 
Tem Vargas opposed. 

 
1.C WAIVE SECOND READING AND ADOPT ORDINANCE 1305, AN ORDINANCE 

OF THE CITY OF TRACY APPROVING AMENDMENTS TO THE ELLIS 
SPECIFIC PLAN, INCORPORATING THE AVENUES SPECIFIC PLAN 
PROPERTY INTO THE ELLIS SPECIFIC PLAN AND VARIOUS OTHER 
AMENDMENTS; APPLICATION NUMBER SPA20-0007  

 
 Council Member Davis and Robert Tanner pulled the item for discussion. 

 
Andrew Malik, Assistant City Manager provided the staff report. 

 
 Robert Tanner spoke about a majority of Council being in the back pockets of 

Ellis and developers, and their lawyer indicating that if Council did not combine 
the two developments it could delay the Aquatic Center. 

 
 Mayor Young responded that is making an assumption that is incorrect, she did 

not give into any kind of threats, and her decision was based on the different 
information. 

 
 Council Member Arriola objected to that characterization and legal conclusion. 
 
 City Council comments followed. 

 
ACTION: Motion was made by Council Member Arriola and seconded by Council Member 

Bedolla to waive the reading of the full text and adopt Ordinance 1305 approving 
amendments to the Ellis Specific Plan, incorporating the Avenues Specific Plan 
property into the Ellis Specific Plan and various other amendments; Application 
Number SPA20-0007.  Roll call found Council Members Arriola, Bedolla and 
Mayor Young in favor; passed and so ordered.  Council Member Davis and 
Mayor Pro Tem Vargas opposed. 



Regular Meeting Minutes 3 May 4, 2021 
 

 
1.D WAIVE SECOND READING AND ADOPT ORDINANCE 1306, AN ORDINANCE 

OF THE CITY OF TRACY REPEALING THE AVENUES SPECIFIC PLAN AND 
THE TRACY MUNICIPAL CODE AVENUES SPECIFIC PLAN ZONE, CHAPTER 
10.08, ARTICLE 22.8, AND REPEALING ORDINANCE 1262 – APPLICATION 
NUMBERS SPA20-0007 AND ZA20-0004  

 
 Council Member Davis and Robert Tanner pulled the item for discussion. 
 
 Andrew Malik, Assistant City Manager provided the staff report. 
 
 Robert Tanner stated his reason for pulling item 1.D is the same as item 1.C. 
 

ACTION: Motion was made by Council Member Arriola and seconded by Council Member 
Bedolla to waive the second reading of the full text and adopt Ordinance 1306 
repealing the Avenues Specific Plan and the Tracy Municipal Code Avenues 
Specific Plan Zone, Chapter 10.08, Article 22.8, and repealing Ordinance 1262 – 
Application Numbers SPA20-0007 and ZA20-0004.  Roll call found Council 
Members Arriola, Bedolla, and Mayor Young in favor; passed and so ordered.  
Council Member Davis and Mayor Pro Tem Vargas opposed. 

  
 

1.E AMEND COUNCIL MEETING PROTOCOLS AND RULES OF PROCEDURE TO 
ESTABLISH A FIVE MINUTE TIME LIMIT FOR COUNCIL DISCUSSION AND 
DEBATE, PROVIDE CITY BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS FLEXIBILITY ON 
THE USE OF PARLIMENTARY PROCEDURES, AND REQUIRE THAT ALL 
COUNCIL MEETING AGENDAS INCLUDE A “COUNCIL ITEMS AND 
COMMENTS” SECTION  

 
 Alice English pulled the item for discussion.   
 

Leticia Ramirez, City Attorney provided the staff report. 
 
Alice English spoke about Council misconduct and abuse of power at meetings, 
not giving the public the right to speak, violations of the Brown Act, and having 
consideration for staff and the public by limiting Council speaking time. 

 
 Mayor Pro Tem Vargas disagreed with comments made by Ms. English. 
  

ACTION: Motion was made by Council Member Arriola and seconded by Mayor Pro Tem 
Vargas to adopt Resolution 2021-049 amending Council Meeting Protocols and 
Rules of Procedure to establish a five minute time limit for Council discussion 
and debate, provide City Boards and Commissions flexibility on the use of 
Parliamentary Procedures, and require that all Council special meeting agendas 
include a “Council Items and Comments” section.  Roll call found all in favor; 
passed and so ordered. 

 
2. ITEMS FROM THE AUDIENCE – Michael Warda stated the financial ability to perform 

as a cannabis operator has not been considered in the first two phases.  Mr. Warda 
suggested adding two licenses to the process to consider the business operators instead 
of having four licenses that are primarily based on social equity and local businesses.   



Regular Meeting Minutes 4 May 4, 2021 
 

 
Pete Moyer spoke about traffic issues on Hansen Road due to commercial development, 
formation of Lammersville Preservational Alliances, and the County, CHP and Prologis 
looking for solutions. Mr. Moyer stated they would like to close the overpass on Hansen 
Road in some capacity, and requested help from the City to solve their problem.      
 
Thomas Heckman, member of Lammersville Preservational Alliance spoke about the 
issues on Hansen Road, and is looking forward to cooperative measures with the 
County, City and Prologis.   
 
Robert Tanner shared his concerns regarding people riding motorized scooters on 
sidewalk, and lack of signage.   
 
Denise Haliczer shared support for the swim center project and requested Council not 
change the previously approved plan or adjust the previously approved budget. 
 
William Muetzenberg, as a new representative on the EBEC Community Advisory 
Committee, announced a meet and greet on May 6 to provide an opportunity for the 
public to familiarize themselves with the committee.  Mr. Muetzenberg shared his 
concerns regarding bike paths in Tracy. 
 

3. REGULAR AGENDA 
 

3.A PUBLIC HEARING TO INTRODUCE AN ORDINANCE ADDING CHAPTER 7.28 
TO THE TRACY MUNICIPAL CODE TO INCLUDE WIRELESS 
TELECOMMUNICATIONS FACILITIES IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY AND 
APPROVE COUNCIL POLICY ESTABLISHING SMALL WIRELESS FACILITIES 
REGULATIONS 

 
 Andrew Malik, Assistant City Manager provided the staff report. 
 
 Mayor Young opened the public hearing. 
 
 Dan Evans shared his support for the item.  
 
 Mayor Young closed the public hearing. 
 
 Adrianne Richardson, City Clerk read the title of the proposed ordinance.   
 

ACTION: Motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Vargas and seconded by Council Member 
Davis to waive the reading of the full text and introduce Ordinance 1307 adding 
Chapter 7.28 (“Wireless Telecommunications Facilities in the Public Right of 
Way”) to Title 7 (“Public Works”) of the City of Tracy Municipal Code. Roll call 
vote found all in favor; passed and so ordered.  

 
  City Council questions and comments followed. 
 
ACTION: Motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Vargas and seconded by Council Member 

Bedolla to adopt Resolution 2021-050 approving Council policy establishing 



Regular Meeting Minutes 5 May 4, 2021 
 

small wireless facilities regulations in accordance with federal law. Roll call vote 
found all in favor; passed and so ordered.  

 
3.B APPROVE A MASTER LICENSE AGREEMENT WITH VERIZON WIRELESS 

FOR THE INSTALLATION OF SMALL WIRELESS FACILITIES ON CITY 
OWNED POLES IN THE RIGHT-OF-WAY 
 
Andrew Malik, Assistant City Manager, provided the staff report. 
 
There was no public comment. 
 
There were no comments from Council. 

 
ACTION: Motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Vargas and seconded by Council Member 

Davis to adopt Resolution 2021-051 approving a Master License Agreement 
with Verizon Wireless for installation of small wireless facilities on city owned 
poles in the right-of-way. Roll call vote found all in favor; passed and so ordered. 

 
3.C   RECEIVE THE CITY OF TRACY POLICE DEPARTMENT’S ANNUAL REPORT 

FOR 2020 
 

Sekou Millington, Police Chief provided the staff report and responded to 
questions. 
 
Robert Tanner asked for the number of Police Officers in the City, how many are 
retiring and how many in queue for training, and needs for policing the City of 
Tracy. 
 
Dan Evans stated the Police Department have been quick in response and 
professional, and asked about use of force compared to past years. 
 
Alice English stated graffiti has been increasing and not being taken care of 
especially off Tracy Blvd, noticed more car accidents, and asked about the 
numbers for catalytic converters and trucks being stolen.   
 
City Council questions and comments followed. 
 

 City Council accepted the report. 
 

3.D   APPROVE PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE COUNCIL POLICY FOR 
DISPLAY OF FLAGS AT CITY FACILITIES TO INCLUDE PROTOCOLS FOR 
THE PASSING OF CURRENT OR FORMER CITY COUNCIL MEMBERS, 
DISCUSS AND AUTHORIZE COUNCIL MEMBERS’ CEREMONIAL FLAG 
REQUESTS FOR THE COMING YEAR, AND PROVIDE DIRECTION TO STAFF 
 
Midori Lichtwardt, Assistant City Manager, provided the staff report. 
 
City Council questions and comments followed. 
 



Regular Meeting Minutes 6 May 4, 2021 
 

Andrea JuarezSmith stated she is an advocate for raising the LGBT flag for the 
month of June, spoke about the LGBTQ community, and statistics from the 
Trevor Project geared to eliminate teen suicide, and shared her experiences.   
 
Julia Conover, Gold Star mother requested the City fly the Gold Star Flag on the 
last Sunday of September, National Gold Star Family Day.   
 
Carla Waluck requested Council raise the pride flag for Pride Month. 
 
Nancy Whelihan requested to continue raising the Pride Flag during the month of 
June. 
 
William Muetzenberg shared support for raising the Pride Flag. 
 
Dan Evans provided information about what the Gold Star represents, and 
requested Council approve the Gold Star flag or banner to be flown on the last 
Sunday of September every year. 
 
Alice English stated she believed the U.S. and California flags should be flown all 
the time at City Hall because it represents everyone, and shows a solidarity that 
we support the LBGT community, veterans, and Gold Star flags.  
 
City Council questions and comments follow. 
 

ACTION: Motion was made by Council Member Arriola and seconded by Mayor Pro Tem 
Vargas to adopt Resolution 2021-052 amending the Council policy for the 
display of flags at City facilities to include protocols for the passing of current or 
former City Council Members.  

 
 City Council comments followed. 
 
 Roll call vote found all in favor; passed and so ordered. 
 
ACTION: Motion was made by Mayor Pro Tem Vargas and seconded by Council Member 

Arriola to adopt Resolution 2021-053 authorizing the display of a Gold Star Flag 
the last Sunday in September annually at City Hall to commemorate Gold Star 
Mothers and Family Day. 

  
 Jenny Haruyama, City Manager stated staff needs direction on whether Council 

would like a ceremony for each flag.   
 

Council Member Arriola requested a friendly amendment to allow one of the Gold 
Star families in Tracy to raise the flag or have a ceremony if they wish.  Mayor 
Pro Tem Vargas supported the amendment. 

 
 City Council comments followed. 
 

Roll call vote found all in favor; passed and so ordered. 
 
ACTION: Motion was made by Council Member Arriola and seconded by Mayor Pro Tem 

Vargas, to adopt Resolution 2021-054 approving the display of a Juneteenth 



Regular Meeting Minutes 7 May 4, 2021 
 

Flag on June 19 annually at City Hall to commemorate the end of slavery in the 
United States.  

 
 City Council comments followed. 
 
 Roll call vote found Council Members Arriola, Bedolla, Mayor Pro Tem Vargas 

and Mayor Young in favor; passed and so ordered.  Council Member Davis 
opposed. 

 
ACTION: Motion was made by Council Member Arriola and seconded by Mayor Pro Tem 

Vargas, to adopt Resolution 2021-055 approving the display of the LGBT Pride 
Flag for the month of June annually at City Hall to recognize LGBT Pride month.  

 
 City Council comments followed. 
 
 Roll call vote found Council Members Arriola, Bedolla, Mayor Pro Tem Vargas 

and Mayor Young in favor; passed and so ordered.  Council Member Davis 
opposed. 

 
4. ITEMS FROM THE AUDIENCE – Dan Evans stated he appreciated adopting the Gold 

Star flag, spoke about Council Member Davis having principals that she stands by, 
stated the Flag Policy is a terrible policy, and Council demonstrated constant politicking.  
Council can put these flags anywhere, in front of City Hall is wrong. 

 
Alice English shared disappointment regarding Council’s Ellis Avenues decision.  
Council gave Mr. Serpa priorities on the RGA’s and should have stayed in line like other 
developments.  Surland should follow the same policy as everyone else.   
 

5. STAFF ITEMS – Jenny Haruyama, City Manager provided an update on the following 
actions taken by the City Manager during the COVID emergency. 

 
 Accept the Construction of the 2018-2019 Street Overlay (Phase 1) Construction 

Project, CIP 73166 and Federal Project Numbers STPL-5192 (045) & STPL-5192 
(046) Completed by Knife River Construction, of Stockton California. 

 Accept the Construction of the Street Overlay and Slurry Seal Project 2018-2019 
(Phase 2) Construction Project, CIP 73166 & 78182 Completed by Knife River 
Construction, of Stockton California.  

 
Ms. Haruyama also announced effective May 5, 2021 all City facilities will be accepting 
in-person and by appointment only services, and hope to evolve that to limited in-person 
services as we move into the orange tier.   Schedule will be posted on line and on social 
media platforms and as soon as we get a sense of where we are traveling for the orange 
tier and timing of that then we will get those service indicators out to the community of 
when they can physically come into City Hall. 
 

6. COUNCIL ITEMS – Mayor Pro Tem Vargas requested to bring back a discussion to add 
two more cannabis permits and change our policy to instead of being social equity to be 
a revenue sales tax performance base.  Council Member Davis supported the request.  

 
Council Member Bedolla asked if there was any implications to possible litigation. 



Regular Meeting Minutes 8 May 4, 2021 
 

 
Leticia Ramirez, City Attorney responded it would be preferable to provide Council with a 
memo on this issue.   
 
Mayor Pro Tem Vargas responded she did not want a memo, but wants a discussion 
and add permits.  The discussion was always after a year to see what we can add, more 
businesses and more revenues. 
 
Jenny Haruyama, City Manager responded that process was endeavored to be done 
before the end of the calendar year.  Once the existing process is wrapped up by late fall 
or at the end of the calendar year, then staff will bring the item forward. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Vargas announced the following: Grand Foundation is having a gift 
basket fundraising event for Mother’s Day. For information contact:  Grand Foundation 
Facebook site, or website:  www.grandfoundation.org or phone 209-835-3900.  Funds 
will go to support art programs.  Save the date – September 25, 2021 to celebrate the 
third Mayor’s ball.     
 
Mayor Pro Tem Vargas stated a friend lost their elderly father last week, sending love 
and condolences to O’Connor family from City of Tracy.  Happy Mother’s Day. 
 
Council Member Davis requested support for discussion on permanently erecting a 
flagpole to represent every branch of the US Armed Forces including the Gold and Blue 
Star Families.  Looking at the War Memorial or Little Arlington at Tracy Cemetery for 
locations. Council Member Arriola seconded the request. 
 
Ms. Haruyama clarified Council can raise it as part of your budget discussions when 
Council consider the operating and capital budget.  If there is interest in Council to fund 
Blue and Gold Star flag we can add that. 
 
Council Member Davis requested support on bringing back conversation regarding 
addressing a shortage of affordable housing, and support to agendize creating and 
implementing inclusionary housing in the City of Tracy.  Council Member Arriola 
seconded the request. 
 
Council Member Davis requested support to look at opportunities to permanently erect 
flag poles that display flags that are important to residents in dedicated areas for our 
community so that all races, ethnicities, causes and ideologies can feel represented 
without the subjectivity and this could include a public survey to see if the community 
has an appetite for creating a United Nations type of public art display made of flags.  
There was no support for the request. 
 
Council Member Davis acknowledged 18 year old Jordan Matthew Martinez for 
becoming an 11X Airborne Ranger and wanted to say prayers for him and his family as 
he embarks on his new journey in protection and defense of our country.  Council 
Member Davis also wished everyone a happy Mother’s Day. 
 
Council Member Arriola asked Mayor Pro Tem Vargas to add to the cannabis discussion 
to include a public comment period to look over the entire policy.  Have heard complaints 
from cannabis businesses and from labor unions and want to make sure we have a 
holistic overview and find any gaps so we can fill them when we bring it back.  Mayor 

http://www.grandfoundation.org/


Regular Meeting Minutes 9 May 4, 2021 
 

Pro Tem Vargas agreed with the request.  Council Member Arriola wished everyone a 
happy Cinco de Mayo and happy Mother’s Day. 
 
Mayor Young wished everyone a happy Mother’s Day and happy Cinco de Mayo.  Mayor 
Young announced Pastor James Young, His Image Ministries invites everyone to join 
him in prayer for National Day of Prayer on Thursday, May 6, 2021 at noon at the City 
Hall fountain.  Mayor Young reported on various meetings and events she attended.   
 

7. ADJOURNMENT – Time: 11:32 p.m. 
 

ACTION: Motion was made by Council Member Bedolla and seconded by Council Member 
Arriola to adjourn.  Roll call vote found all in favor; passed and so ordered. 

 
The above agenda was posted at the Tracy City Hall on April 29, 2021. The above are 
action minutes. A recording is available at the office of the City Clerk. 
 
 
 

 
       ____________________________ 
       Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________ 
City Clerk 
 



May 18, 2021 

AGENDA ITEM 1.B 

REQUEST 

APPROVE A THREE-YEAR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH MTM 
TRANSIT, LLC, FOR SERVICES RELATING TO THE CITY OF TRACY’S TRACER 
PUBLIC TRANSIT SYSTEM WITH A TOTAL NOT TO EXCEED AMOUNT OF 
$10,917,793.01  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The City’s current contract with MTM Transit, LLC, is set to expire on June 30, 2021. On 
January 22, 2021, the City published a Request for Proposals (RFP) to operate the City’s 
TRACER public transit system.  Four companies submitted proposals: MTM Transit, LLC, 
First Transit, Inc., Storer Transit Systems, and RydeTrans, LLC.  All submissions were 
scored by an evaluation committee.  Two proposers scored within the competitive range 
and were interviewed on March 9, 2021. Those proposers were: First Transit and MTM 
Transit. On March 10, 2021, both proposers were invited to submit their Best and Final 
Offers (BAFO) by March 16, 2021 for review and consideration by the evaluation 
committee. After final review of the interviewed companies, staff recommends awarding a 
Professional Services Agreement to MTM Transit, LLC.  Funding for the operation of the 
City’s Tracer Public Transit System is paid for through the Federal Transit Administration 
(FTA) and the Transportation Development Act (TDA). 

DISCUSSION 

Since July 2001, the City of Tracy has contracted for certain operational components of 
the TRACER Fixed Route and Paratransit Bus services and in particular drivers, bus 
maintenance, and dispatch services.  The fixed route system has grown from a two-route 
bi-directional system to four regular routes and three commuter routes with stops to key 
destinations throughout the City, serving over 150,000 passengers in Fiscal Year (FY) 
2018/19. The paratransit service provided trips to over 19,000 passengers in FY 2018/19. 
In addition, a pilot program for on-demand service was started in late August of 2020.   

On January 22, 2021, the City published a Request for Proposals (RFP) for Operation and 
Maintenance of the City’s TRACER public transit system.  The service requirements 
(Exhibit “A” to the RFP) primarily include providing drivers and dispatching of the TRACER 
Fixed Route and Paratransit Bus services and facilitating revenue service operations and 
maintenance of buses.  MTM Transit, LLC, First Transit, Inc., Storer Transit Systems, and 
RydeTrans, LLC, all submitted proposals to operate the service.  All submissions were 
evaluated by an evaluation committee to determine which proposals best met the needs of 
the City of Tracy.  

The selection process for this RFP evaluated proposals on a “Best Value” basis, which the 
Federal Transit Administration’s (FTA) Best Practices Manual defines as follows: 



Agenda Item 1.B 
May 18, 2021 
Page 2 

“Best Value” is a selection process in which proposals contain both price and 
qualitative components, and award is based upon a combination of price and 
qualitative considerations.  Qualitative considerations may include technical 
design, technical approach, quality of proposed personnel, and/or management 
plan.  The award selection is based upon consideration of a combination of 
technical and price factors to determine (or derive) the offer deemed most 
advantageous and of the greatest value to the procuring agency. 

As a result, pricing is not the sole basis upon which proposals were evaluated. Two 
proposers scored within the competitive range and were interviewed on March 9, 2021. 
Those proposers were: First Transit and MTM Transit. After the interviews, both proposers 
submitted BAFOs for final review and consideration. After final review, staff recommends 
selecting MTM Transit as the preferred company to provide services under the new 
agreement. Tracy Municipal Code section 2.20.140 provides that, when procuring 
professional services, selection should be made based on “which proposer best meets the 
City's needs by demonstrating the competence and professional qualifications necessary 
for the satisfactory performance of the required services.” 

MTM Transit currently operates in 32 states, including California, providing more than 20 
million trips per year. MTM’s mission is to help agencies meet the transportation needs of 
their communities, specifically transit dependent populations. They are committed to 
ensuring all passengers have an exceptional transportation experience. MTM has an 
excellent track record of providing high quality transit service and has organizational 
values and an employee-focused culture that aligns well with the City of Tracy. Their focus 
is on exceeding client expectations, being a cooperative partner, and providing quality 
service to customers. MTM has been contracted to provide Tracer operation and 
maintenance services with the City since 2016.  

As part of the agreement, there have been a few changes in the service provided in order 
to enhance the current operation. These enhancements include increasing staffing levels 
of both drivers and dispatchers, increasing wages for drivers and dispatchers, and 
providing software for management and scheduling of all aspects of the Tracer system. 
The new software will allow for better management of the on-time performance of the 
system as well as allow for passengers to use an app to make reservations for both the 
paratransit and Tracer PLUS on-demand services. 

All expenses for the operation of the Tracer public transit service are paid for through 
funds from the FTA, the Transportation Development Act (TDA) and passenger fares. 
There is no impact to the General Fund for this item. 



Agenda Item 1.B 
May 18, 2021 
Page 3 

STRATEGIC PLAN 

This agenda item is a routine operational item and does not directly relate to the City 
Council’s Strategic Plans.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funding for the TRACER public transit service is provided through County, State and 
Federal revenue sources, and passenger fares.  

The total not to exceed contract price for the base three years is $10,917,793.01 and is 
broken down per fiscal year as follows: 

FY21/22:  $3,538,763.61 
FY22/23: $3,634,718.90 
FY23/24: $3,744,310.50 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that Council approve, by resolution, a three-year Professional Services 
Agreement with MTM Transit, LLC, for services relating to the City of Tracy’s TRACER 
public transit system. 

Prepared by: Ed Lovell, Transit Manager 

Reviewed by: Brian MacDonald, Parks & Recreation Director 
Karin Schnaider, Finance Director 
Midori Lichtwardt, Assistant City Manager 

Approved by: Jenny Haruyama, City Manager 

ATTACHMENT 

A -  Proposed Professional Services Agreement 



City of Tracy - Professional SeNices Agreement with MTM Transit 

CITY OF TRACY 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH 

MTM TRANSIT, LLC 

This Professional Services Agreement (Agreement) is entered into between the City of Tracy, a 
municipal corporation (City), and MTM Transit, LLC, a Missouri corporation (Contractor). City and 
Contractor are referred to individually as "Party" and collectively as "Parties." 

Recitals 

A. City desires to retain Contractor to provide operation and maintenance of the Tracer Public
Transportation Systems; 

B. On January 22, 2021, the City issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) for the operation and
maintenance of Tracer Public Transportation Systems for the City of Tracy (Project). On February 25, 
2021, Contractor submitted its proposal for the Project to the City. City has determined that Contractor 
possesses the skills, experience and certification required to provide the services; 

C. After negotiations between the City and Contractor, the Parties have reached an agreement for
the performance of services in accordance with the terms set forth in this Agreement; and 

D. This Agreement is being executed pursuant to Resolution No. 2021-XXX approved by Tracy
City Council on May 18, 2021. 

Now therefore, the Parties mutually agree as follows: 

1. Scope of Work. Contractor shall perform the services described in Exhibit "A" attached and
incorporated herein by reference. The services shall be performed by, or under the direct supervision
of, Contractor's Authorized Representative: Mark Frailey, General Manager. Contractor shall not
replace its Authorized Representative, nor shall Contractor use or replace any subcontractor or
subconsultant, without City's prior written consent. A failure to obtain the City's prior written consent for
any change or replacement in personnel or subcontractor/subconsultant may result in the termination of
this Agreement.

2. Time of Performance. Time is of the essence in the performance of services under this
Agreement and the timing requirements set forth shall be strictly adhered to unless otherwise modified
in writing in accordance with this Agreement. Any services for which times for performance are not
specified in this Agreement shall be started and completed by Contractor in a reasonably prompt and
timely manner based upon the circumstances and direction communicated to the Contractor.
Contractor shall submit all requests for time extensions to the City in writing no later than ten days after
the start of the condition which purportedly caused the delay, and not later than the date on which
performance is due. City shall grant or deny such requests at its sole discretion.

2.1 Term. The term of this Agreement shall begin on July 1, 2021 and end on June 30, 2024, 
unless terminated in accordance with Section 6. This Agreement may be extended for up to two 
additional one year periods by the City Manager following a written determination that Contractor has 
satisfactorily met all the requirements of this Agreement. The extension periods will be from July 1, 
2024 through June 30, 2025, and from July 1, 2025 through June 30, 2026. 

Page 1 of 34 Re� December2019 

Attachment A







































































Operation and Maintenance of 
Tracer Public Transit Systems 

Prepared for 

The City of Tracy 

Submitted by: 

February 26, 2021 

Exhibit E - Contractor's Submitted Proposal



 
 

16 Hawk Ridge Drive  |  Lake St. Louis, MO 63367  |  phone 636.561.5686   |  fax 636.561.2962  |  www.mtmtransit.com 

February 24, 2021 
 
Ed Lovell 
50 East 6th Street 
Tracy, California, 95376 
 
RE: Contract for Operations and Maintenance of Public Transportation Systems for the City of 
Tracy 
 
Mr. Lovell, 
 
Selecting a qualified contractor to manage and operate TRACER fixed route, paratransit, and 
on-demand transportation services is an exciting and important task for the City of Tracy. As the 
City’s current contractor, MTM Transit is excited to submit a proposal demonstrating how we 
will continue to meet and exceed the City’s expectations for the services, as well as our planned 
enhancements under the new contract term.  
 
Over the past four years, MTM Transit has worked alongside the City to successfully operate 
and expand TRACER services. We have established a dedicated local team, outfitted a facility 
for operations and maintenance, and built relationships with TRACER passengers and the Tracy 
community. MTM Transit presents the lowest risk option for the City, with no turnover, startup 
costs, or learning curve required. Our experienced staff will continue providing exemplary 
service to TRACER passengers, while implementing our planned enhancements for the new 
contract term.  
 
As President and CEO, I am the officer who can bind MTM Transit to the offer presented. The 
City may communicate with Chief Marketing Officer, Michele Lucas regarding the proposal and 
contract negotiations, via email at mlucas@mtm-inc.net, or phone at (636) 695-5536; please 
feel free to contact her with any questions.  
 
On behalf of MTM Transit, I look forward to continuing our partnership with the City of Tracy. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 
Alaina Maciá 
President and CEO 
Office: (636) 695-5503 | Mobile: (314) 495-4953  
amacia@mtm-inc.net 
 













 

                       PAGE 4 

 FINANCIAL SOLVENCY 
The City needs to know the TRACER contractor has sufficient financial stability and solvency to 
continue operating this contract successfully. MTM Transit has the necessary finances to do this 
and is in very good financial condition. We maintain strong, reliable cash flow and are able to 
meet our short and long-term financial obligations. In addition, MTM Transit’s affiliate company 
MTM has a strong balance sheet with a $35M syndicated credit facility lead by JPMorgan. This 
credit agreement allows for up to $2.5M of intercompany advances to MTM Transit.  
 

 LIST OF OWNERS AND OFFICERS 
Alaina Maciá is the sole owner of MTM Transit. MTM Transit’s officers include:  

 Alaina Maciá –Chief Executive Officer 
 Jill Heneghan – Assistant Manager, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer  
 Katherine Lemley – General Counsel, Secretary 
 Brian Balogh – Chief Operating Officer, Transit 
 Scott Transue – Regional Vice President 
 Jack Hempstead – Regional Vice President 
 Edward Overn – Regional Vice President 

 

 MANAGEMENT PHILOSOPHY 
MTM Transit’s management philosophy centers upon open, transparent communication with 
our clients and our staff. As the City has seen firsthand, we empower local leadership to make 
decisions without the burden of unnecessary bureaucracy, yet with the unwavering support of 
our corporate team. With MTM Transit, the City of Tracy will continue to receive the same 
dedication and focus we bring to each of our clients, small and large. We are very selective in 
the expansion contracts we pursue; we choose to work with clients who are true partners and 
share MTM Transit’s value and culture. This results in a slower, more controlled growth for our 
company and allows our corporate resources and support to deliver on our promise of 
dedicated, focused management. 
 











 

                       PAGE 9 

Coordination as the San Joaquin Valley CTSA 
In addition to serving the City of Tracy, MTM Transit is the Consolidated Transportation 
Services Agency (CTSA) for San Joaquin Valley. With this coordination, we offer the City more 
coordination between regional programs than any other vendor. Regional Vice President Scott 
Transue oversees our contracts with Tracy and San Joaquin Valley, and keeps our Tracy team 
updated on opportunities to coordinate for the best service possible.  
 
For example, as CTSA, MTM Transit can verify passenger eligibility for paratransit service and 
help assign passengers to the most appropriate TRACER service.  
 
We can also refer passengers who may benefit from travel training to the available CTSA 
programs to transition them from paratransit to fixed route and/or on-demand services, 
saving the City money and helping Tracy residents gain more transportation independence.  
 
MTM Transit can ensure passengers use the services for which they qualify, which will help 
the City manage cost for the paratransit system. As CTSA, our ability to better enforce 
eligibility assignment, including temporary and restricted status, will also improve ridership 
and productivity for TRACER. These benefits are only something MTM Transit can offer the 
City.  
 

 SIMILAR EXPERIENCE 
Our experience serving fixed route and paratransit programs across the nation makes us an 
ideal partner to ensure the TRACER program continues to effectively serve the community 
while adhering to all ADA and Federal Transit Administration (FTA) guidelines. MTM Transit 
has operations across the country, and we provided exemplary service to all clients. Figure 3 
details the types of services provided in each of our operations.  
 
  



























 

                       PAGE 20 

Below we highlight some of our successful startups to demonstrate our capabilities: 
 Tracy, California: MTM Transit had less than a month to implement the TRACER program 

in August 2016. In that short time, we established and equipped a maintenance facility, 
furnished the City with four brand new vehicles, implemented Routematch software with 
in-vehicle technology, and installed Idrive on-board cameras. We successfully negotiated 
and transitioned union operations and hired other incumbent employees, retaining 98% 
of the incumbent staff. In our first 90 days of operation, we exceeded performance 
requirements and reduced road calls by 77%. 

 Lane County, Oregon: MTM Transit implemented this paratransit program in August of 
2017. Even though we had only two months to implement the service and gained access 
to the facilities only the night before operations started, start-up went smoothly. 
Employees have noticed a major change in employee culture from the incumbent, which 
has resulted in improved customer service and a positive atmosphere for employees. 

 Reno, Nevada: The Regional Transportation Commission (RTC) of Washoe County, 
Nevada selected MTM Transit to operate its ACCESS paratransit system in April of 2017. 
With less than three months from award date to start date, we quickly recruited 
incumbent and new staff and began training that focused on customer service and 
safety. Seven MTM Transit executives were on site with our training and human 
resources teams to oversee implementation. MTM Transit quickly trained a staff of more 
than 70 individuals and we provided about 700 trips on our first day of service with 
excellent results. The RTC was pleased with the smooth transition, which improved 
operations and employee morale. 

 Austin, Texas: MTM Transit implemented a paratransit operation in the southern region 
of the Austin metropolitan area in October of 2018. During implementation, we mended 
employee relations and created a positive working relationship with the local union. 
Since start up, we have improved several key performance indicators, including on-time 
performance and passengers per revenue hour. MTM Transit employs 230 staff members 
for the South Base operation and provides 1,400 trips a day. We also operate a 
paratransit service for the same agency in the northern region of Austin, a contract we 
implemented in 2014. 

  







 

                       PAGE 23 

Since mid-March, we worked with our clients to implement the following solutions: 
• Partnered with our clients on the procurement and installation of Plexiglas barriers in 

vehicles to minimize operators’ exposure; we will do so in Tracy upon receipt of barriers 
from the City  

• Secured and distributed PPE for our operators, including masks, sanitizers, and gloves 
• Ensuring passengers are wearing face coverings and observing social distancing 

standards, where appropriate 
• Implementing new daily sanitizing procedures on all vehicles we operate, and in all 

operations facilities and offices  
• Communicating COVID-19 safety precautions to passengers. In San Diego, for example, 

we partnered with our client to develop and send messages to passengers whose email 
addresses were already on file to inform them about the current requirement for 
wearing face coverings while in public. 

 
In addition to the efforts listed above, MTM Transit is also working with lobbyists and clients to 
make sure our frontline employees receive the COVID-19 vaccination as soon as possible so 
they may continue providing safe service under the programs we operate.  
 

 
 
MTM Transit prioritizes continual improvement and incorporating lessons learned into our 
processes. Our leadership has stayed abreast of the latest developments and guidance from the 
WHO and the CDC since this pandemic started, and has always deferred to government 
guidelines when making decisions about our operations. 
 









 

                       PAGE 26 

Under Mark’s leadership, the TRACER program has steadily improved and expanded service, as 
evidenced by on-time performance and safety improvements, and our ability to help the City 
expand to provide the TracerPLUS on-demand service in 2020. Mark leads the Tracy team by 
example, earning the monthly ZAP Manager Award in August 2020. The award recognized his 
engaging safety messages and initiatives, like using colored safety belts to recognize his staff’s 
excellent safety performance –similar to belt designations in martial arts. This program has 
been such a hit in Tracy that MTM Transit is currently considering expanding this program to 
our employees nationwide. 
 

 DISPATCH/OPERATIONS SUPERVISOR (OPERATIONS MANAGER), BENJAMIN 
SANCHEZ 

Benjamin has been with MTM Transit in our TRACER operation since 
2016, working his way up from Reservationist, to Dispatcher, to 
Operations Manager. His experience gives him a comprehensive 
understanding of the program, as well as the nuances of each position 
serving the program. In his role as Operations Manager, Benjamin 
coordinates operations to provide the best service for TRACER 
passengers, including creating run bids to best match service 

requirements, providing daily feedback on operations to staff, and assisting dispatchers and 
road supervisors. He also trains new operators, validates paratransit and fixed route data for 
accuracy, and monitors operation cost.  
 
As Operations Manager, Benjamin has led a number of initiatives for the TRACER program and 
the City, including establishing a presence for TRACER on Google Maps, launching TransLoc for 
the TracerPLUS on-demand service, purging old paratransit customer files, and improving the 
deposit reconciliation process. He has also assisted with the senior meals program, Genfare 
startup and infrastructure, Vamos mobile ticketing, warming center coordination, and 
Greyhound training and operating procedures.  
  





 

                       PAGE 28 

 EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP 
Our executives are dedicated to the success of each contract we hold, beginning during 
implementation and continuing throughout the life of the program. These individuals lend 
valuable time to our local operations teams with complete dedication and commitment to each 
project. The members of our leadership team are familiar with all operational aspects required 
for TRACER program success and come to MTM Transit with varying backgrounds to fully inform 
our approach. The following paragraphs detail the names, experience, and roles of our 
executive team.  
 

 
 
 22 years 

serving 
individuals 
with 
disabilities 

 
 Supports 

MTM’s West 
contracts 

Regional Vice President | Scott Transue 
Scott Transue oversees operations in the Western part of the United 
States for MTM Transit. He works hard to ensure that business 
outcomes and contract goals are defined and met. Scott brings a 
unique perspective to MTM Transit due to his extensive experience 
during his 22-year career working for various transit agencies, including 
16 years in management.  
 
Prior to joining MTM Transit, Scott served as Vice President and Chief 
Operating Officer of a transit company in Southern California for four 
years, where he oversaw a community transit program that provided 
numerous demand responsive services and fixed route services. In 
addition, Scott worked for San Diego Metropolitan Transit System 
(MTS) for eight years as a Transit Operations Specialist/ADA Manager.  
 
Scott currently oversees MTM Transit’s Tracy contract, and serves as 
General Manager Mark Frailey’s supervisor. Scott was instrumental in 
implementing the on-demand service and TransLoc software, working 
with local staff and the city on a tight timeline. He will continue 
working with Mark, the local team, and the City to realize operational 
improvements into the new contract term.  

 
  









 

                       PAGE 32 

We post and promote all positions that need to be filled, along with their applicable 
descriptions, on various outlets including: 

 Local and national recruiting websites such as CareerBuilder, LinkedIn, ZipRecruiter, 
Indeed 

 State employment/workforce development office 
 Local job banks and fairs 
 Social media such as Facebook and Twitter 
 Local community colleges and universities 
 Veteran and community outreach 

 
We carefully recruit and screen candidates, only hiring those who display the qualities 
necessary to provide exemplary service on behalf of MTM Transit and TRACER. To screen 
candidates, our team conducts phone interviews and on-site testing and interviews all final 
candidates in person. MTM Transit checks references and backgrounds for candidates who pass 
interviews. These include criminal background checks and pre-employment drug screening on 
all employees, as well as motor vehicle record (MVR) reviews and physicals on all operators.  
 

 EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY 
MTM Transit maintains an Equal Employment Opportunity Program and Affirmative Action Plan 
that complies with all provisions as outlined in FTA Circular 4704.1A, and all other 
corresponding state regulations including any revisions.  























 

                       PAGE 42 

Using radios, and communication features in Reveal and TransLoc, our dispatchers 
communicate on a real-time basis with the drivers to ensure schedule adherence. Both Reveal 
and TransLoc provide real-time information on route performance, and allow dispatchers to 
send messages to drivers via the in-vehicle tablets. Dispatchers help identify problems with 
radio communication devices and coordinate repairs with the management team.  
 
Further, MTM Transit considers its dispatch team to be a key voice in promoting our overall 
safety program. We train each dispatcher in reasonable suspicion, and we require them to 
confirm that operators are fit for duty before allowing them to enter service. MTM Transit also 
trains dispatchers to deliver safety messages throughout the day and to monitor adherence to 
our overall safety culture. 
 

RECORDKEEPING AND REPORTING 
The City receives comprehensive information on MTM Transit’s operations through scheduled 
and as-requested reports, which we generate through Routematch and Cetaris Fleet Assistant. 
Under the new contract term, we will provide reports through Reveal, TransLoc, and Cetaris, as 
applicable to the respective TRACER service.  
 
We submit required reports on a daily, weekly, and monthly basis, as required by the City, 
including:  

 Daily ridership records for all services, including route information, number of 
passengers, and passenger type 

 Daily checklist for fuel canopy, pumps, and compressor at the CNG fueling station 
 Monthly report detailing revenue hours, revenue miles, fare revenue, and ridership 

figures 
 Monthly invoices 
 Files for paratransit customers 
 Maintenance work records 
 Records of all accidents and passenger injuries 

 
MTM Transit plans to use TransLoc’s free, open API to funnel information from our various 
platforms: TransLoc, Reveal, and Cetaris, to dashboards for convenient, easy access by the City. 
On the dashboard, the City will be able to view high-level comparisons of on-time/late/early 
departures, route performance, and vehicle performance. 
 







 

                       PAGE 45 

Reveal and TransLoc can deliver on all the City’s goals, including improved customer service, 
fleet and management, system security, and reliability and consistency of service, as well as 
better access to information and operational data for customers and the City.  
 

 REVEAL ROUTING, SCHEDULING, AND DISPATCHING SOFTWARE 
Under the new contract term, MTM Transit plans to build upon our strong foundation in Tracy 
by implementing Reveal routing, scheduling, and dispatching (RSD) software for TRACER 
paratransit services. Reveal is a commercially available software used by similar programs since 
2008. MTM Transit’s affiliate MTM acquired Reveal in 2017, and we have been strategically 
transitioning our operations onto its superior RSD platform over the past two years. Reveal is 
the most modern, user-friendly, feature-rich software in the industry. It is highly programmable 
while remaining easy to use.  
 
Reveal’s technology automates the routing and scheduling process, and provides optimum 
dispatching capabilities through real-time global positioning system (GPS) information. Using 
Reveal, MTM Transit can optimize and prioritize TRACER trip assignments based on the City’s 
service parameters. We can prioritize efficiency, on-time performance, passenger travel time, 
or other parameter as the City desires.  
 
We have a full in-house team to support customizations, training, updates, and 
troubleshooting. Our Tracy staff will receive hands-on support from MTM Transit, MTM, and 
Reveal IT personnel throughout the transition to mitigate any issues, and provide a smooth, 
successful software implementation. 
 
MTM Transit has successfully implemented Reveal in several of our current programs, including 
Conroe, Texas; Reno, Nevada; Hamilton County, Ohio; Perrysburg, Ohio; and Orange County, 
New York. In addition, Reveal is available as a standalone system used by several transit 
agencies, including Rhode Island Public Transit Authority (RIPTA), Kansas City Area 
Transportation Authority (KCATA), and Johnson County Transit (JCT).  
 

Reveal Driver App 
Reveal offers an easy-to-use app for drivers that distributes trip manifests, tracks automatic 
vehicle location (AVL), and assigns short notice trips. Reveal’s driver app, which we will load 
onto each in-vehicle tablet, provides real-time AVL tracking and communication functionality 
between the driver and dispatcher.  





 

                       PAGE 47 

Reveal Reporting 
In addition, Reveal will provide increased transparency into day-to-day operations for the City 
through dashboards, as well as access to real-time program data. Figure 16 shows the 
dashboards Reveal provides.  
 

Dashboard Function 
Quality Assurance Displays selected key performance indicators for the contract 

such as overall productivity, on-time performance, etc. 

Passenger Summary List of all passengers and the number of trips taken in date 
range, on-time performance, etc. 

Passenger Specific passenger information pertaining to on-time 
performance, trip dates, manifests, etc. 

Driver Summary List of all drivers, on-time performance, number of trips 
provided on time and late 

Driver Specific driver information pertaining to on-time 
performance, manifest driven, dates, passengers 

Location Summary Displays addresses detailing on-time performance, 
cancellations, number of pick-ups and drop-offs 

Location Specific location information pertaining to on-time 
performance, passengers, number of pick-ups and drop-offs 

Filter Allows comparison of different types of services provided 

Manifest Summary Displays trips and how they relate to each manifest; (on-time, 
late, on-time performance, completed) 

Manifest Provides specific information per manifest pertaining to on-
time performance, late, completed, etc. 

Schedule vs. Actual Provides manifest and trip information, comparing scheduled 
to actual performance, in order to provide the user to trend 
information needing attention 

Figure 16: Reveal Dashboards. Reveal offers extensive dashboards for performance monitoring.  

 

 TRANSLOC SOFTWARE 
MTM Transit proposes TransLoc software for TRACER fixed route and TracerPLUS on-demand 
service. We already use TransLoc for the TracerPLUS on-demand service with much success, 
and believe it will provide the features the City seeks for the fixed route service under the new 
contract term.  



 

                       PAGE 48 

In addition, passengers who use the TracerPLUS on-demand service are most likely to also use 
the fixed route service, so having one software and one app will streamline these services for 
both the City and passengers. TransLoc for fixed route service is essentially the same as Double 
Map software, used by the City of Lodi. Double Map is a part of the TransLoc family of services, 
and will eventually be phased out of service, with TransLoc’s fixed route software operating as 
an improved version of Double Map.  
 
TransLoc’s on-demand and fixed route dispatch software provides real-time vehicle tracking 
and arrival predictions for passengers, MTM Transit, and the City; performance reports 
detailing on-time performance, headway, and arrivals/departures; system-wide 
announcements for route changes, service interruptions, or weather emergencies; and live 
displays and customizable dashboards for real-time location maps, arrival predictions, high-
level performance comparisons, and announcements.  
 
The feeds for TransLoc connect to GTFS, RT, XML, and other open feeds. TransLoc will also 
provide Wi-Fi (up to 10GB) on all fixed route buses and text messaging features. Further, 
MTM Transit’s dispatchers can send canned messages to drivers during service as necessary. 
The brochure in Appendix C details features TransLoc will provide for TRACER and 
TracerPLUS services.  
 

Passenger App 
The TransLoc passenger app allows passengers to book and confirm trips on the TracerPLUS on-
demand service, or plan trips on the fixed route system. Passengers can search in the app for 
local transit stops and routes, points of interest, or street addresses to book trips. The app 
either will recommend the on-demand or fixed route service, depending on availability at the 
selected origin/destination points. The app provides scheduled and estimated arrival times for 
route planning. If the passenger wishes to use the TracerPLUS on-demand service, s/he may 
book and confirm a trip on the app. If the passenger selects TRACER fixed route service, the app 
will provide step-by-step instructions to get to the bus stop and final destination. Passengers 
can save favorite stops for easy access in the future and explore routes using the app.  
 

VEHICLES 
For the new contract, MTM Transit will provide three new vehicles, including two Nissan Leafs 
and one accessible Braun Entervan, for road supervision and driver shuttling, as required by the 
City.  



 

                       PAGE 49 

These vehicles meet the City’s requirements, including less than five years old, TRACER logo and 
“Road Supervisor” on the sides of the vehicle, four doors, and one ADA accessible vehicle. In 
addition, the Nissan Leafs are fully electric, supporting MTM Transit’s efforts to move towards 
greener, more sustainable transit. We will charge them at the City’s charging stations.  
 
Figure 17 shows mockups of the vehicles we will use for road supervision and shuttling with the 
TRACER logo and “Road Supervisor” on the sides of the vehicles.  
 

    

     
Figure 17: Road Supervision Vehicles. MTM Transit will provide three new non-revenue vehicles for the 
new contract term.  

 
We will continue using the City-provided fleet of 17 revenue vehicles for fixed route, 
paratransit, and on-demand services.  
 

 IN-VEHICLE CAMERA SYSTEM 
MTM Transit will continue to use the Idrive X2 camera system in all TRACER vehicles. Unlike 
many competitor video monitoring systems, Idrive records continuously, and allows us to 
request recordings from both inside and outside of the vehicle whenever a vehicle is operating. 
The Idrive system offers the following features: 

 Live GPS tracking  
 Simultaneous recording of triggered and 

continuous events 
 0.3 megapixel to HD selectable resolution 
 8GB standard internal memory 
 R LED- BrightNight technology 

 Wireless data transfer  
 170° internal/160° external lens  
 Internal microphone 
 USB download  
 Manual triggers  
 Wire panic button 



 

                       PAGE 50 

The Idrive software combines a video review platform and fleet management tool all in one, 
capable of storing up to 500 hours of video footage, including real time and historical 
vehicle and operator data. Events and data automatically sync to an online cloud, stored to 
a secure central server, and can be viewed at the internet portal via the Idrive Control 
Center Application. MTM Transit uses the footage to monitor both operator and passenger 
behavior.  
 
Idrive provides accident management features within its software. MTM Transit can save 
critical videos, pictures, and documents to a safe location for insurance and recording 
purposes. When an accident occurs, Idrive stores video, audio, GPS coordinates, speed, and g-
force values. Additionally, Idrive offers an environmental component that helps reduce idle 
time and fuel consumption, and improve driving behavior, which together reduce wear and 
tear on the fleet.  
 
Further, Idrive performs a review of each triggered event, and sends General Manager Mark 
Frailey a weekly report summarizing the events and surrounding circumstances. Mark reviews 
the report and meets with any operator whose behavior or driving pattern is outside of the 
standards upheld by MTM Transit. MTM Transit’s corporate safety team conducts weekly and 
monthly Idrive safety and coaching calls with Regional Vice President Scott Transue and 
Director of Safety Administration Tom Gruefe.  
 
MTM Transit checks the onboard video system every day as a part of the pre-trip inspection. 
In the event the system is not functioning, we pull the vehicle from service until it is once 
again operational. 
 
 
  









 

                       PAGE 54 

At the start of the day, operators perform a daily pre-trip inspection on every vehicle. The pre-
trip inspection includes a 15-minute walk-around visual inspection and a check of the following: 

 Fuel levels and leaks 
 Engine oil, coolant, water and 

transmission fluid  
 Mobile validator operation 
 Wheelchair lift/ramp check 
 Security camera inspection 
 Annunciator inspection and test 
 Real-time Information system test 
 Brake functionality 
 Turn signals  
 Headlights  
 Brake, tail, and back-up lights  
 Interior and exterior lights  
 Windshield wipers and washer 
 Door and window operation  
 Mirrors and horn  
 Steering and steering fluid  
 Tires (air pressure, tread depth, 

wear)  

 Lights and flashers 
 The City system map and route 

schedule brochure inventory 
 Interior and exterior visual inspection 
 Defects reported by vehicle operators 

to identify potential safety and 
reliability items requiring immediate 
attention, including climate control 
mechanisms 

 Front and rear suspension 
 Wheelchair ramp, tie downs 
 Radio system/tablets 
 Heater(s) and defroster 
 Air conditioning system  
 Safety equipment 
 Interior and exterior cleanliness 
 Battery fluid, cables, and corrosion 
 Body damage 

 
A maintenance technician is on-site each morning thirty minutes prior to the first vehicle pull 
out to address vehicle maintenance issues. In addition, a manager is always present for peak 
pull out each day, available to support the operators, answer any questions, and ensure that 
each route is leaving the yard on time so that it will make its initial stop on schedule. 
 
MTM Transit trains operators to recognize symptoms of maintenance issues and records 
findings on the Daily Vehicle Inspection (DVI) form, and report any defects to a supervisor. If 
necessary, MTM Transit removes the vehicle from service until we repair and inspect it for 
return.  
 
For the new contract term, MTM Transit will use Trackit to provide electronic documentation of 
the Daily Vehicle Inspection (DVI) form. Operators will complete the DVI form on tablets. Upon 
completion of the inspection, maintenance personnel review and note any defects in our 
Cetaris Fleet Assistant software for appropriate follow-up.  
 



 

                       PAGE 55 

Post-Trip Inspections 
Once the vehicle is out of service for the day, the operator records the mileage and usage of 
fuel and oil and checks for the same items inspected during the pre-trip inspection. The 
operator fills out a post-trip inspection log. Maintenance Manager Scott Perriera reviews all DVI 
forms on a daily basis to prioritize defects and quickly address issues. MTM Transit understands 
if operators continually write up issues that go unaddressed, the operator ceases to want to 
communicate minor defects. Therefore, we address every issue arising from trip inspections. 
Further, we always include the maintenance team in monthly safety meetings to foster open 
communication across operations. 
 

Lift and Securement Maintenance 
At 3,000 miles, or every 45 days, MTM Transit staff inspect each vehicle equipped with a lift for 
safety and cycle it one complete cycle. The bridge hinge and lift is cleaned of all dirt and debris 
using compressed air. All components of the lift are lubricated using penetrating oil specified by 
the lift manufacturer as appropriate for use. The technician then checks that the fluid level in 
the lift reservoir is at the proper level and tests both manual and electrical operation to ensure 
proper functioning and that the securement belts are intact and functioning. The technician 
ensures that the manual lift handle is in its proper place and inspects the interlock and warning 
alarm to ensure they are operating properly. MTM Transit does not allow vehicles with non-
functioning lifts to enter service. 
 

California Highway Patrol Inspections 
MTM Transit complies with all California Highway Patrol (CHP) requirements and inspections. 
We maintain standardized records to keep our operations ‘audit ready’ at all times. We have 
had no defects in FTA triennials or CHP audits, scoring 100% on last two years’ audits. 
 

 VEHICLE CLEANING 
The appearance of TRACER vehicles should be a positive and professional reflection of the 
services. MTM Transit employees keep vehicles clean at all times. Our Operations Manager and 
road supervisors perform periodic unannounced checks of vehicle cleanliness and monitor it 
through on-street supervision. We remove all vehicles that do not meet the City’s and MTM 
Transit’s cleanliness standards from service until the problem has been addressed. Cleaning 
never disrupts service. 
 
  





 

                       PAGE 57 

Cetaris is one of the most comprehensive software packages on the market. It provides alerts to 
users to notify them of urgent issues and dates that preventative maintenance is due. Cetaris is 
highly customizable, and it offers many user-definable features and options. It includes a full 
range of reports, which provides the City with immediate feedback on fleet performance. The 
software tracks a variety of fleet maintenance concerns, including: 

 Vehicle Costs 
 Work Orders Billing/History 
 Fueling 
 Tire Management 
 PM Performance 
 Warranty Information and 

Reimbursements 
 Vendor Performance 

 Motor Pool Tracking 
 Operator Interface and Reporting 
 Vehicle Depreciation 
 Asset Tracking 
 Road Call Management 
 Reporting 
 Asset Life Cycle Management 

 
Our maintenance team uses Cetaris to perform repairs, inspections, and warranty work as 
required. MTM Transit maintains a vehicle file for each vehicle within the software that includes 
a complete maintenance and repair history, inspection, and licensing documentation. Cetaris 
organizes each vehicle file by vehicle number and documents all vehicle maintenance to include 
preventative maintenance, scheduled maintenance and inspection, unscheduled maintenance, 
fuel and oil usage, and engine and transmission rebuilds.  
 

 MAINTENANCE QUALITY ASSURANCE AND AUDITS 
MTM Transit periodically conducts audits of both preventative and unplanned maintenance 
records. Maintenance Manager Scott Perriera performs a quarterly review and Regional 
Director Joseph Sullivan performs in-person audits biannually, totally six independent reviews 
each year. Scott physically re-inspects 10% of the preventative maintenance inspections 
performed each month. He analyzes unplanned work reports for frequently failing equipment 
and/or recurring problems. He also reviews work time reports to complete necessary 
maintenance and ensure service is not negatively impacted. Further, we also conduct 
proactive campaigns to address seasonal changes that can cause maintenance spikes and 
performance fluctuations. We welcome the City to inspect our vehicles and maintenance 
documentation at any time. 
 
  















 

                       PAGE 62 

 Life Insurance: Employee’s annual base salary rounded up to the next $1,000 increment 
with a maximum benefit of $250,000. Coverage reduces at age 65. MTM Transit pays 
100% of benefit. 

 Vision Insurance: 100% paid by the employee. 
 Long-Term Disability: Plan provides 60% of an employee’s pre-disability earnings, up to 

$10,000 a month. 
 Optional Coverage, Voluntary Life Insurance for Employee, Spouse, and Children: 

Employee can enroll in additional life coverage for self and/or eligible family members. 
Coverage reduces beginning at age 65. 

 Optional Coverage, Short-Term Disability: Income replacement at 66.67% of weekly pre-
disability earnings in the event that the employee cannot work due to an approved 
disability. Maximum of $2,000 per week. 

 Optional Coverage, Hyatt Legal: Pre-paid legal plan. 
 Optional Coverage, Allstate Insurance Plans: Employee-paid coverage for critical illness, 

hospital indemnity, and accident. 
 Optional Coverage, InfoArmor: Employee-paid coverage for identify theft protection. 
 Paid Time Off (PTO)/Vacation: MTM Transit offers PTO accrual commensurate with 

seniority. Hourly employees receive an increase in PTO starting in year three of 
employment, and salaried employees receive an increase starting in year five. 

 Paid Sick Time: Sick Leave is included in the MTM Transit’s PTO accrual. 
 Retirement Savings, 401(k): All full-time employees are eligible to enroll in the company-

sponsored 401(k) after three months of employment. MTM Transit provides 100% 
matching for the first 3% set aside by the employee, and 50% match for the next 2%. 

 Holiday Pay: Employees will receive seven paid holidays each year. 
 Bereavement Leave: PTO of up to two business days, effective upon hire. 
 Uniform: MTM Transit will supply full- and part-time employees with uniforms and 

identification. 
 Wellness Program: Includes free flu shots and health screenings, weight loss program, 

and step contests. 
 Quarterly Safety Bonus: Available to employees with no preventable incidents or 

accidents, and no valid customer- or service-related complaints. 
 Master Operator Program: Three levels of recognition; develops operator skills and 

customer service abilities. 
 ASE Certification Bonus Program: Technicians receive an annual bonus for each current 

ASE Certification, up to $2000 at the ASE Master Technician level. 



 

                       PAGE 63 

 Tuition Reimbursement: Provides reimbursement for education from certificates and 
licensures through doctorate degrees through Lindenwood University, Saint Louis 
University, and Penn State University Online. 

 
MTM Transit uses an online platform, Workday, for our employees to manage their pay and 
benefits in one central location, either through a desktop version or a mobile app. Through 
Workday, employees can access pay stubs, tax documents, benefits information, an internal 
address directory, expenses, and more. They can also use Workday to track time off and make 
time off requests, change and view benefits election details, access MTM Transit’s Code of 
Conduct and Employee Handbook, and view and change their personal information. This 
platform empowers employees to manage multiple aspects of their employment in one single 
location at any time. 
 

EMPLOYEE RETENTION AND INCENTIVE PROGRAMS 
MTM Transit incentivizes staff to operate vehicles as safely as possible, provide excellent 
customer service, and work for MTM Transit for the life of the contract. Ultimately, employees 
drive the success of the transportation program. By investing in our teams, we improve safety, 
service reliability, and quality. MTM Transit prioritizes our Tracy team members, which 
positively influences employee morale, attendance, and quality and consistency of service. 
 
We focus on attracting and retaining strong, committed team members who improve our 
customer service. Across our book of business, MTM Transit has a low rate of employee 
turnover, which we maintain by providing: 

 Competitive wages and benefits 
 Stability of full-time employment 
 Continuous recruitment efforts 
 Referral bonuses for new employees 
 Cross training for every position 
 Advancement opportunities 

 Company-provided uniforms 
 Open door, employee-focused culture 
 Effective initial and ongoing training 
 Monthly employee recognition and awards 
 Quarterly safety and customer service 

bonuses 
 
Low turnover results in an experienced staff, continuity of service, fewer accidents and 
complaints, and operators who know their passengers well. Many of our operators have been 
providing rides to the same passengers for years. Interacting with the same operator on a 
regular basis puts our passengers at ease and provides the continuity of service they deserve.  
 



 

                       PAGE 64 

MTM Transit showed the City our ability to retain employees when we began losing operators 
to a competitor in 2018. To address the issue, we offered a retention bonus of $750 to all 
operators who stayed with MTM Transit until July 2019. We also leveraged temporary transfers 
from our Reno, Nevada operation to keep service running smoothly. Our approach helped 
control turnover, keep service running, and reward loyal operators, successfully mitigating the 
challenge before it became an issue for the TRACER program.  
 

 MASTER OPERATOR PROGRAM 
MTM Transit introduced the Master Operator program in 2019, which recognizes and further 
develops the skills, customer service, and potential of all operators at each of our locations. The 
Master Operator program is comprised of three levels: 

 First Level, Professional Operator: Open to all existing and new operators. 
 Second Level, Advanced Operator: One consecutive year of excellent service and 

performance. 
 Third Level, Master Operator: Two consecutive years of excellent service, performance, 

and customer service and advanced certified operator qualifications. 
 
The Master Operator program helps us to recognize our operators and helps us retain 
employees. At each level of advancement, we recognize operators in front of their peers and 
family members and provide vests of different colors to mark their achievements. 
 

 WELLNESS PROGRAM 
MTM Transit has the unique opportunity to leverage our affiliate MTM’s extensive health and 
wellness resources. We provide a wellness program to all employees that is unmatched by our 
competitors. Overseen by MTM’s Director of Corporate Wellness Chris Mileski, and guided by 
our Wellness Committee, MTM Transit’s wellness efforts focus on prevention of illness and 
diseases and health improvement. We offer health related contests and activities throughout 
the year, including weight loss and step contests with cash prizes and other rewards. 
 
Additionally, employees have the option to participate in activities such as walking and stair-
stepping competitions; group walking, running, and biking clubs; free flu shots and health 
screenings; healthy eating initiatives; a company-sponsored online weight-loss program called 
Real Appeal; and company-sponsored races and community walks. We also offer a smoking 
cessation program called Pivot; over 200 employees of MTM and MTM Transit have 
successfully quit smoking since March of 2014. 
 



 

                       PAGE 65 

 HIGH 5 PROGRAM 
MTM Transit’s High 5 incentive program awards employees who demonstrate exemplary 
service with points, which they may redeem for merchandise and gift cards. It uses an online 
platform that also awards employees for milestones, including one year of employment, three 
years of employment, and five years of employment. Further, employees receive bonuses 
through the platform for referring successful job candidates, and receive an allotted number of 
points to recognize their colleagues. 
  















 

                       PAGE 70 

For the TRACER program, MTM Transit’s training also includes the following specific training:  
 TRACER routes, schedules, and on-time performance standards 
 City’s transit system, including routes, stops, transfer locations with other agencies, key 

points of interest, and hours of operation 
 City transit policies and regulations, including the Reasonable Modification policy, 

Paratransit service policies, Etiquette and Code of Conduct, ADA and Title VI 
 Farebox training, fare transfer policies, and fare media accepted for TRACER services 

 

 WHEELCHAIR SECUREMENT TRAINING 
MTM Transit operators complete thorough initial training and quarterly checks on wheelchair 
securement and proper use of lifts and ramps. For initial training, we provide a stand-alone 
Q’Straint wheelchair securement station, and operators learn how to secure wheelchairs at the 
proper tethering points. We also use the station in quarterly securement refresher training to 
avoid removing vehicles from service. 
 

 ONGOING TRAINING 
All operators must attend a minimum of four hours of retraining every year, including refresher 
ADA training every six months, as well as two hours of annual safety training every two months. 
The training reviews defensive driving, passenger assistance, operational issues, and selected 
safety matters such as customer service, railroad crossing safety, and wheelchair securement. 
In addition, we reevaluate operators’ safe driving habits, licensure, and credentials once a year 
in accordance with their date of hire. We require operators to renew license or credentials 
close to expiration.  
 

MAINTENANCE STAFF TRAINING 
Newly hired maintenance staff receive 40 hours of classroom training similar to the operator 
classroom training. In addition, maintenance staff receive one week of training on: 

 Maintenance and repair of vehicles including air conditioning systems, electronic fare 
box, wheelchair lifts, cameras, and auxiliary equipment 

 MTM Transit’s Maintenance Manual and maintenance program requirements 
 Shop and environmental policies, procedures, and safety 
 Parts ordering and inventory procedures 
 Protective equipment, fluid disposal, and environmental compliance 
 ASE certification training 

 















 

                       PAGE 76 

 SAFETY AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRAM 
MTM Transit’s culture demands safe behavior at all times. MTM Transit:  

 Has never been assessed any EPA violations 
 Maintains 100% drug and alcohol program compliance  
 Monitors each facility on a random basis for safety compliance 

 
MTM Transit focuses on safety in all of our operations, and we assume full responsibility for 
assuring the safety and security of passengers, personnel, vehicles, and equipment. We comply 
with all applicable laws and OSHA requirements, and provide the City with copies of annual 
state vehicle and equipment inspections, safety compliance reports, and any pull notices 
conducted as part of a program to monitor employee operator’s license activity. MTM Transit 
requires all operators, dispatchers, and supervisors to participate in our safety program.  
 
Our formal safety and accident prevention program includes safety meetings, safety incentives, 
and comprehensive initial and ongoing safety training. We keep all employees apprised of our 
daily, weekly, monthly, and annual performance with highly visible safety boards and safety 
performance messages. In all meetings, we set aside time to discuss our ongoing safety and 
customer service performance. Our employees continually see and understand the importance 
of safety and excellent customer service and our vision to be the best transit provider and how 
we are performing to that vision. 
 

Safety Efforts 
MTM Transit creates safe operations through risk control, effective training, forming Safety 
Committees, conducting safety blitzes, and providing safety bonuses, as described below.  

 Safety Committee and Monthly Safety Meetings: During meetings, attendees discuss 
safety issues and recent incidents/accidents, and the committee chooses candidates for 
the monthly safe driving awards. We record all of the meetings and absent employees 
are required to watch or listen to the recording prior to the next meeting. The Safety 
Committee also reviews all accidents and incidents and determines preventability.  

 Safety Blitzes: As part of our commitment to making safety an integral part of our 
everyday culture, MTM Transit conducts regular safety blitzes. We have found them to 
be an effective way of keeping employees engaged and making safety fun and enjoyable. 
Blitzes include random pullout checks, hourly radio reminders, or stand-up meetings that 
enforce safety messages. During some of our past safety blitzes, we placed notes in 
different parts of vehicles that operators can redeem for cash or gifts when they discover 
them during the pre-trip inspection. We also use “safety SWAT teams” where managers 
from different locations come to ride vehicles, talk about safety, and provide feedback.  



 

                       PAGE 77 

 Quarterly Safety Bonus: MTM Transit rewards operators who complete each quarter 
with no absences, no substantiated complaints, and no preventable accidents. We use 
the following qualifying criteria to evaluate safety performance each quarter:  

• Employees must have no preventable accidents or preventable incidents  
• Must attend all scheduled safety meetings  
• All scheduled shifts must be performed and completed  
• No valid customer or service-related complaints (this includes employee 

discipline) 
We pay the quarterly safety bonus as follows: 

• 50 points (equal to $50) for full-time qualified employees 
• 25 points (equal to $25) for part-time qualified employees 

 
At the end of the quarter, MTM Transit deposits points into the employee’s account for 
redemption. In addition to the operator awards, employees may also earn High 5 points 
for participating in wellness activities, achieving a service anniversary milestone, and 
referring individuals for employment. Employees may redeem points immediately, or 
accumulate them over time for larger items and gift cards.  
 

Zero Accident Philosophy 
MTM Transit chose Zero Accident Philosophy (ZAP) as our safety 
theme in 2020 to increase employee buy-in and commitment on 
safety and support our new SMS Safety Plan. Each MTM Transit 
employee signs a ZAP commitment letter, signaling their 
agreement to follow our safety procedures in an effort to 
eliminate accidents and injuries. We rolled out ZAP internally in 
June 2020, with a contest among our locations for the best ZAP-
related safety blitz. MTM Transit recognizes our top performing 
managers for their commitment to safety with a monthly ZAP 
Manager Award. We recognize each winner with a picture and 
story on CORE, our internal online news site, as well as a 
certificate of recognition and a gift certificate.  
 
As previously mentioned, General Manager Mark Frailey earned 
the ZAP Manager Award in August 2020.  
 
 
  

General Manager Mark 
Frailey, ZAP Manager, 

August 2020 



 

                       PAGE 78 

SMS Ambassador Program 
Another program we introduced in 2020 is our SMS Ambassador 
Program. Employees who volunteer for this position serve as safety 
champions for our organization. SMS Ambassadors wear a badge 
on their uniforms, shown at right, to identify them to all 
employees. They: 

 Work with other employees to identify safety concerns, 
hazards, and issues 

 Support newly hired employees by helping mentor them and 
answer questions  

 Communicate safety concerns and issues to other employees and help address them at 
safety meetings 

 Provide feedback to their location at monthly safety meetings in front of their peers 
 Present a program related to safety prevention at a location safety meeting 

 
The role of SMS Ambassador is another way we empower our employees to take ownership of 
safety, and to ensure it is truly an integral part of all our everyday operations. 
 
  







 

                       PAGE 80 

In addition, under the new contract term, MTM Transit will use Reveal to hone in on key data 
and statistics regarding efficiency, timeliness, and other performance standards. This will 
provide MTM Transit and the City insight into program successes and opportunities, and serve 
as a guide that checks and balances operational activities. 
 
MTM Transit will meet the City’s standards for fixed route and paratransit service, as outlined 
in Figure 22.  
 
Fixed Route Service 

 95% on-time scheduled departures, ≤ 5 minutes late leaving from any timed stop 
 0% early scheduled / timed departures 
 0% missed trips 
 ≥ 100,000 miles between accidents 
 ≤ 1 complaint for every 5,000 fixed route passengers 
 ≥ 5 primary vehicles every day and one back-up 

 
Paratransit Service 

 95% of passengers picked up +/- 10 minutes of scheduled pick up time 
 0 passengers pick up ≥ 30 minutes after the scheduled pick up time 
 Contact passengers 15 minutes prior to scheduled pick up to advise if the route is on 

time, or how late the route is 
 Use appropriate securements with each passenger; operators must notify dispatch 

immediately if a passenger refuses securements 
 ≤ 1 complaint for every 2,000 paratransit passengers 
 ≥ 40,000 miles between accidents 
 Train employees who interact with paratransit customers on ADA requirements for 

interacting with individuals with disabilities 
 Train operators on the appropriate use of securements 
 Give ADA certified individuals priority service, accommodating seniors and other 

passengers on a space available basis 
 Comply with all other City policies 

Figure 22: Performance Standards. MTM Transit will continue to meet all TRACER performance 
standards for fixed route and paratransit service.  

 
If MTM Transit cannot or does not meet any of the City’s standards, we present a plan to 
remedy the issue with our monthly reporting package.  







 

                       PAGE 83 

Regardless of the option the City selects, MTM Transit will be able to better address and 
investigate complaints regarding the paratransit service with Reveal. We can view a map of the 
trip, confirm actual pick-up and drop-off times, view the route the operator used, and confirm 
details such as speed traveled. We can confirm whether the operator was at the correct 
location, correct entrance, and the time they arrived and departed. We can also determine if 
the operator made an un-authorized stop along the way. MTM Transit can tie trip details from 
Reveal to the complaint for documentation, training, and corrective action purposes. 
 
As a testament to our commitment to customer service, we offer safety and customer service 
bonuses to all operators who complete each quarter with no preventable accidents and no 
absences or substantiated complaints. These bonuses encourage operators to be exceptionally 
aware of safe driving and quality customer service at all times. We also offer Operator of the 
Year performance awards. 
 

 IMPROVING PROFESSIONALISM 
In answers to questions, the City indicated they would like to see improved professionalism in 
the TRACER program. MTM Transit strives to provide courteous, prompt attention to 
passengers’ needs through selective hiring, comprehensive initial training, performance 
monitoring, and periodic refresher training. We expect our staff to act in a friendly, professional 
manner, and represent the service positively through their actions and appearance. Under the 
new contract, all employees will receive new uniforms rebranded from Ride Right to MTM 
Transit; the City has already approved the new uniforms.  
 
MTM Transit’s comprehensive Employee Handbook outlines the standards of excellence to 
which we hold all of our employees. This manual addresses the expectations of professional 
conduct regarding appearance, attitude and customer service, appropriate communication and 
interaction with customers, and personal media devices. All MTM Transit employees must 
acknowledge receipt and review of the Employee Handbook and Code of Conduct in our online 
platform, Workday, upon hire and annually thereafter.  
 
We communicate to employees from their day of hire that they are a representation of MTM 
Transit, the City, and the TRACER program, and as such they shall remain polite and professional 
at all times – including, to a certain extent, in their actions outside of work. During 
implementation, our local management team, along with our Regional Vice President Scott 
Transue, will meet with the City to discuss any concerns about MTM Transit staff professionalism 
so we can address these as soon as possible. We will conduct retraining as needed, and reiterate 
our expectations to all staff to make sure we perform at the level the City desires going forward.  







 

                       PAGE 85 

The draft Implementation Plan in Appendix A outlines MTM Transit’s proposed approach for 
implementing our program upgrades and enhancements for the new contract term.  
 
If necessary, MTM Transit will help transition the contract to a new vendor. We will comply 
with turnover of historical data and maintenance audit and ensure all vehicles are up to date 
with preventive maintenance for an orderly turnover. 
  















 

                       PAGE 90 

2. MTM Transit employees follow written protocol to secure the scene and interact with 
passengers and emergency personnel. 

3. A road supervisor (or the Safety/Training Coordinator) responds to the accident and 
determines the cause and extent of damage and injury. They review accompanying 
camera footage and complete all required paperwork. 

4. MTM Transit conducts post-accident, safety-sensitive employee drug and alcohol testing 
as appropriate. 

5. MTM Transit thoroughly debriefs the operator and passengers as necessary. 
6. MTM Transit’s Safety Committee conducts an investigation on the accident/incident and 

makes a determination of preventability. 
7. MTM Transit provides a written accident report to the City. 
8. We counsel or retrain the operator as appropriate depending on test results and 

investigation findings. 
9. If necessary, MTM Transit removes the damaged vehicle from service for prompt repair. 

 
MTM Transit provides transparent accident and injury data to the City at all times. We store 
investigation findings electronically so we can provide records to the City upon request. We 
also provide all accident and injury details and analysis to the local team in a daily update, so 
we can work together to avoid future incidents.  
 
MTM Transit’s executive safety team also tracks and reviews accidents/incidents in all of our 
locations. If MTM Transit experiences a major accident, the entire MTM Transit executive team 
reviews so we can adjust operations, safety precautions, and training to across all our locations 
as necessary. 
 
  























44 

Form D 

CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, 
SUSPENSION, AND OTHER RESONSIBILITY MATTERS 

1. By signing and submitting this bid or proposal, the prospective lower tier participant is
providing the signed certification set out below.

2. The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was
placed when this transaction was entered into. If it is later determined that the prospective
lower tier participant knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, in addition to other
remedies available to the Federal Government, City of Tracy may pursue available
remedies, including suspension and/or debarment.

3. The prospective lower tier participant shall provide immediate written notice to City of Tracy
if at any time the prospective lower tier participant learns that its certification was erroneous
when submitted or has become erroneous by reason of changed circumstances.

4. The terms "covered transaction," "debarred," "suspended," "ineligible," "lower tier covered
transaction,” “participant," "persons," "lower tier covered transaction," "principal," "proposal,"
and "voluntarily excluded," as used in this clause, have the meanings set out in the
Definitions and Coverage sections of rules implementing Executive Order 12549 [49 CFR
Part 29]. You may contact City of Tracy for assistance in obtaining a copy of those
regulations.

5. The prospective lower tier participant agrees by submitting this proposal that, should the
proposed covered transaction be entered into, it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier
covered transaction with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or
voluntarily excluded from participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized in
writing by City of Tracy.

6. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by submitting this proposal that it will
include the clause titled "Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and
Voluntary Exclusion - Lower Tier Covered Transaction", without modification, in all lower tier
covered transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.

7. A participant in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective
participant in a lower tier covered transaction that it is not debarred, suspended, ineligible, or
voluntarily excluded from the covered transaction, unless it knows that the certification is
erroneous. A participant may decide the method and frequency by which it determines the
eligibility of its principals. Each participant may, but is not required to, check the
Nonprocurement List issued by U.S. General Service Administration.

8. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of system of
records in order to render in good faith the certification required by this clause. The
knowledge and information of a participant is not required to exceed that which is normally
possessed by a prudent person in the ordinary course of business dealings.

















45 

Form J 
PRICE PROPOSAL FORM 

PROPOSER: 

CONTRACTOR shall operate services as described in Request for Proposals, Agreement, and accompanying attachments. 

CONTRACTOR Total payments shall be as follows: 

July 1, 2021 – 
June 30, 2022

July 1, 2022 – 
June 30, 2023 

July 1, 2023 – 
June 30, 2024 

Fixed Monthly 
Expense 

Cost Per Vehicle 
Hour** 

TOTAL 
AGREEMENT 
PRICE 
**CITY provides 100% of transit fleet 

PROJECTED 
VEHICLE HOURS* 

July 1, 2021 – 
June 30, 2022

July 1, 2022 – 
June 30, 2023 

July 1, 2023 – 
June 30, 2024 

Fixed Route Vehicle 
Hours 26,000 +15% 26,000 +15% 26,000 +15% 

Paratransit Vehicle 
Hours 10,000 +15% 10,000 +15% 10,000 +15% 

TracerPLUS On-
demand  Vehicle hours 6,500 +15% 6,500 +15% 7,500 +15% 

* Actual hours may vary based on City Council action in levels of service.

On behalf of the entity I am authorized to represent, I understand and certify the proposed rates and potential rate deductions as set 
forth above. 

By: Title: Date: 

MTM Transit, LLC

President and CEO 2/24/2021

$150,935.30

$42.99

$3,638,167.08 $3,736,817.74 

$155,058.57 

$44.14

$159,616.80

$45.51 

$3,849,487.76 



46 

PRICE PROPOSAL FORM 
Page 2 

PROPOSER: 

CONTRACTOR shall operate services as described in Request for Proposals, Agreement, and accompanying attachments. 

CONTRACTOR Total payments shall be as follows: 
July 1, 2024 – 
June 30, 2025 
(Extension)

July 1, 2025 – 
June 30, 2026 
(Extension) 

Fixed Monthly 
Expense 

Cost Per Vehicle 
Hour** 

TOTAL 
AGREEMENT 
PRICE 
**CITY provides 100% of transit fleet 

PROJECTED 
VEHICLE HOURS* 

July 1, 2024 – 
June 30, 2025

July 1, 20250 – 
June 30, 2026 

Fixed Route Vehicle 
Hours 26,000 +15% 26,000 +15% 

Paratransit Vehicle 
Hours 10,000 +15% 10,000 +15% 

TracerPLUS On-
demand  Vehicle hours 7,500 +15% 7,500 +15% 

* Actual hours may vary based on City Council action in levels of service.

On behalf of the entity I am authorized to represent, I understand and certify the proposed rates and potential rate deductions as set 
forth above. 

By: Title: Date: 

MTM Transit, LLC

President and CEO 2/24/2021

$166,898.39 

$48.37 

$4,058,466.47 

$162,022.32 

$46.86 

$3,935,765.50 



Costs Fixed Variable Fixed Variable Fixed Variable Fixed Variable Fixed Variable
A. Salaries and Wages
1. Management 301,800 313,142 322,536 332,212 342,179
2. Supervisors/Dispatchers 332,215 342,181 352,447 363,020 373,911
3. Support Staff 98,355 101,306 104,345 107,475 110,699
4. Maintenance Staff 223,980 231,271 238,593 245,696 253,012
5. Drivers 1,195,836 1,223,956 1,251,453 1,279,045 1,311,557
6. Drivers: Training and Non-Revenue 84,996 86,801 88,554 90,339 92,404
B. Payroll Taxes and Fringe Benefits
1. Management 62,359 65,960 69,574 73,425 77,544
2. Supervisors/Dispatchers 60,511 63,669 67,038 70,627 74,463
3. Support Staff 13,619 14,161 14,737 15,339 15,982
4. Maintenance Staff 29,885 31,224 32,623 34,058 35,583
5. Workers Compensation: Staff 22,167 23,227 24,277 25,352 26,476
6. Workers Compensation: Drivers 74,628 77,678 80,710 83,751 86,901
7. Drivers 192,380 201,978 212,060 222,784 234,522
8. Drivers: Training and Non-Revenue 7,174 7,330 7,485 7,638 7,819
C. Facility Expense
1. Rent 72,348 74,405 76,522 78,701 80,944
2. Utilities 12,000 12,180 12,363 12,548 12,736
3. Phone 5,400 5,481 5,563 5,647 5,731
4. Facility Maintenance 0 0 0 0 0
D. Office Expenses
1. Office equipment lease/amortization 0 0 0 0 0
2. Office Supplies 10,500 10,658 10,817 10,980 11,144
3. Printing/copying 0 0 0 0 0
E. Insurance Expense
1. General Liability 2,500 2,538 2,576 2,614 2,653
2. Vehicle Liability 150,000 152,250 154,534 156,852 159,205
3. Performance Bond 0 0 0 0 0
4. Licenses 6,000 6,090 6,181 6,274 6,368
F. Maintenance Expense
1. Parts 101,376 103,735 111,448 118,287 124,957
2. Tires 19,647 20,351 22,653 24,694 26,686

Form K ‐
MTM Transit, LLC

Year 1
July 1, 2021 –
June 30, 2022

Year 2
July 1, 2022 –
June 30, 2023

Year 3
July 1, 2023 –
June 30, 2024

Year 4 (Extension)
July 1, 2024 –
June 30, 2025

Year 5 (Extension)
July 1, 2025 –
June 30, 2026



Costs Fixed Variable Fixed Variable Fixed Variable Fixed Variable Fixed Variable

Year 1
July 1, 2021 –
June 30, 2022

Year 2
July 1, 2022 –
June 30, 2023

Year 3
July 1, 2023 –
June 30, 2024

Year 4 (Extension)
July 1, 2024 –
June 30, 2025

Year 5 (Extension)
July 1, 2025 –
June 30, 2026

3. Supplies and Materials 12,770 13,228 14,725 16,051 17,346
G. Vehicle Cleaning Expense
1. Vehicle cleaning expense 4,800 4,872 4,945 5,019 5,095
H. Equipment Purchase/Depreciation
1. Vehicles
2. Maintenance equipment 12,922 6,738 6,322 5,906 5,906
3. Office equipment 25,600 25,600 25,600 25,600 25,600
I. Miscellaneous Expense
1. Employee miscellaneous 22,600 22,939 23,283 23,632 23,987
2. Maintenance miscellaneous 7,000 7,490 8,014 8,575 9,176
3. Other miscellaneous 0 0 0 0 0
J. Startup Expense
1. (include detail in proposal write-up) 24,127 24,127 24,127 0 0
2. Transit CAD/AVL Software Cost 
(itemize each separate cost)

48,475 49,202 49,940 50,689 51,450

K. Profit and Overhead
1. Overhead 126,786 127,886 130,249 131,328 134,078 135,386 136,099 139,405 140,195 143,898
2. Profit 72,449 73,078 74,428 75,045 76,616 77,363 77,771 79,660 80,111 82,227

Total Fixed Cost 1,811,224 1,860,703 1,915,402 1,944,268 2,002,781
Total Variable Cost 1,826,943 1,876,115 1,934,086 1,991,498 2,055,686
TOTAL PROJECT COST 3,638,167 3,736,818 3,849,488 3,935,766 4,058,466



FTE Scale FTE Scale FTE Scale FTE Scale FTE Scale 
Drivers 0.87 $18.50 2.84 $18.69 2.68 $18.88 2.53 $19.06 2.36 $19.26
Drivers 3.43 $18.98 0.61 $19.17 1.99 $19.36 1.88 $19.55 1.77 $19.75
Drivers 4.83 $19.35 2.74 $19.54 0.49 $19.74 1.59 $19.93 1.50 $20.13
Drivers 3.75 $19.74 4.03 $19.93 2.32 $20.13 0.41 $20.34 1.35 $20.54
Drivers 3.14 $20.13 3.38 $20.33 3.58 $20.53 2.09 $20.74 0.37 $20.95
Drivers 2.09 $20.54 2.78 $20.74 3.04 $20.95 3.18 $21.16 1.88 $21.37
Drivers 0.89 $20.94 1.96 $21.15 2.61 $21.36 2.89 $21.57 2.99 $21.79
Drivers 0.00 $21.37 0.85 $21.59 1.84 $21.80 2.46 $22.02 2.74 $22.24
Drivers 0.00 $21.79 0.00 $22.01 0.80 $22.23 1.72 $22.45 2.31 $22.68
Drivers 1.46 $22.23 0.00 $22.45 0.00 $22.67 0.78 $22.90 1.65 $23.13
Drivers 4.54 $22.97 5.82 $23.66 5.65 $24.37 5.48 $25.10 6.07 $25.85
Dispatchers/Supervisors 5.00 $19.71 5.00 $20.30 5.00 $20.91 5.00 $21.54 5.00 $22.19
Road Superivor 3.00 $20.39 3.00 $21.00 3.00 $21.63 3.00 $22.28 3.00 $22.95
Reservationists 1.00 $16.69 1.00 $17.19 1.00 $17.70 1.00 $18.23 1.00 $18.78
Management 4.00 $36.27 4.00 $37.64 4.00 $38.77 4.00 $39.93 4.00 $41.13
Utility Staff 1.00 $16.00 1.00 $16.48 1.00 $16.97 1.00 $17.48 1.00 $18.01
Mechanics 3.00 $30.00 3.00 $31.00 3.00 $32.00 3.00 $32.96 3.00 $33.95
Total FTEs  42.00 42.00 42.00 42.00 42.00

Form L ‐ 
MTM Transit, LLC

 Job Classifications 
7/1/21 – 6/30/22 7/1/22 – 6/30/23 7/1/23 – 6/30/24 7/1/24 – 6/30/25 7/1/25 – 6/30/25

Please list all benefits a full-time employee will be eligible to receive based on the terms of your price proposal.  Include the time frame at which an 
employee is eligible to receive such benefits.
MTM Transit employees (excluding operators covered by the Collective Bargaining Agreement - see below) are eligible for benefits if scheduled to work 
at least 40 hours per week (30 hours per week for medical benefits). Salaried employees are eligible for all benefits except 401k on date of hire. Hourly 
employees are eligible for all benefits except 401k on the first day of the month following two months of service. 401k benefits are eligible on the first 
day of the month following three months of service. Hourly employees are eligible for holiday pay after 90 days of service. MTM Transit lists benefits for 
full-time employees in 7. Employee Work Rules and Benefit Package of our poposal. All employees, including part-time, may participate in MTM Transit 
incentive programs, such as our Master Operator Program, Wellness Program, and High5, as detailed in 7. Employee Work Rules and Benefit Package 
of our proposal.
   
For Tracy operators, MTM Transit complies with the benefit terms of the CBA with the Teamsters.



FTE Scale FTE Scale FTE Scale FTE Scale FTE Scale 
Drivers 0.00 $18.50 0.00 $18.69 0.00 $18.88 0.00 $19.06 0.00 $19.26
Drivers 0.0 $18.98 0.0 $19.17 0.0 $19.36 0.00 $19.55 0.0 $19.75
Drivers 0.48 $19.35 0.03 $19.54 0.00 $19.74 0.00 $19.93 0.00 $20.13
Drivers 0.00 $19.74 0.48 $19.93 0.03 $20.13 0.00 $20.34 0.00 $20.54
Drivers 0.50 $20.13 0.00 $20.33 0.48 $20.53 0.03 $20.74 0.00 $20.95
Drivers 0.50 $20.54 0.50 $20.74 0.00 $20.95 0.48 $21.16 0.03 $21.37
Drivers 0.00 $20.94 0.50 $21.15 0.50 $21.36 0.00 $21.57 0.48 $21.79
Drivers 0.00 $21.37 0.00 $21.59 0.50 $21.80 0.50 $22.02 0.00 $22.24
Drivers 0.00 $21.79 0.00 $22.01 0.00 $22.23 0.50 $22.45 0.50 $22.68
Drivers 0.00 $22.23 0.00 $22.45 0.00 $22.67 0.00 $22.90 0.50 $23.13
Drivers 0.00 $22.97 0.00 $23.66 0.00 $24.37 0.00 $25.10 0.00 $25.85
Dispatchers/Supervisors 
Operations Manager 
Reservationists 1.88 $16.32 1.88 $16.81 1.88 $17.31 1.88 $17.83 1.88 $18.37
Trainers 
Utility Staff 
Off-Site Personnel* 

No. of part-time employees 3.38 3.38 3.38 3.38 3.38

MTM Transit employees (excluding operators covered by the Collective Bargaining Agreement - see below) are eligible for benefits if scheduled to work 
at least 40 hours per week (30 hours per week for medical benefits). Salaried employees are eligible for all benefits except 401k on date of hire. Hourly 
employees are eligible for all benefits except 401k on the first day of the month following two months of service. 401k benefits are eligible on the first 
day of the month following three months of service. Hourly employees are eligible for holiday pay after 90 days of service. All employees, including part-
time, may still participate in MTM Transit incentive programs, such as our Master Operator Program, Wellness Program, and High5, as detailed in 7. 
Employee Work Rules and Benefit Package of our proposal.

For Tracy operators, MTM Transit complies with the benefit terms of the CBA with the Teamsters. 

Please list all benefits a part-time employee will be eligible to receive based on the terms of your price proposal.  Include the time frame at which an 
employee is eligible to receive such benefits.

 Job Classifications 

Year 1
7/1/21 – 6/30/22 

Year 2
7/1/22 – 6/30/23 

Year 3
7/1/23 – 6/30/24 

Year 4 (Extension)
7/1/24 – 6/30/25

Year 5 (Extension)
7/1/25 – 6/30/26













Mark Frailey 
General Manager 

 

 

 

 
   

 
Experience 

  MTM Transit, Tracy, CA, 2016 to Present 
General Manager 

Manages  TRACER  fixed  route,  paratransit,  and micro  transit  services  with  a  staff  of  41 
employees.  Oversees  all  operations,  including  reservations,  scheduling,  dispatch,  road 
supervision, and maintenance. Serves as the  liaison between MTM Transit and the City of 
Tracy to monitor service performance and contract objectives. 
 Facilitate labor negotiations with union 
 ZAP Manager of the month August 2020 

 
Horizon Coach Lines ‐ Grayline, San Francisco, CA, 2012 to 2013 
General Manager, Charter‐Contract Operations 

Managed multiple high profile contracts, overseeing a staff of 90 employees and fleet of 75 
vehicles.  
 Assisted with rail operations: Amtrak 

 
Mobility Plus Transportation, San Francisco, CA, 2010 
General Manager, Paratransit Operations 

Supervised a staff of 160 employees and fleet of 119 vehicles in paratransit operation.  
 Worked closely with the San Francisco Municipal Transportation Authority (SFMTA) 

 
MV Transportation, Fairfield, CA, 2007 to 2009 
Director, Business Development/Operational Support 

Managed and coordinated start‐up and transition projects. Led new business acquisitions. 
Selected and prepared management teams to meet client RFP requirements.  
 
CUSA, Phoenix, AZ, 2006 
General Manager, Arrow State Lines 

Managed a fleet of 82 buses and staff of 120 employees. 
 Met financial requirements by first quarter of operations 
 Created new hiring process and improved safety and training programs 

 



Mark Frailey 
General Manager 

 

 

 

 
Experience (continued) 

  Veolia Transportation, Denver, CO, 2004 to 2005 
General Manager, Regional Transportation District 

Oversaw startup of two contracts totaling 125 buses and 320 employees.  
 Maintained an excellent relationship with RTD 
 Met or exceeded performance/contract requirements each year 

 

Greyhound Lines, Inc., 1997 to 2004 
District Manager, Operations, Columbus, OH, 2002 to 2004 

 
Senior Driver Manager, Driver Operations, New York, NY, 2000 to 2002 

 
Regional Operations Manager, Resource Management Group, Dallas, TX, 1999 to 2000 

 
Supervisor, Driver Operations, San Francisco, CA, 1997 to 1999 

 
   

  Education and Military 
  Department of Transportation 

TSI Certified Trainer 

 

National Labor College, Silver Spring, MD 
Labor Conflict Resolution Training 

 

Skyline College, San Bruno, CA 
Business/Accounting 

 

United States Marine Corps Reserve, 1982‐1993 
Non‐commissioned Officer 
 

 



Benjamin Sanchez 
Operations Manager 

 

 

 

 
   

 
Experience 

  MTM Transit, Tracy, CA, 2016 to Present 
Operations Manager, 2020 to Present 

Coordinates operations for TRACER paratransit, fixed route, and micro transit service. Creates 
run  bids  to  match  service  requirements,  validates  daily  data  for  accuracy,  and  assists 
dispatchers and road supervisors as necessary.   
 Coordinates monthly safety meetings 
 Trains new dispatchers, reservationists, and operators 
 Assists with payroll and monitoring workforce and operations costs 

 
Dispatcher, 2016 to 2020 

Monitored  fixed  route  and paratransit  service  for on‐time performance  and productivity. 
Scheduled  paratransit  trips  and  provided manifests  to  operators.  Assisted with  calls  and 
inquiries regarding paratransit and fixed route service.  
 Adjudicated fares collected against anticipated for accuracy 
 Assisted operators with day to day tasks 
 Maintained weekly operator schedule 

 
Reservationist, 2016 

Handled calls for scheduling and inquiries for TRACER fixed route and paratransit service.  
 Assisted new paratransit passengers with eligibility procedure 
 Assisted passengers with Greyhound and GPX ticketing 

 
   

  Education 

  Pete Knight High School, Palmdale, CA 
High School Diploma 
 

 



Scott Perriera 
Maintenance Manager 

 

 

 

 
   

 
Experience 

  MTM Transit, Tracy, CA, 2016 to Present 
Maintenance Manager 

Oversees the maintenance, service, diagnosing, and minor repair of the TRACER fixed route, 
paratransit,  and micro  transit  fleet,  as  well  as MTM  Transit  service  vehicles.  Schedules 
preventative maintenance, tracks vehicle documentation, and manages maintenance budget.  
 Trains operators and maintenance team on pre‐ and post‐trip inspections 
 Establish networks of local repair vendors for cost effective repair/servicing 
 Monitors maintenance facility cleanliness and safety 
 Maintains compliance with OSHA, DOT, and FTA regulations 

 
Bill Brandt Ford Quick Lane, Brentwood, CA, 2017 to 2019 
Service Manager 

Managed  all  service  department  functions,  including  creating  policies  and  procedures; 
overseeing budget; managing at team of 12 employees; and ensuring safety and regulatory 
compliance. Created safety policies for equipment maintenance, fire, trip, and hazard safety.  
 Increased speed bay team efficiency by 40% 
 Decreased average oil change time from 50 to 25‐30 minutes 
 Refined upsell techniques for 100% increase in tire, brake, and battery sales 
 Maintained customer index scores above area average 

 
Fremont Chevrolet/Dublin Chevrolet, Fremont, CA, 2015 to 2017 
Service Manager 

Managed  all  service  department  functions,  including  creating  policies  and  procedures; 
overseeing budget; managing at team of 30 employees; and ensuring safety and regulatory 
compliance. Oversaw commercial fleet division of service department.  
 Increased  customer  satisfaction and  retention  from 20% below national average  to 

above average monthly 
 Improved cost containment  to mitigate $80k/month  loss, becoming profitable every 

month 
 



Scott Perriera 
Maintenance Manager 

 

 

 

 
Experience (continued) 

  Bumper 2 Bumper Automotive, Brentwood, CA, 2012 to 2015 
Owner 

Established and ran automotive repair shop with two technicians for heavy duty commercial 
vehicles of one  ton and above. Created  safety policies and procedures; complied with all 
business laws and regulatory practices; established and retained vendor relationships 
 
AAA Print Distribution, Brentwood, CA, 2004 to Present 
Owner 

 
Saturn of Concord, Concord, CA, 2003 to 2006 
Service Advisor 

 
Livermore Honda/Audi/Subaru, Livermore, CA, 1999 to 2003 
Service Director 

 
Anderson Lexus, Anderson, CA, 1994 to 1999 
Service Manager and Master Technician  

 
Lexus of Stevens Creek, Santa Clara, CA, 1989 to 1994 
Master Technician  

 
   

  Education 

  De Anza College, Cupertino, CA 
Automotive Technology  
 

 



Serena Yniguez 
Safety/Training Manager 

 

 

 

 
   

 
Experience 

  MTM Transit, Tracy, CA, 2016 to Present 
Safety/Training Manager, 2021 to Present 

Enforce  MTM  Transit  and  TRACER  safety  programs  and  policies.  Monitor  and  enforce 
compliance with  state  and  federal  regulations. Conduct  training  for  staff.  Perform  safety 
audits, run safety meetings, and investigate accidents/incidents.  
 Oversee safety incentives and programs 
 Manage Drug and Alcohol program 

 
Road Supervisor, 2018 to 2021 

Supervised  operator  behavior  and  service  through  field  monitoring,  review  of  camera 
footage, and training activities. Addressed specific service issues and interruptions to improve 
operations. Responded to all service  incidents and completed reporting. Provided back‐up 
transportation as necessary.  
 Received TapCo certification 2019 
 Completed DOT Reasonable Suspicion Training 2019 

 
Dispatcher, 2017 to 2018 

Monitored timeliness and productivity of TRACER services. Managed day‐of trip assignment, 
minimized wait and ride times, and maintained productivity by making adjustments to routes, 
monitoring  traffic, and coordinating vehicle and operator assignments. Assisted operators 
and communicated service issues.  
 Maintained daily dispatch log and data for reporting 

 
Operator, 2016 to 2017 

Provided safe, reliable transportation to TRACER passengers. Completed pre‐ and post‐trip 
daily vehicle inspections. Used in‐vehicle tablets to document service.  
 Maintained Class B Driver’s License with Passenger and Air Breaks endorsements 

 

MV Transportation, Tracy, CA, 2016 
Operator, 2016 

Provided safe, reliable transportation to TRACER passengers. Completed pre‐ and post‐trip 
daily vehicle inspections. Used in‐vehicle tablets to document service.  
 Maintained Class B Driver’s License with Passenger and Air Breaks endorsements 

 
  Education 

  Tracy High School, Tracy, CA 
Diploma 

 





















Joseph Sullivan 
Director of Maintenance – Western Region 

 

 

 

 Experience (continued) 
 Heavy Duty Transit Bus/Light Truck Technician, South Lake Tahoe, CA, 2008 to 2010 

 Serviced, repaired, and maintained a fleet of diesel, gas, and CNG transit vehicles, 
including busses from the following manufacturers: Orion, New Flyer, Nabbi, Gillig, Blue 
Bird, MCI, and Chance 

 Maintained Ford and Chevy Cutaway vehicles 
 Received extensive training and used I/O controls multiplex electrical systems 

  
 Education 

 Las Positas College, Livermore, CA  
General Education and Welding MIG/TIG/ARC/Automotive Classes  

  
 Certifications 

  Automotive Service Excellence (ASE), Master Certification, June 2011 
 EPA 608 Test Proctor, March 2017 
 Vansco Electrical, October 2016 
 MAN Axle, October 2016 
 Amerex, September 2016 
 Detroit 50G, December 2015 
 Genfare, June 2015 
 National Transit Institute, December 2012 
 CHP Inspection, March 2012 
 Bendex Brake Systems, March 2012 
 EPA Section 608 Refrigeration Systems, March 2011 
 Intermotive Interlock and Fast Idle Systems, March 2010 
 MGM Brake Systems, March 2010 
 EPA Section 609 Refrigerant Recovery and Recycling, March 2010 
 CNG Fuel Systems, January 2010 
 Starrs, Ford Motor Co., July 2009 

 



















































RESOLUTION 2021-_____ 

APPROVING A THREE-YEAR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH MTM 
TRANSIT, LLC, FOR SERVICES RELATING TO THE CITY OF TRACY’S TRACER PUBLIC 

TRANSIT SYSTEM WITH A TOTAL NOT TO EXCEED AMOUNT OF $10,917,793.01  

WHEREAS, Since July 2001, the City of Tracy has contracted for operation of the 
TRACER Fixed Route and Paratransit Bus services, and 

WHEREAS, A Request for Proposals was issued on January 22, 2021, and four proposals 
were received and opened on February 26, 2021, and 

WHEREAS, MTM Transit, LLC, of Lake St. Louis, Missouri, was a responsive and 
qualified bidder with a proposal that meets the needs of the City of Tracy, and 

WHEREAS, A panel of interviewers found that the proposal by MTM Transit, LLC, offered 
the best value to the City of Tracy; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, That the City Council hereby awards a three-
year Professional Services Agreement to MTM Transit , LLC, for services relating to the City of 
Tracy’s TRACER public transit system with a total not to exceed amount of $10,917,793.01. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * *

The foregoing Resolution 2021-_____ was passed and adopted by the City Council of the 
City of Tracy on the 18th day of May, 2021, by the following vote: 

AYES: COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

NOES:  COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

ABSENT: COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

ABSTAIN: COUNCIL MEMBERS:  

___________________________ 
MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

____________________________ 
CITY CLERK 



May 18, 2021 

AGENDA ITEM 1.C 

REQUEST 

APPROVE AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF TRACY AND HF&H CONSULTANTS, LLC TO PERFORM A 
SOLID WASTE RATE STUDY, INCREASING THE NOT TO EXCEED AMOUNT BY 
$17,000 FOR A TOTAL NOT TO EXCEED AMOUNT OF $147,720 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The City of Tracy and HF&H Consultants, LLC entered into a Professional Services 
Agreement (Agreement) to conduct a solid waste rate study that was approved by 
Council on May 21, 2019.  Due to the study being delayed by COVID-19, and the 
additional request from the City for them to prepare the Proposition 218 notice related to 
the proposed rate increase, an additional $17,000 is being requested to complete the 
rate study. The additional expenses will be covered by the Solid Waste Enterprise Fund. 

DISCUSSION 

In May 2019, the City entered into an Agreement with HF&H Consultants, LLC to 
perform a solid waste rate study.  HF&H is recognized as an expert in the field of rate 
studies and has performed similar studies for a multitude of other agencies.  As part of 
the Agreement, HF&H was also tasked with updating Chapter 5.20 – Integrated Solid 
Waste Regulations in the Tracy Municipal Code.  The rate study was delayed due to the 
unforeseen challenges due to COVID-19, including impacts on revenue sources, which 
hampered their ability to create an accurate model for projected revenues and expenses. 

In addition to the tasks specified in the Agreement, the City has requested that HF&H 
also prepare the Proposition 218 notification required by law for the proposed rate 
adjustment.  Due to the delay, and the additional work requested for the Proposition 218 
notification, an increase to the Agreement’s original not to exceed amount of $17,000 is 
requested, for an adjusted total not to exceed amount of $147,720. 

STRATEGIC PLAN 

This agenda item supports the City’s Governance Strategic Priority: 

Governance Strategy 

Goal 2: Ensure short and long-term fiscal health 

Objective 6: Complete rate and fee studies: Solid Waste, Wastewater, Citywide, Core 
Fees, Master Impact Fees 



Agenda Item 1.C 
May 18, 2021 
Page 2 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no impact to the General Fund for the increase requested.  The additional 
expenses will be covered by the Solid Waste Enterprise Fund. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the City Council, by resolution, approve Amendment No. 1 to the Professional 
Services Agreement between the City of Tracy and HF&H Consultants, LLC increasing 
the not to exceed amount by $17,000 for a total not to exceed amount of $147,720. 

Prepared by: Connie Vieira, Management Analyst II 

Reviewed by: Don Scholl, Director of Public Works 
Karin Schnaider, Finance Director 
Midori Lichtwardt, Assistant City Manager 

Approved by: Jennifer D. Haruyama, City Manager 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A: Amendment No. 1 to HF&H Consultants, LLC Professional Services Agreement 
Attachment B: Professional Services Agreement with HF&H Consultants, LLC 







CITY OF TRACY 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH 

HF&H CONSULTANTS, LLC 
Solid Waste Rate Study 

This Professional Services Agreement (Agreement) is entered into between the City of Tracy, a 
municipal corporation (City), and HF&H Consultants, LLC, a Limited Liability Company (Consultant). 
City and Consultant are referred to individually as "Party" and collectively as "Parties." 

Recitals 

A. City desires to retain Consultant to perform a Solid Waste Rate Study; and

B. On October 25, 2018, the City issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) for a Solid Waste Rate
Study (Project). On November 15, 2018, Consultant submitted its proposal for the Project to the City. 
City has determined that Consultant possesses the knowledge, skills, experience and certification 
required to provide the services. 

C. After negotiations between the City and Consultant, the Parties have reached an agreement for
the performance of services in accordance with the terms set forth in this Agreement. 

D. This Agreement is being executed pursuant to Resolution No. __ approved by Tracy City
Council on May 21, 2019. 

Now therefore, the Parties mutually agree as follows: 

1. Scope of Work. Consultant shall perform the services described in Exhibit "A" attached and
incorporated by reference. The services shall be performed by, or under the direct supervision of,
Consultant's Authorized Representative: Marva Sheehan, CPA and Vice President as the project
director. Consultant shall not replace its Authorized Representative, nor shall Consultant use any
subcontractors or subconsultants, without City's prior written consent.

2. Time of Performance. Time is of the essence in the performance of services under this
Agreement and the timing requirements set forth shall be strictly adhered to unless otherwise modified
in writing in accordance with this Agreement. Consultant shall complete all required services no later
than October 1, 2019. Any services for which times for performance are not specified in this
Agreement shall be started and completed by Consultant in a reasonably prompt and timely manner
based upon the circumstances and direction communicated to the Consultant. Consultant shall submit
all requests for time extensions to the City in writing no later than ten days after the start of the
condition which purportedly caused the delay, and not later than the date on which performance is due.
City shall grant or deny such requests at its sole discretion.

3. Compensation. City shall pay Consultant on a time and expense basis.
3.1 Not to Exceed Amount. Consultant's total compensation under this Agreement shall 

not exceed $130,720. Consultant's billing rates shall cover all costs and expenses for Consultant's 
performance of this Agreement. No work shall be performed by Consultant in excess of the total 
compensation amount provided in this section without the City's prior written approval. 

3.2 Invoices. Consultant shall submit monthly invoices to the City that describe the services 
performed, including times, dates, and names of persons performing the services and tasks completed. 

Rev. January 2019 

Attachment B

























RESOLUTION ________ 
 
 

APPROVE AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF TRACY AND HF&H CONSULTANTS, LLC TO PERFORM A SOLID 
WASTE RATE STUDY, INCREASING THE NOT TO EXCEED AMOUNT BY $17,000 FOR A 

TOTAL NOT TO EXCEED AMOUNT OF $147,720 
 

 WHEREAS, The City of Tracy and HF&H Consultants, LLC entered into a Professional 
Services Agreement to perform a solid waste rate study in May 2019, and 

  WHEREAS, The City is adding the task of preparing a Proposition 218 notification to the 
services performed by HF&H, and 

WHEREAS, Additional funding in the amount of $17,000 is necessary to complete the 
solid waste rate study due to delay incurred by COVID-19 and the added Proposition 218 
notification preparation, and 
 
 WHEREAS, The total not to exceed amount of the Professional Services Agreement will 
now be $147,720; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, That the City Council of the City of Tracy 
hereby approves Amendment No. 1 to the Professional Services Agreement between the City of 
Tracy and HF&H Consultants, LLC to perform a solid waste rate study, increasing the not to 
exceed amount by $17,000 for a total not to exceed amount of $147,720. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

The foregoing Resolution ________ was adopted by the Tracy City Council on the 18th 
day of May, 2021, by the following vote: 
 
AYES:  COUNCIL MEMBERS: 
 
NOES:  COUNCIL MEMBERS: 
 
ABSENT: COUNCIL MEMBERS: 
 
ABSTAIN: COUNCIL MEMBERS: 
 
 
         _______________________ 
         MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
CITY CLERK 



May 18, 2021 

AGENDA ITEM 1.D 

REQUEST 

APPROVE THE DEFERRED IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT (DIA) FOR SEEFRIED 
INDUSTRIAL PROPERTIES, AND AUTHORIZE FOR THE CITY CLERK TO FILE THE 
DEFERRED IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT WITH THE OFFICE OF THE SAN 
JOAQUIN COUNTY RECORDER  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

LIT Industrial Limited Partnership, a Delaware limited partnership (Developer) has 
requested that the construction of certain improvements required under the Conditions of 
Approval for Seefried Industrial Properties Project be deferred to a later date.  The 
Developer has signed the Deferred Improvement Agreement (DIA) to guarantee 
completion of the Deferred Improvements. 

DISCUSSION 

On December 19, 2019, the Development Services Director approved a Development 
Review Application (D18-0034) for the construction of three new industrial buildings 
totaling 1,035,500 square feet and their related parking and landscape improvements  
located at northeast corner of E. Grant Line Road and Chrisman Road (Assessor’s 
Parcel Numbers 213-070-48, 213-070-49, 213-070-52, 213-070-53, 213-070-85 and 
213-070-87), subject to specific Conditions of Approval.

LIT Industrial Limited Partnership is the owner of real property located at the northeast 
corner of E. Grant Line Road and Chrisman Road. 

In accordance with the improvement plans and Conditions of Approval, Developer is 
required to construct two temporary retention basins and to repair and maintain said 
basins while the storm drainage retention basins are in service and then to 
modify/remove said basins when no longer needed as determined by the City Engineer, 
in accordance with the Conditions of Approval. 

The Developer has executed the DIA with required security, to guarantee the completion 
of the Deferred Improvements.  The DIA and Improvement Plans are on file with the City 
Engineer and are available for review upon request. 

All other off-site improvements required per the Conditions of Approval will be completed 
per the Offsite Improvement Agreement (OIA) that was executed by LIT Industrial 
Limited Partnership.   

FISCAL IMPACT 

The Developer has paid the applicable engineering review fees which include the cost of 
processing the Deferred Improvement Agreement.  



Agenda Item 1.D 
May 18, 2021 
Page 2 

STRATEGIC PLAN 

This agenda item is consistent with the Council approved Economic Development 
Strategy to ensure physical infrastructure necessary for development. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That City Council, by resolution, approve the Deferred Improvement Agreement for 
Seefried Industrial Properties, and authorize the City Clerk to file the Deferred 
Improvement Agreement with the Office of the San Joaquin County Recorder. 

Prepared by: Nanda Gottiparthy, PE, SNG & Associates, Inc. 

Reviewed by: Robert Armijo, PE, City Engineer / Assistant Development Services Director 
Karin Schnaider, Finance Director 
Andrew Malik, Assistant City Manager 

Approved by:  Jenny Haruyama, City Manager 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A – Vicinity Map 
Attachment B – Deferred Improvement Agreement 



Attachment A 
 
 

 

 
  



Attachment B















THE LAND REFERRED TO HEREIN BELOW IS SITUATED IN THE CITY OF TRACY, COUNTY OF SAN JOAQUIN, 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA AND IS DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

PARCEL ONE: 

LOTS 55 AND 57 AS SHOWN ON "MAP OF UNIT NO. 1, PESCADERO COLONY", FILED FOR RECORD 
NOVEMBER 10, 1921 IN VOLUME 10 OF MAPS AND PLATS, AT PAGE 44, SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY 
RECORDS. 

PARCEL TWO: 

LOT 69 AS SHOWN ON "MAP OF UNIT NO. 1, PESCADERO COLONY", FILED FOR RECORD NOVEMBER 10, 
1921 IN VOLUME 10 OF MAPS AND PLATS, AT PAGE 44, SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY RECORDS. 

THE ABOVE LEGAL DESCRIPTION IS ALSO REFERRED TO AS PARCEL "C" AS SHOWN ON PARCEL MAP FILED 
FOR RECORD JULY 7, 1980 IN BOOK 9 OF PARCEL MAPS, AT PAGE 95, SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY RECORDS. 

EXCEPTING THEREFROM A PORTION OF LOT 69, AS SAID LOT IS SHOWN UPON THAT CERTAIN MAP 
ENTITLED "MAP OF UNIT NO. 1, PESCADERO COLONY", FILED FOR RECORD NOVEMBER 10, 1921 IN 
VOLUME 10 OF MAPS AND PLATS, AT PAGE 44, SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY RECORDS, AND BEING MORE 
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT A POINT OF INTERSECTION OF THE EAST BOUNDARY LINE OF LOT 69 WITH THE 
SOUTHERN RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE OF PESCADERO AVENUE (30.00 FEET FROM CENTERLINE), FORMERLY 
NAMED VINE AVENUE, AS SAID LOT AND AVENUE ARE SHOWN UPON THAT ABOVE REFERRED TO MAP 
AND RUNNING THENCE ALONG SAID EAST BOUNDARY LINE OF LOT 69, SOUTH 00°18'15" WEST, 1290.00 
FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LOT 69; THENCE ALONG THE SOUTHERN BOUNDARY LINE OF 
SAID LOT 69, NORTH 89°41'45" WEST 32.50 FEET; THENCE LEAVING SAID SOUTHERN BOUNDARY LINE 
AND RUNNING PARALLEL WITH AND 32.50 FEET DISTANT FROM SAID EAST BOUNDARY LINE OF LOT 69, 
NORTH 00°18'15" EAST 1290.00 FEET TO SAID SOUTHERN RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE, AS SHOWN UPON THAT 
ABOVE REFERRED TO MAP AS VINE AVENUE; THENCE ALONG SAID SOUTHERN RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE, 
SOUTH 89°41'45" EAST, 32.50 FEET, TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

THE ABOVE LEGAL DESCRIPTION IS ALSO REFERRED TO AS PARCEL "C" AS SHOWN ON PARCEL MAP FILED 
FOR RECORD JULY 7, 1980 IN BOOK 9 OF PARCEL MAPS, AT PAGE 95, SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY RECORDS. 

PARCEL THREE: 

LOT 71 AS SHOWN ON "MAP OF UNIT NO. 1, PESCADERO COLONY", FILED FOR RECORD NOVEMBER 10, 
1921 IN VOLUME 10 OF MAPS AND PLATS, AT PAGE 44, SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY RECORDS. 

EXCEPTING THEREFROM PARCEL "A" AND PARCEL "B" AS SHOWN ON PARCEL MAP FILED FOR RECORD 
JULY 7, 1980 IN BOOK 9 OF PARCEL MAPS, AT PAGE 95, SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY RECORDS. 

THE ABOVE LEGAL DESCRIPTION IS ALSO REFERRED TO AS PARCEL "C" AS SHOWN ON PARCEL MAP FILED 
FOR RECORD JULY 7, 1980 IN BOOK 9 OF PARCEL MAPS, AT PAGE 95, SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY RECORDS. 

EXHIBIT A 



 
 
 
 

 

ALSO EXCEPTING THEREFROM A PORTION OF LOT 69, AS SAID LOT IS SHOWN UPON THAT CERTAIN MAP 
ENTITLED "MAP OF UNIT NO. 1, PESCADERO COLONY", FILED FOR RECORD NOVEMBER 10, 1921 IN 
VOLUME 10 OF MAPS AND PLATS, AT PAGE 44, SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY RECORDS, AND BEING MORE 
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
 
BEGINNING AT THE POINT ON THE EAST BOUNDARY LINE OF LOT 71, AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 
PARCEL "A", AS SHOWN PARCEL MAP FILED FOR RECORD JULY 7, 1980 IN BOOK 9 OF PARCEL MAPS, AT 
PAGE 95, SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY RECORDS AND RUNNING THENCE FROM POINT OF BEGINNING ALONG 
SAID EAST BOUNDARY LINE OF LOT 71, NORTH 00°27'09" EAST, 1121.68 FEET TO THE NORTHEAST 
CORNER OF SAID LOT 71; THENCE ALONG THE NORTHERN BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID LOT 71, NORTH 
89°44'45" WEST, 32.50 FEET; THENCE LEAVING SAID NORTHERN BOUNDARY LINE AND RUNNING 
PARALLEL WITH AND 32.50 FEET DISTANT FROM SAID EAST BOUNDARY LINE OF LOT 71, SOUTH 
00°27'09" WEST, 1121.68 FEET TO THE NORTHERN BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID PARCEL "A"; THENCE 
ALONG SAID NORTHERN BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID PARCEL "A", SOUTH 89°44'40" EAST, 32.50 FEET TO 
THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
PARCEL A: 
 
PARCEL "A" AS SHOWN UPON THAT CERTAIN PARCEL MAP FILED FOR RECORD JULY 7, 1980, IN BOOK 
OF PARCEL MAPS, VOLUME 9, PAGE 95, SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY RECORDS BEING A PORTION OF LOT 
71, UNIT NO. 1 OF PESCADERO COLONY, RANCHO EL PESCADERO FILED FOR RECORD NOVEMBER 10, 
1921 IN BOOK OF MAPS AND PLATS, VOLUME 10, PAGE 44, SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY RECORDS. 
 
EXCEPTING THAT PORTION DEEDED TO THE CITY OF TRACY BY DOCUMENT RECORDED OCTOBER 17, 
2007 AS INSTRUMENT NO. 2007-179340 AND DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
 
BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF PARCEL A, ON THE NORTHERN RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF 
GRANT LINE ROAD (30.00 FEET FROM CENTERLINE) AS SAID PARCEL AND ROAD ARE SHOWN UPON 
THE ABOVE REFERRED TO MAP AND RUNNING THENCE ALONG SAID NORTHERN RIGHT OF WAY LINE, 
NORTH 89° 32' 52" WEST 259.89 FEET TO THE WEST BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID PARCEL A; THENCE 
ALONG SAID WEST BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID PARCEL, NORTH 00° 27' 08" EAST 7.00 FEET; THENCE 
LEAVING SAID WEST BOUNDARY LINE AND RUNNING PARALLEL TO AND 7.00 FEET DISTANT FROM 
SAID NORTHERN RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF GRANT LINE ROAD, SOUTH 89° 32' 52" EAST, 259.89 FEET TO 
THE EAST BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID PARCEL A; THENCE ALONG SAID EAST BOUNDARY LINE, SOUTH 
00° 27' 08" WEST, 7.00 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
PARCEL B: 
 
PARCEL "B" AS SHOWN UPON THAT CERTAIN PARCEL MAP FILED FOR RECORD JULY 7, 1980, IN BOOK 
OF PARCEL MAPS, VOLUME 9, PAGE 95, SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY RECORDS BEING A PORTION OF LOT 
71, UNIT NO. I OF PESCADERO COLONY, RANCHO EL PESCADERO FILED FOR RECORD NOVEMBER 10, 
1921 IN BOOK OF MAPS AND PLATS, VOLUME 10, PAGE 44, SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY RECORDS. 
 
EXCEPTING THEREFROM THE FOLLOWING DESCRIBED PROPERTY: 
 
BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF PARCEL B, ON THE NORTHERN RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF 
GRANT LINE ROAD (30.00 FEET FROM CENTERLINE) AS SAID PARCEL AND ROAD ARE SHOWN UPON 



 
 
 
 

 

THE ABOVE REFERRED TO MAP AND RUNNING THENCE ALONG SAID NORTHERN RIGHT OF WAY LINE, 
SOUTH 89°32'52" EAST 262.10 FEET TO THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID PARCEL B; THENCE ALONG 
SAID EAST BOUNDARY LINE OF SAID PARCEL, NORTH 00°27'08" EAST 7.00 FEET; THENCE LEAVING 
SAID EAST BOUNDARY LINE RUNNING PARALLEL TO AND 7.00 FEET DISTANT FROM SAID NORTHERN 
RIGHT OF WAY OF GRANT LINE ROAD, NORTH 89°32'52" WEST 262.10 FEET TO THE WEST BOUNDARY 
OF SAID PARCEL B; THENCE ALONG SAID WEST BOUNDARY LINE, SOUTH 00°27'08" WEST, 7.00 FEET 
TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 
  



Richard Steiner
Text Box
EXHIBIT B

Richard Steiner
Line





Doug
Rectangle







































CITY OF TRACY 
DEFERRED IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT 

SEEFRIED INDUSTRIAL PROPERTIES 
EXHIBIT “C” 
Page 1 of 1 

I.  Work: Time for Commencement and Performance 

The work described in this Exhibit “C” (hereinafter, collectively, “Deferred 
Improvements” or “Work”) shall be completed within the timelines as specified in this 
Exhibit “C” of this Deferred Agreement, subject to any extension(s) granted by City 
pursuant to Section 3 of the Deferred Improvement Agreement. City shall have no 
obligation to construct or complete the Deferred Improvements. 

For purposes of this Exhibit “C,” all terms with initial capital letters shall have the 
same meaning as set forth in the Deferred Improvement Agreement unless 
otherwise provided for herein. 

II.  Description of Work 

A.  Storm Drainage 

1.  Developer is responsible to repair and maintain the temporary storm drainage 
retention basins referenced in the Applications. Developer is also responsible 
for design and construction of the permanent storm drain connection for the 
Project (as described in the Applications). Developer is also responsible to 
plant the landscape on the two retention basins only after the adjacent 
project, known as the NEI Basin and Pump Station, is deemed operational by 
City. City shall have the right to access to the basin site for routine 
engineering inspection and for emergency repair and /or maintenance work 
City may perform on the temporary storm drainage basins. 

2.  Subject to any extensions granted by City pursuant to Section 3 of the 
Deferred Improvement Agreement, within one hundred eighty (180) calendar 
days from the date of Developer’s receipt of written notification from the City 
Engineer that the downstream storm drainage pipeline and the permanent 
storm drainage detention facility planned to serve this Property known as 
DET NEI is constructed, made operational, and available for connection, 
Developer shall complete the installation of the Project’s permanent storm 
drainage connection, all at Developer’s sole cost and expense.  

3.  Subject to any extensions granted by the City pursuant to Section 3 of the 
Deferred Improvement Agreement, within one hundred eighty (180) calendar 
days from the date of Developer’s receipt of written notification from the City 
Engineer that the downstream storm drainage pipeline and the permanent 
storm drainage detention facility planned to serve this Property known as 
DET NEI is constructed, made operational, and available for connection, 
Developer shall offer to dedicate the temporary retention basins, and City 
shall accept same upon the City Engineer’s determination that the basins are 
completed in accordance with the City’s Plans and Specifications. 



CITY OF TRACY 
DEFERRED IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT 

SEEFRIED INDUSTRIAL PROPERTIES 

EXHIBIT “C” 
Page 2 of 2 

4.  Layout and design of access easements as may be required pursuant to the 
approved Applications to be dedicated to City shall be set forth pursuant to 
the applicable requirements of Public Works Department and as reasonably 
approved by the City Engineer. 



RESOLUTION 2021-_____ 

APPROVING THE DEFERRED IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT FOR NEI SEEFRIED 
LOGISTICS, AND AUTHORIZING FOR THE CITY CLERK TO FILE THE DEFERRED 

IMPROVEMENT AGREEMENT WITH THE SAN JOAQUIN COUNTY RECORDER 

WHEREAS, The Development Services Director has approved the Development Review 
Application for NEI Seefried Logistics located on the north side of Grant Line Road, and 

WHEREAS, The Developer is required to construct certain improvements in accordance 
with their Conditions of Approval dated December 19, 2019, and 

WHEREAS, The improvements to be deferred to a future date are outlined in the 
Deferred Improvement Agreement and include construction of two temporary retention basins, 
repair and maintenance while in service and modification/removal of said basins when no longer 
needed, as determined by the City Engineer, and  

WHEREAS, The Developer will pay for the cost of inspection and processing the 
agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, That the City Council of the City of Tracy 
hereby approves the Deferred Improvement Agreement between the City and LIT Industrial 
Limited Partnership, and authorizes the City Clerk to record the Deferred Improvement 
Agreement with the San Joaquin County Recorder. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

The foregoing Resolution 2021-_____ was adopted by the Tracy City Council on the 
18th day of May 2021, by the following vote: 

AYES: COUNCIL MEMBERS: 
NOES:  COUNCIL MEMBERS: 
ABSENT: COUNCIL MEMBERS: 
ABSTAIN: COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

  ______________________________ 
 MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

_________________________ 
CITY CLERK 



May 18, 2021 

AGENDA ITEM 1.E 

REQUEST 

WAIVE SECOND READING AND ADOPT ORDINANCE 1307, AN ORDINANCE OF 
THE CITY OF TRACY ADDING CHAPTER 7.28 (“WIRELESS 
TELECOMMUNICATIONS FACILITIES IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY”) TO TITLE 
7 (“PUBLIC WORKS”) OF THE TRACY MUNICIPAL CODE 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Ordinance 1307 was introduced at the regular Council meeting held on May 4, 2021. 
Ordinance 1307 is before Council for adoption. 

DISCUSSION 

The Federal Communication Commission (FCC) is responsible for implementing and 
enforcing federal communications laws and regulations such as small cell wireless 
facilities. Federal laws generally limit local control over telecommunication facilities, with 
the exception of allowing communities to establish reasonable design standards and 
permit processing requirements. The purpose is to establish local design standards and 
process application requirements, within federal and state guidelines, to ensure that the 
look of the small cell wireless facilities blend into the various locations and the process is 
as transparent as possible. 

In prior decades, wireless antennas and equipment were primarily installed on large 
towers or “macro-cells.” These deployments are subject to Conditional Use Permit 
approval under the Zoning Code, which are currently prohibited in residential zones. 

In recent years, however, carriers increasingly seek to place wireless facilities in the 
City’s public right-of-way (“PROW”) on utility poles, streetlights and new poles. The 
demand for such wireless installations is expected to grow exponentially over the next 
several years. To accommodate this expansion, the telecommunications industry is 
starting to look for small cell 5G (fifth generation) technology. 

The proposed ordinance provides the regulatory framework and standards for permitting 
the installation of Small Wireless Facilities (SWFs) within the City’s PROW.  The 
proposed ordinance is consistent with the General Plan Objective ED-6.7, Policy P3 
which reads “High-speed telecommunications systems should be included in 
development to help create the premier office location in Tracy.” 

STRATEGIC PLAN 

This agenda item supports the City of Tracy’s Economic Development Strategic Priority 
5.5, which is to develop policies to Target new jobs in innovative industries (e.g., 
cannabis; green industry), and initiate marketing for enhancement of the green economy 
cluster and develop strategies for business growth and attraction. 



Agenda Item 1.E 
May 18, 2021 
Page 2 

FISCAL IMPACT 

No fiscal impacts are associated with the ordinance. However, installation of wireless 
facilities would be subject to fees and yield potential application and lease revenue. 
Staff will incorporate new application fees as part of the Master Fee Schedule that will 
be brought back to Council at a later date. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the City Council waive the reading of the full text and adopt Ordinance 1307 an  
Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Tracy, California, adding Chapter 7.28 
(“Wireless Telecommunications Facilities in the Public Right-of-Way”) to Title 7 (“Public 
Works”) of the Tracy Municipal Code. 

Prepared by: Necy Lopez, Deputy City Clerk 

Reviewed by: Adrianne Richardson, City Clerk 
Midori Lichtwardt, Assistant City Manager 

Approved by: Jenny Haruyama, City Manager 

Attachment A:  Ordinance 1307 



Attachment A 

ORDINANCE NO. 1307 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TRACY, 
CALIFORNIA, ADDING CHAPTER 7.28 (“WIRELESS 

TELECOMMUNICATIONS FACILITIES IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-
WAY”) TO TITLE 7 (“PUBLIC WORKS”) OF THE TRACY MUNICIPAL 

CODE 

A. The City Council may make and enforce within its limits all local, police, sanitary 
and other ordinances and regulations not in conflict with general laws. 

B. Significant changes in Federal and State law that affect local authority over wireless 
communications facilities ("WCFs") have occurred, including but not limited to the following: 

i. On November 18, 2009, the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC')
adopted a declaratory ruling (the "2009 Shot Clock"), which established
presumptively reasonable timeframes for State and local governments to act
on applications for WCFs.

ii. On February 22, 2012, Congress adopted Section 6409(a) of the Middle
Class Tax Relief and Job Creation Act ("Section 6409(a)"), which mandated
that State and local governments approve certain modifications and
collocations to existing WCFs, known as eligible facilities requests.

iii. On October 17, 2014, the FCC adopted a report and order that, among other
things, implemented new limitations on how State and local governments
review applications covered by Section 6409(a), established an automatic
approval for such applications when the local reviewing authority fails to
act within 60 days, and also further restricted generally applicable
procedural rules under the 2009 Shot Clock.

iv. On October 9, 2015, California adopted Assembly Bill No. 57 (Quirk),
which deemed approved any WCF applications when the local reviewing
authority fails to act within the 2009 Shot Clock timeframes.

v. On August 2, 2018, the FCC adopted a declaratory ruling that formally
prohibited express and de facto moratoria for all telecommunications
services and facilities under 47 U.S.C. § 253(a).

vi. On September 26, 2018, the FCC adopted a declaratory ruling and report
and order that, among other things, creates a new regulatory classification
for small wireless facilities (“SWFs”), requires State and local governments
to process applications for small wireless facilities within 60 days or 90
days, establishes a national standard for an effective prohibition and
provides that a failure to act within the applicable timeframe presumptively
constitutes an effective prohibition.



Page 2 

C. In addition to the changes described above, new Federal laws and regulations that 
drastically alter local authority over WCFs are currently pending, including without limitation, the 
following: 

i. On March 30, 2017, the FCC issued a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking (WT
Docket No. 17-79, WC Docket No. 17-84) and has acted on some of the
noticed issues referenced above, but may adopt forthcoming rulings and/or
orders that further limit local authority over wireless facilities deployment.

ii. On June 28, 2018, United States Senator John Thune introduced and
referred to the Senate Committee on Commerce, Science and
Transportation the "STREAMLINE Small Cell Deployment Act" (S. 3157)
that, among other things, applies specifically to small cell WCFs and require
local governments to review applications based on  objective standards,
shorten the 2009 Shot Clock timeframes, require all proceedings to occur
within the 2009 Shot Clock timeframes, and provide a "deemed granted"
remedy for failure to act within the applicable 2009 Shot Clock.

D. Given the rapid and significant changes in Federal and State law, the actual and
effective prohibition on moratoria to amend local policies in response to such changes and the 
significant adverse consequences for noncompliance with Federal and State law, the City Council 
desires to add a new Chapter 7.28 of Title 7 in the Tracy Municipal Code, entitled “Chapter 
7.28.000 - WIRELESS TELECOMMUNICATIONS FACILITIES IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-
WAY” (the “Ordinance”) to allow greater flexibility and responsiveness to the new Federal and 
State laws while still preserving the City's traditional authority to the maximum extent practicable. 

On April 6, 2021 the City Council held a duly noticed public hearing on the Ordinance, reviewed 
and considered the staff report, other written reports, public testimony and other information 
contained in the record. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TRACY DOES 
ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1.  The facts set forth in the recitals in this Ordinance are true and correct and 
incorporated by reference.  The recitals constitute findings in this matter and, together with the 
staff report, other written reports, public testimony and other information contained in the record, 
are an adequate and appropriate evidentiary basis for the actions taken in the Ordinance. 

SECTION 2.  The Ordinance is consistent with the City’s General Plan, Tracy Municipal 
and Zoning Code, and applicable Federal and State law. 

SECTION 3.  The Ordinance will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, 
convenience or welfare. 

SECTION 4. The Ordinance is not a project within the meaning of Section 15378 of 
the State of California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) Guidelines, because it has no 
potential for resulting in physical change in the environment, directly or indirectly.  The Ordinance 

Ordinance 1307



Page 3 

does not authorize any specific development or installation on any specific piece of property within 
the City’s boundaries.  The Ordinance is further exempt from CEQA because the City Council’s 
adoption of the Ordinance is covered by the general rule that CEQA applies only to projects which 
have the potential for causing a significant effect on the environment (State CEQA Guidelines, 
§ 15061(b)(3)).  Installations, if any, would be exempt from CEQA review in accordance with
either State CEQA Guidelines Section 15302 (replacement or reconstruction), State CEQA
Guidelines Section 15303 (new construction or conversion of small structures), and/or State CEQA
Guidelines Section 15304 (minor alterations to land).

SECTION 5.  The Ordinance is hereby adopted by the addition of a new Chapter 7.28, 
“WIRELESS TELECOMMUNICATIONS FACILITIES IN THE PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY” in 
Title 7 of the Tracy Municipal Code to read in its entirety as shown in Exhibit “A” attached hereto 
and incorporated herein by this reference. 

SECTION 6.  If the provisions in this Ordinance conflict in whole or in part with any 
other City regulation or ordinance adopted prior to the effective date of this section, the provisions 
in this Ordinance will control. 

SECTION 7.  If any subsection, subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of 
this Ordinance or any part thereof is for any reason held to be unconstitutional or otherwise 
unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portion of this Ordinance 
or any part thereof. The City Council hereby declare that they would have passed each subsection, 
subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or 
more subsection, subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase be declared unconstitutional 
or otherwise unenforceable. 

SECTION 8.  This Ordinance shall take effect 30 days after its adoption. 

SECTION 9. The City Clerk shall certify as to the passage and adoption of this 
Ordinance and shall cause the same to be posted at the designated locations in the City of Tracy. 

ADOPTED, SIGNED and APPROVED this __ day of ________, 2021. 

MAYOR, Nancy D. Young 
ATTEST: 

City Clerk, Adrianne Richardson 

Ordinance 1307



Page 4 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA ) 
COUNTY OF_______ ) 
CITY OF __________ ) 

I, Adrianne Richardson, CITY CLERK OF THE CITY OF TRACY, DO HEREBY 
CERTIFY that the foregoing Ordinance Number _____ was duly adopted by the City Council of 
the City of Tracy at a regular meeting of said Council on the __ day of ______, 2021, and that it 
was so adopted by the following vote: 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

City Clerk, Adrianne Richardson 

Ordinance 1307



01228.0001/570526.17  

Exhibit A 

 

Chapter 7.28.000 - WIRELESS TELECOMMUNICATIONS FACILITIES IN THE 
PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY 

7.28.010 - PURPOSE. 

The purpose and intent of this chapter is to provide a uniform and comprehensive set of regulations 
and standards for the permitting, development, siting, installation, design, operation and 
maintenance of wireless telecommunications facilities in the City’s public right-of-way. These 
regulations are intended to prescribe clear and reasonable criteria to assess and process applications 
in a consistent and expeditious manner, while reducing the impacts associated with wireless 
telecommunications facilities. This chapter provides standards necessary (1) for the preservation 
of the public right-of-way (“PROW”) in the City for the maximum benefit and use of the public, 
(2) to promote and protect public health and safety, community welfare, visual resources and the 
aesthetic quality of the City consistent with the goals, objectives and policies of the general plan, 
and (3) to provide for the orderly, managed and efficient development of wireless 
telecommunications facilities in accordance with the state and federal laws, rules and regulations, 
including those regulations of the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) and California 
Public Utilities Commission (“CPUC”), and (4) to ensure that the use and enjoyment of the PROW 
is not inconvenienced by the use of the PROW for the placement of wireless facilities. The City 
recognizes the importance of wireless facilities to provide high-quality communications service to 
the residents and businesses within the City, and the City also recognizes its obligation to comply 
with applicable Federal and State laws. This chapter shall be constructed and applied in consistency 
with the provisions of state and federal laws, and the rules and regulations of FCC and CPUC. In 
the event of any inconsistency between any such laws, rules and regulations and this chapter, the 
laws, rules and regulations shall control. 

7.28.20 - DEFINITIONS. 

(a) “Accessory equipment” means any and all on-site equipment, including, without 
limitation, back-up generators and power supply units, cabinets, coaxial and fiber 
optic cables, connections, equipment buildings, shelters, radio transceivers, 
transmitters, pedestals, splice boxes, fencing and shielding, surface location 
markers, meters, regular power supply units, fans, air conditioning units, cables and 
wiring, to which an antenna is attached in order to facilitate the provision of 
wireless telecommunication services. 

(b) “Antenna” means that specific device for transmitting and/or receiving radio 
frequency or other signals for purposes of wireless telecommunications services. 
“Antenna” is specific to the antenna portion of a wireless telecommunications 
facility. 

(c) “Antenna array” shall mean two or more antennas having active elements extending 
in one or more directions, and directional antennas mounted upon and rotated 
through a vertical mast or tower interconnecting the beam and antenna support, all 
of which elements are deemed to be part of the antenna. 



2  

(d) “Base station” shall have the meaning as set forth in Title 47 Code of Federal 
Regulations (C.F.R.) Section 1.6100(b)(1), or any successor provision. This means 
a structure or equipment at a fixed location that enables FCC-licensed or authorized 
wireless communications between user equipment and a communications network 
(regardless of the technological configuration, and encompassing DAS and small 
wireless facilities). “Base station” does not encompass a tower or any equipment 
associated with a tower. Base station includes, without limitation: 

(1) Equipment associated with wireless communications services such as 
private, broadcast, and public safety services, as well as unlicensed wireless 
services and fixed wireless services such as microwave backhaul. 

(2) Radio transceivers, antennas, coaxial or fiber-optic cable, regular and 
backup power supplies, and comparable equipment, regardless of 
technological configuration (including Distributed Antenna Systems and 
small wireless facilities). 

(3) Any structure other than a tower that, at the time the relevant application is 
filed with the City under this chapter, supports or houses equipment 
described in paragraphs 1 and 2 of this definition that has been reviewed 
and approved under the applicable zoning or siting process, or under another 
state or local regulatory review process, even if the structure was not built 
for the sole or primary purpose of providing that support. 

(4) “Base station” does not include any structure that, at the time the relevant 
application is filed under this chapter, does not support or house equipment 
described in paragraphs 1 and 2 of this definition. Other structures that do 
not host wireless telecommunications facilities are not “base stations.” 

As an illustration and not a limitation, the FCC’s definition of “base station” refers to any structure 
that actually supports wireless equipment even though it was not originally intended for that 
purpose. Examples include, but are not limited to, wireless facilities mounted on buildings, utility 
poles, light standards or traffic signals. A structure without wireless equipment replaced with a 
new structure designed to bear the additional weight from wireless equipment constitutes a base 
station. 

(e) “Cellular” means an analog or digital wireless telecommunications technology that 
is based on a system of interconnected neighboring cell sites. 

(1) “City” means the City of Tracy. 

(2) “Code” means the Tracy Municipal Code. 

(3) “Collocation” bears the following meanings: 

(f) For the purposes of any eligible facilities request, the same as defined by the FCC 
in 47 C.F.R. § 1.6100(b)(2), as may be amended, which defines that term as “[t]he 
mounting or installation of transmission equipment on an eligible support structure 



3  

for the purpose of transmitting and/or receiving radio frequency signals for 
communications purposes.” As an illustration and not a limitation, the FCC’s 
definition means to add transmission equipment to an existing facility and does not 
necessarily refer to two or more different facility operators in the same location; 
and 

(g) For all other purposes, the same as defined in 47 CFR 1.6002(g)(1) and (2), as may 
be amended, which defines that term as (1) Mounting or installing an antenna 
facility on a pre-existing structure, and/or (2) Modifying a structure for the purpose 
of mounting or installing an antenna facility on that structure. 

(h) “Collocation facility” means the eligible support structure on, or immediately 
adjacent to, which a collocation is proposed, or a wireless telecommunications 
facility that includes collocation facilities. (See, Gov. Code, § 65850.6(d)(1).) 

(i) “COW” means a “cell on wheels,” which is a portable, self-contained wireless 
telecommunications facility that can be moved to a location and set up to provide 
wireless telecommunication services, which facility is temporarily rolled in, or 
temporarily installed, at a location. Under this chapter, the maximum time a facility 
can be installed to be considered a COW is five (5) days. A COW is normally 
vehicle-mounted and contains a telescoping boom as the antenna support structure. 

(j) “Development Services Director” means the director of the Development Services 
and Engineering Department or their designee. 

(k) “Distributed antenna system” or “DAS” means a network of spatially separated 
antennas (nodes) connected to a common source (a hub) via a transport medium 
(often fiber optics) that provide wireless telecommunications service within a 
specific geographic area or building. DAS includes the transport medium, the hub, 
and any other equipment to which the DAS network or its antennas or nodes are 
connected to provide wireless telecommunication services. 

(l) “Eligible facilities request” means any request for modification to an existing 
eligible support structure that does not substantially change the physical dimensions 
of such structure, involving: 

(1) Collocation of new transmission equipment; 

(2) Removal of transmission equipment; 

(3) Replacement of transmission equipment (replacement does not include 
completely replacing the underlying support structure); or 

(4) Hardening through structural enhancement where such hardening is 
necessary to accomplish the eligible facilities request, but does not include 
replacement of the underlying support structure. 



4  

(m) “Eligible facilities request” does not include modifications or replacements when 
an eligible support structure was constructed or deployed without proper local 
review, was not required to undergo local review, or involves equipment that was 
not properly approved. “Eligible facilities request” does include collocation 
facilities satisfying all the requirements for a non-discretionary collocation facility 
pursuant to Government Code Section 65850.6. 

(n) “Eligible support structure” means any support structure located in the PROW that 
is existing at the time the relevant application is filed with the City under this 
chapter. 

(o) “Existing” means a support structure, wireless telecommunications facility, or 
accessory equipment that has been reviewed and approved under the City’s 
applicable zoning or siting process, or under another applicable state or local 
regulatory review process, and lawfully constructed prior to the time the relevant 
application is filed under this chapter. However, a support structure, wireless 
telecommunications facility, or accessory equipment that has not been reviewed 
and approved because it was not in a zoned area when it was built, but was lawfully 
constructed, is “existing” for purposes of this chapter. “Existing” does not apply to 
any structure that (1) was illegally constructed without all proper local agency 
approvals, or (2) was constructed in noncompliance with such approvals. 
“Existing” does not apply where an existing support structure is proposed to be 
replaced in furtherance of the proposed wireless telecommunications facility. 

(p) “Facility(ies)” means wireless telecommunications facility(ies). 

(q) “FCC” means the Federal Communications Commission. 

(r) “Ground-mounted” means mounted to a pole, tower or other freestanding structure 
which is specifically constructed for the purpose of supporting an antenna or 
wireless telecommunications facility and placed directly on the ground at grade 
level. 

(s) “Lattice tower” means an open framework structure used to support one or more 
antennas, typically with three or four support legs. 

(t) “Located within (or in) the public right-of-way” includes any facility which in 
whole or in part, itself or as part of another structure, rests upon, in, over or under 
the PROW. 

(u) “Modification” means a change to an existing wireless telecommunications facility 
that involves any of the following: collocation, expansion, alteration, enlargement, 
intensification, reduction, or augmentation, including, but not limited to, changes 
in size, shape, color, visual design, or exterior material. “Modification” does not 
include repair, replacement or maintenance if those actions do not involve 
whatsoever any expansion, alteration, enlargement, intensification, reduction, or 
augmentation of an existing wireless telecommunications facility. 



5  

(v) “Monopole” means a structure composed of a pole or tower used solely to support 
antennas or related equipment. A monopole also includes a monopine, monopalm 
and similar monopoles camouflaged to resemble faux trees or other faux objects 
attached on a monopole (e.g. water tower). 

(w) “Mounted” means attached or supported. 

(x) “OTARD antennas” means antennas covered by the “over-the-air reception 
devices” rule in 47 C.F.R. sections 1.6100 et seq. as may be amended or replaced 
from time to time. 

(y) “Permittee” means any person or entity granted a WTFP pursuant to this chapter. 

(z) “Personal wireless services” shall have the same meaning as set forth in 47 United 
States Code Section 332(c)(7)(C)(i). 

(aa) “Pole” means a single shaft of wood, steel, concrete or other material capable of 
supporting the equipment mounted thereon in a safe and adequate manner and as 
required by provisions of this code. 

(bb) “Public right-of-way” or “PROW” means a strip of land acquired by reservation, 
dedication, prescription, condemnation, or easement that allows for the passage of 
people and goods. The PROW includes, but is not necessarily limited to, streets, 
curbs, gutters, sidewalks, roadway medians, and parking strips. The PROW does not 
include lands owned, controlled or operated by the City for uses unrelated to streets 
or the passage of people and goods, such as, without limitation, parks, City Hall and 
community center lands, City yards, and lands supporting reservoirs, water towers, 
police or fire facilities and non-publicly accessible utilities. 

(cc) “Replacement” refers only to replacement of transmission equipment, wireless 
telecommunications facilities or eligible support structures where the replacement 
structure will be of like-for-like kind to resemble the appearance and dimensions of the 
structure or equipment replaced, including size, height, color, landscaping, materials 
and style. 

(1) In the context of determining whether an application qualifies as an eligible 
facilities request, the term “replacement” relates only to the replacement of 
transmission equipment and does not include replacing the support structure on 
which the equipment is located. 

(2) In the context of determining whether a SWF application qualifies as being 
placed upon a new eligible support structure or qualifies as a collocation, an 
application proposing the “replacement” of the underlying support structure 
qualifies as a new pole proposal. 

(dd) “RF” means radio frequency. 



6  

 

(ee) “Spectrum Act” means Section 6409(a) of the Middle Class Tax Relief Act and Job 
Creation Act of 2012, 47 U.S.C. §1455(a). 

(ff) “Substantial change” has the same meaning as “substantial change” as defined by the 
FCC at 47 C.F.R. 1.6100(b)(7). Notwithstanding the definition above, if an existing 
pole-mounted cabinet is proposed to be replaced with an underground cabinet at a 
facility where there are no pre-existing ground cabinets associated with the structure, 
such modification may be deemed a non-substantial change, in the discretion of the 
Development Services Director and based upon his/her reasonable consideration of the 
cabinet’s proximity to residential view sheds, interference to public views and/or 
degradation of concealment elements. If undergrounding the cabinet is 
technologically infeasible such that it is materially inhibitive to the project, the 
Development Services Director may allow for a ground mounted cabinet. A 
modification or collocation results is a “substantial change” to the physical 
dimensions of an eligible support structure if it does any of the following: 

(1) It increases the height of the structure by more than 10% or more than ten 
feet, whichever is greater; 

(2) It involves adding an appurtenance to the body of the structure that would 
protrude from the edge of the structure by more than six feet; 

(3) It involves installation of more than the standard number of new equipment 
cabinets for the technology involved, but not to exceed four cabinets. 
However, for towers and base stations located in the public rights-of-way, 
it involves installation of any new equipment cabinets on the ground if there 
are no pre-existing ground cabinets associated with the structure, or else 
involves installation of ground cabinets that are more than 10% larger in 
height or overall volume than any other ground cabinets associated with the 
structure; 

(4) It entails any excavation or deployment outside the current site. For 
purposes of this Subsection, excavation outside the current site occurs 
where excavation more than twelve feet from the eligible support structure 
is proposed; 

(5) It defeats the concealment or stealthing elements of the eligible support 
structure; or 



7  

(6) It does not comply with conditions associated with the siting approval of the 
construction or modification of the eligible support structure, provided 
however that this limitation does not apply to any modification that is non- 
compliant only in a manner that would not exceed the thresholds identified 
in paragraphs 1 through 4 of this definition. 

(7) For all proposed collocations and modifications, a substantial change occurs 
when: 

(gg) The proposed collocation or modification involves more than the standard number of 
new equipment cabinets for the technology involved, but not to exceed four 
equipment cabinets; 

(hh) The proposed collocation or modification would defeat the concealment elements 
of the support structure; or 

(ii) The proposed collocation or modification violates a prior condition of approval, 
provided however that the collocation need not comply with any prior condition of 
approval that is inconsistent with the thresholds for a substantial change described in 
this Section. 

The thresholds and conditions for a “substantial change” described in this Section are disjunctive 
such that the violation of any individual threshold or condition results in a substantial change. The 
height and width thresholds for a substantial change described in this Section are cumulative for 
each individual support structure. The cumulative limit is measured from the physical dimensions 
of the original structure for base stations, and for all other facilities sites in the PROW from the 
smallest physical dimensions that existed on or after February 22, 2012, inclusive of originally 
approved-appurtenances and any modifications that were approved prior to that date. 

(jj) “Support structure” means a tower, pole, base station or other structure used to support 
a wireless telecommunications facility. 

(kk) “SWF” means a “small wireless facility” as defined by the FCC in 47 C.F.R. 1.6002(l) 
as may be amended, which are personal wireless services facilities that meet all the 
following conditions that, solely for convenience, have been set forth below: 

(1) The facility: 

i. Is mounted on an existing or proposed structure 50 feet or less in 
height, including antennas, as defined in Title 47 C.F.R. Section 
1.1320(d); or 

ii. Is mounted on an existing or proposed structure no more than 10 
percent taller than other adjacent structures, or 



8  

iii. Does not extend an existing structure on which it is located to a 
height of more than 50 feet or by more than 10 percent, whichever 
is greater; 

(2) Each antenna associated with the deployment, excluding associated antenna 
equipment (as defined in the definition of antenna in 47 C.F.R. Section 
1.1320(d)), is no more than three cubic feet in volume; 

i. All other wireless equipment associated with the structure, including 
the wireless equipment associated with the antenna and any pre- 
existing associated equipment on the structure, is no more than 28 
cubic feet in volume; 

ii. The facility does not require antenna structure registration under 47 

C.F.R. Part 17, Section 17.4; 

iii. The facility is not located on Tribal lands, as defined under Title 36 

C.F.R. Section 800.16(x); and 

iv. The facility does not result in human exposure to radiofrequency 
radiation in excess of the applicable safety standards specified in 
Title 47 C.F.R. Section 1.1307(b). 

(ll) “SWF Regulations” means those regulations adopted by the City Council (City Council 
Policy Number ) implementing the provisions of this chapter applicable to 
SWFs and further regulations and standards applicable to SWFs. 

(mm) “Telecommunications tower” or “tower” bears the meaning ascribed to wireless 
towers by the FCC in 47 C.F.R. § 1.6100(b)(9), including without limitation a 
freestanding mast, pole, monopole, guyed tower, lattice tower, free standing tower or 
other structure designed and built for the sole or primary purpose of supporting any 
FCC- licensed or authorized antennas and their associated facilities, including 
structures that are constructed for wireless communications services including, but not 
limited to, private, broadcast, and public safety services, as well as unlicensed wireless 
services and fixed wireless services such as microwave backhaul, and the associated 
site. This definition does not include utility poles. 

(nn) “Transmission equipment” means equipment that facilitates transmission for any 
FCC-licensed or authorized wireless communication service, including, but not 
limited to, radio transceivers, antennas, coaxial or fiber-optic cable, and regular and 
backup power supply. The term includes equipment associated with wireless 
communications services including, but not limited to, private, broadcast, and public 
safety services, as well as unlicensed wireless services and fixed wireless services 
such as microwave backhaul. 

(oo) “Utility pole” means any pole or tower owned by any utility company that is primarily 
used to support wires or cables necessary to the provision of electrical or other utility 



9  

services regulated by the California Public Utilities Commission. A 
telecommunications tower is not a utility pole. 

(pp) (mm)  “Wireless telecommunications facility” means equipment and network 
components such as antennas, accessory equipment, support structures, and 
emergency power systems that are integral to providing wireless telecommunications 
services. Exceptions: The term “wireless telecommunications facility” does not apply 
to the following: 

(1) Government-owned and operated telecommunications facilities. 

(2) Emergency medical care provider-owned and operated telecommunications 
facilities. 

(3) Mobile services providing public information coverage of news events of a 
temporary nature. 

(4) Any wireless telecommunications facilities exempted from this code by 
federal law or state law. 

(qq) “Wireless telecommunications services” means the provision of services using a 
wireless telecommunications facility or a collocation facility, and shall include, but not 
limited to, the following services: personal wireless services as defined in the federal 
Telecommunications Act of 1996 at 47 U.S.C. § 332(c)(7)(C) or its successor statute, 
cellular service, personal communication service, and/or data radio 
telecommunications. 

(rr) “WTFP” means a “wireless telecommunications facility permit” required by this 
chapter. 

7.28.30 - APPLICABILITY. 

(a) This chapter applies to the siting, construction or modification of any and all 
wireless telecommunications facilities proposed to be located in the public right- 
of-way as follows: 

(5) Pre-existing Facilities in the ROW. Nothing in this chapter shall validate 
any existing illegal or unpermitted wireless facilities. All existing wireless 
facilities shall comply with and receive a wireless encroachment permit, 
when applicable, to be considered legal and conforming. 

(b) This chapter does not apply to the following: 

(1) Amateur radio facilities; 

(2) OTARD antennas; 



10  

(3) Facilities owned and operated by the City for its use or for public safety 
purposes; 

(4) Any entity legally entitled to an exemption pursuant to state or federal law 
or governing franchise agreement; 

(5) Installation of a COW or a similar structure for a temporary period in 
connection with an emergency or event at the discretion of the Development 
Services Director, but no longer than required for the emergency or event, 
provided that installation does not involve excavation, movement, or 
removal of existing facilities; 

(6) Facilities on private property or publicly-owned property not in the public 
right-of-way. 

(c) Public use. Except as otherwise provided by state or federal law, any use of the 
PROW authorized pursuant to this chapter will be subordinate to the City’s use and 
use by the public. 

7.28.40 - WIRELESS TELECOMMUNICATIONS FACILITY PERMIT 
REQUIREMENTS. 

(a) Administration. Unless a matter is referred to the planning director as provided 
below, The Development Services Director is responsible for administering this 
chapter. As part of the administration of this chapter, the Development Services 
Director may: 

(1) Interpret the provisions of this chapter; 

(2) Develop and implement standards governing the placement and 
modification of wireless telecommunications facilities consistent with the 
requirements of this chapter, including regulations governing collocation 
and resolution of conflicting applications for placement of wireless 
facilities; 

(3) Develop and implement acceptable design, location and development 
standards for wireless telecommunications facilities in the PROW, taking 
into account the zoning districts bounding the PROW; 

(4) Develop forms and procedures for submission of applications for placement 
or modification of wireless facilities, and proposed changes to any support 
structure consistent with this chapter; 

(5) Collect, as a condition of the completeness of any application, any fee 
established by this chapter; 



11  

(6) Establish deadlines for submission of information related to an application, 
and extend or shorten deadlines where appropriate and consistent with 
federal laws and regulations; 

(7) Issue any notices of incompleteness, requests for information, or conduct or 
commission such studies as may be required to determine whether a permit 
should be issued; 

(8) Require, as part of, and as a condition of completeness of any application, 
that an applicant for a wireless encroachment permit send notice to members 
of the public that may be affected by the placement or modification of the 
wireless facility and proposed changes to any support structure; 

(9) Subject to appeal as provided herein, determine whether to approve, 
approve subject to conditions, or deny an application; and 

(10) Take such other steps as may be required to timely act upon applications for 
placement of wireless telecommunications facilities, including issuing 
written decisions and entering into agreements to mutually extend the time 
for action on an application. 

(b) Administrative Wireless Telecommunications Facilities Permits (“Administrative 
WTFP”). 

(1) An Administrative WTFP, subject to the Development Services Director’s 
approval, may be issued for wireless telecommunications facilities, 
collocations, modifications or replacements to an eligible support structure 
that meet the following criteria: 

i. The proposal is determined to be for a SWF; or 

ii. The proposal is determined to be an eligible facilities request; or 

iii. Both. 

(2) In the event that the Development Services Director determines that any 
application submitted for an Administrative WTFP does not meet the 
administrative permit criteria of this chapter, the Development Services 
Director shall convert the application to a major facility application and 
refer it to Planning Commission hearing in accordance with section 
10.25.080 of the Code. 

(3) Except in the case of an eligible facilities request, the Development Services 
Director may refer, in his/her discretion, any application for an 
Administrative WTFP to the Planning Commission for hearing. 

(c) Special Provisions for SWFs; SWF Regulations. Notwithstanding any other 
provision of this chapter as provided herein, all SWFs are subject to a permit as 



12  

specified in the SWF Regulations, which is adopted and may be amended by City 
Council resolution. All SWFs, shall comply with the SWF Regulations, as they may 
be amended from time to time. 

(1) The SWF Regulations are intended to be constructed in consistency with, 
and addition to, the terms and provisions of this chapter. To the extent 
general provisions of this chapter are lawfully applicable to SWFs, such 
terms shall apply unless in contradiction to more specific terms set forth in 
the SWF Regulations, in which case the more specific terms of the SWF 
Regulations shall control. 

(d) Other Permits Required. In addition to any permit that may be required under this 
chapter, the applicant must obtain all other required prior permits or other approvals 
from other City departments, or state or federal agencies. Any permit granted under 
this chapter is subject to the conditions and/or requirements of other required prior 
permits or other approvals from other City departments, state or federal agencies. 
Building and encroachment permits, and all City standards and requirements 
therefor, are applicable. 

(e) Eligible Applicants. Only applicants who have been granted the right to enter the 
PROW pursuant to state or federal law, or who have entered into a franchise 
agreement with the City permitting them to use the PROW, shall be eligible for a 
WTFP pursuant to this chapter. 

7.28.50 - APPLICATION FOR WIRELESS TELECOMMUNICATIONS FACILITY 
PERMITS. 

(a) Generally. Unless the SWF Regulations specifically provide otherwise, the 
applicant shall submit a paper copy and an electronic copy of any application, 
amendments, or supplements to a WTFP application, or responses to requests for 
information regarding an WTFP, in accordance with the provisions of this section. 
SWF applications shall be governed by any additional terms set forth in the SWF 
Regulations, and in the event of an inconsistency between the provisions of this 
Section and the terms of the SWF Regulations, the Regulations shall control. 

(1) All applications for WTFPs shall be initially submitted to the Development 
Services Director. In addition to the information required of an applicant for 
an encroachment permit or any other permit required by this Code, each 
applicant shall fully and completely submit to the City a written application 
on a form prepared by the Development Services Director and published on 
the City’s website. 

(2) Ground mounted equipment, conduit, junction boxes and fiber and 
electrical connections necessary for and intended for use in the deployment 
shall also be specified, to the extent known regardless of whether the 
additional facilities are to be constructed by the applicant or leased from a 
third party. Where another party is responsible for installing such electric 
and fiber utilities, conduits, cables, and related improvements, applicant's 



13  

construction drawings will include such utilities to the extent known at the 
time of application, but at a minimum applicant must indicate how it expects 
to   obtain   fiber   and   electric   service   to   the    small    wireless facility. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no ground mounted equipment, conduit, 
junction boxes or fiber and electrical connections necessary for and intended 
for use in the deployment shall be installed until a WTFP has been approved 
or conditionally approved for the deployment. 

(b) Application Contents—Administrative WTFPs. The content of the application form 
for facilities subject to an Administrative WTFP shall be determined by the 
Development Services Director. Fees and Deposits Submitted with Application(s). 

(1) For all WTFPs, application fee(s) and or deposit(s) shall be required to be 
submitted with any application, as established by City Council resolution 
and in accordance with California Government Code Section 50030. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no application fee shall be refundable, in 
whole or in part, to an applicant for a WTFP unless paid as a refundable 
deposit. 

(c) Costs. Reasonable costs of City staff, consultant and attorney time (including that 
of the City Attorney) pertaining to the review, processing, noticing and hearing 
procedures directly attributable to a WTFP shall be reimbursable to the City. To 
this end, the Development Services Director or designee, as applicable, may require 
applicants to enter cost recovery agreement, in a form approved by the City 
Attorney, or other established trust/deposit accounting mechanism for purposes of 
obtaining an applicant deposit from which the direct costs of City processing of an 
application may be drawn-down. 

(d) Effect of State or Federal Law on Application Process. In the event a state or federal 
law prohibits the collection of any information required by the application, the 
Development Services Director is authorized to omit, modify or add to that request 
from the City’s application form in consultation with the City Attorney. Requests 
for waivers from any application requirement of this Section shall be made in 
writing to the Development Services Director or designee. The Development 
Services Director may grant a request for waiver if it is demonstrated that, 
notwithstanding the issuance of a waiver, the City will be provided all information 
necessary to understand the nature of the construction or other activity to be 
conducted pursuant to the WTFP sought. All waivers approved pursuant to this 
Subsection shall be (1) granted only on a case-by-case basis, and (2) narrowly- 
tailored to minimize deviation from the requirements of this Code. 

(e) Applications Deemed Withdrawn. To promote efficient review and timely 
decisions, any application governed under this chapter will be automatically 
deemed withdrawn by the applicant when the applicant fails to tender a substantive 
response to the City on any application within sixty (60) calendar days after the 
application is deemed incomplete in a written notice to the applicant that identifies 
the missing documents or information and the specific rule or regulation creating 
the obligation to submit such documents or information. The Development Services 



14  

Director (as applicable) may, in their discretion, grant a written extension when the 
applicant submits a written request prior to the sixtieth (60th) day that shows good 
cause to grant the extension. 

(f) Waiver of Applications Superseded by Submission of New Project. If an applicant 
submits a WTFP application, but substantially revises the proposed facility during 
the application process prior to any City hearing or decision on such application, 
the substantially revised application shall be deemed a new application for all 
processing purposes, including federal shot clocks, and the prior submittals deemed 
waived and superseded by the substantially revised application. For purposes of this 
subparagraph, “substantially revised” means that the project as initially- proposed 
has been alternately proposed for a location 300 feet or more from the original 
proposal or constitutes a substantial change in the dimensions or equipment that was 
proposed in the original WTFP application unless the proposed changes were as a 
result of City requested changes. 

(g) Rejection for Incompleteness. WTFPs will be processed, and notices of 
incompleteness provided, in conformity with state, local, and federal law. If such 
an application is incomplete, it may be rejected by the Development Services 
Director by notifying the applicant in writing and specifying the material omitted 
from the application. 

7.28.60 - REVIEW PROCEDURE. 

(a) Generally. Wireless telecommunications facilities shall be installed and modified 
in a manner that minimizes risks to public safety and utilizes installation of new 
support structures or equipment cabinets in the PROW only after all existing and 
replacement structure options have been exhausted, and where feasible, places 
equipment underground, and otherwise maintains the integrity and character of the 
neighborhoods and corridors in which the facilities are located; ensures that 
installations are subject to periodic review to minimize the intrusion on the PROW; 
and ensures that the City bears no risk or liability as a result of the installations, and 
that such use does not inconvenience the public, interfere with the primary uses of 
the ROW, or hinder the ability of the City or other government agencies to improve, 
modify, relocate, abandon, or vacate the PROW or any portion thereof, or to cause 
the improvement, modification, relocation, vacation, or abandonment of facilities 
in the PROW. 

(b) Findings Required for Approval. 

(1) Administrative WTFP Applications for SWFs. For WTFP applications 
proposing a SWF, the Development Services Director or planning director, 
as the case may be, shall approve such application if, on the basis of the 
application and other materials or evidence provided in review thereof, all 
of the following findings can be made: 

i. The facility qualifies as a SWF; and 

 



15  

ii. The facility meets all standards, requirements and further findings as 
may be specified in the SWF Regulations; and 

iii. The facility is not detrimental to the public health, safety, and 
welfare; and 

iv. The facility meets applicable requirements and standards of State 
and Federal law. 

(2) Administrative WTFP Applications for Eligible Facility Requests. For 
WTFP applications proposing an eligible facilities request, the 
Development Services Director shall approve such application if, on the 
basis of the application and other materials or evidence provided in review 
thereof, all of the following findings can be made: 

i. That the application qualifies as an eligible facilities request; and 

ii. That the proposed facility will comply with all generally-applicable 
laws. 

(c) Notice; Decisions. The provisions in this Section describe the procedures for the 
approval process, and any required notice for a WTFP application. 

(1) Administrative WTFPs: Notice of a WTFP application for a SWF shall be 
mailed to owners and occupants of real property surrounding the proposed 
SWF site in the manner specified in the SWF Regulations. Applications 
qualifying for eligible facilities requests shall not require notice. 

(2) Written Decision Required for All WTFP Determinations. Unless otherwise 
specified for SWF’s in the SWF Regulations, all final decisions made 
pursuant to this chapter, including those for administratively- processed 
permits and eligible facilities requests, shall be in writing and based on 
substantial evidence in the written administrative record. Within five days 
after any decision to grant, approve, deny or conditionally grant a WTFP 
application, the Development Services Director shall provide written notice 
including the following: 

i. A general explanation of the decision, including the findings 
required for the decision, if any, and how those findings were 
supported or not supported by substantial evidence; 

ii. A general description of the property involved; 

iii. Information about applicable rights to appeal the decision and 
explanation of how that right may be exercised; and 

iv. To be given by first class mail to: 

a.  The project applicant and property owner, 



16  

b. Any person who submitted written comments concerning the 
WTFP, 

c. Any person within who has filed a written request with the 
City to receive such notice, and 

d.  Adjacent property owners within 300 feet of the WTFP 
facility. 

(3) Once a WTFP is approved, no changes shall be made to the approved plans 
without review and approval in accordance with this chapter. 

(d) Appeals. 

(1) Administrative WTFP Appeals. Any person claiming to be adversely 
affected by an administrative decision pursuant to this chapter may appeal 
such decision. The appeal will be considered by a hearing officer appointed 
by the City Manager. The hearing officer may decide the issues de novo and 
whose written decision will be the final decision of the City. An appeal by 
a wireless infrastructure provider must be taken jointly with the wireless 
service provider that intends to use the wireless facility. Because Section 
332(c)(7) of the Telecommunications Act preempts local decisions 
premised directly or indirectly on the environmental effects of radio 
frequency (RF) emissions, appeals of the administrative decision premised 
on the environmental effects of radio frequency emissions will not be 
considered. 

a. Where the administrative decision grants an application based 
on a finding that denial would result in a prohibition or effective 
prohibition under applicable federal law, the decision shall be 
automatically appealed to the hearing officer. All non-automatic 
appeals by third-parties must be filed within two (2) business days 
of the written administrative decision, unless the Development 
Services Director extends the time therefore, and are only 
appealable by persons who (i) received formal notice of the 
application pursuant to Section 7.28.60(c), or (b) actively 
participated in or commented upon the City decision-making 
process, or (iii) otherwise demonstrate that they are directly 
impacted by aesthetic, safety-related or legal impacts attributable to 
the installation. An extension may not be granted where extension 
would result in approval of the application by operation of law. 

b. Any appeal shall be conducted so that a timely written 
decision may be issued in accordance with applicable law. For 
SWFs, the appeal shall be conducted in accordance with any 
procedures adopted in the SWF Regulations. 

(e) Notice of Shot Clock Expiration. The City acknowledges there are federal and state 
shot clocks which may be applicable to a proposed wireless telecommunications 



17  

facility. That is, federal and state law provide time periods in which the City must 
approve or deny a proposed wireless telecommunications facility. As such, the 
applicant is required to provide the Development Services Director written notice, 
which may be by email, of the expiration of any shot clock, which the applicant 
shall ensure is received by the City (e.g. overnight mail) no later than 10 days prior 
to the expiration. 

 7.28.70 – DESIGN AND DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS. 

(a) SWF Design and Development Standards. SWFs are subject to those design and 
development standards and conditions of approval set forth in the SWF 
Regulations. The City’s grant of a WTFP for a SWF does not waive, and shall not 
be construed to waive, any standing by the City to challenge any FCC orders or 
rules related to small wireless facilities, or any modification to those FCC orders or 
rules. 

(b) Eligible Facilities Request Design and Development Standards. Approved eligible 
facilities requests for which the findings set forth in Section 7.28.060 have been 
made are subject to the following conditions, unless modified by the approving 
authority: 

(1) WTFP subject to conditions of underlying permit. Any WTFP granted in 
response to an application qualifying as an eligible facilities request shall 
be subject to the terms and conditions of the underlying permit and all such 
conditions that were applicable to the facility prior to approval of the subject 
eligible facility request, provided such conditions do not apply in such a 
manner as to prohibit the granting of the Eligible Facilities Request. 

(2) No permit term extension. The City’s grant or grant by operation of law of 
an eligible facilities request permit constitutes a federally-mandated 
modification to the underlying permit or approval for the subject tower or 
base station. Notwithstanding any permit duration established in another 
permit condition, the City’s grant or grant by operation of law of a eligible 
facilities request permit will not extend the permit term for the underlying 
permit or any other underlying regulatory approval, and its term shall have 
the same term as the underlying permit or other regulatory approval for the 
subject tower or base station. 

(3) No Waiver of Standing. The City’s grant or grant by operation of law of an 
eligible facilities request does not waive, and shall not be construed to 
waive, any standing by the City to challenge Section 6409(a) of the 
Spectrum Act, any FCC rules that interpret Section 6409(a) of the Spectrum 
Act, or any modification to Section 6409(a) of the Spectrum Act (codified 
as 47 U.S.C. §1455(a)). 

 

(c) Other General Design Standards. Excepting applications for eligible facilities 
requests, all wireless telecommunications facilities that are located within the 



18  

public right-of-way shall be designed and maintained as to minimize visual, noise 
and other impacts on the surrounding community and shall be planned, designed, 
located, and erected in accordance with the following standards. WTFP 
applications (excepting those eligible facilities requests) that do not meet any of the 
following standards are prohibited unless such standards (i) would be technically 
infeasible to achieve the applicant’s service objectives, as supported by clear and 
convincing evidence in the written record, and/or (ii) subject to an exception for 
State or Federal law under Section 7.28.150. 

 The applicant shall employ screening, undergrounding and camouflage design techniques in the 
design and placement of wireless telecommunications facilities in order to ensure that the facility is 
as visually screened as technically feasible, to prevent the facility from dominating the surrounding 
area and to minimize significant view impacts from surrounding properties and public views, all in a 
manner that achieves compatibility with the community and in compliance with this code. 

(1) Screening shall be designed to be architecturally compatible with 
surrounding structures using appropriate techniques to camouflage, 
disguise, and/or blend into the environment, including landscaping, color, 
and other techniques to minimize the facility's visual impact as well as be 
compatible with the architectural character of the surrounding buildings or 
structures in terms of color, size, proportion, style, and quality. 

(2) All facilities shall have colors and non-reflective materials that blend with 
the materials and colors of the surrounding area, infrastructure and 
structures. 

(3) The applicant shall use the least visible equipment for the provision of 
wireless telecommunications services that is technically feasible. 

(4) All cables, including, but not limited to, electrical and utility cables, shall 
be run within the interior of the support structure and shall be camouflaged 
to the extent technologically feasible. For all support structures wherein 
interior installation is infeasible, conduit and cables attached to the exterior 
shall be mounted as close to the pole as technically feasible while 
complying with applicable electric safety codes and painted to match the 
structure. All cables and wires that cannot feasibly be mounted internally 
shall be clipped-up and/or placed in conduit the minimum size necessary to 
accommodate the wiring, or otherwise concealed out of public view. 

(5) No new guy wires shall be allowed unless required by other laws or 
regulations. 

(6) All ground-mounted facility, pole-mounted equipment, or walls, fences, 
landscaping or other screening methods shall be installed at least 18 inches 
from the curb and gutter flow line. 

(7) No facility shall bear any signs or advertising devices other than 
certification, warning or other signage required by law or permitted by the 
City. 



19  

7.28.80 - OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE STANDARDS. 

All wireless telecommunications facilities must comply at all times with the following operation 
and maintenance standards: 

(a) The permittee shall at all times maintain compliance with all applicable federal, 
state and local laws, regulations and other rules, including, without limitation, those 
applying to use of the PROW. The permittee shall ensure that all equipment and 
other improvements to be constructed and/or installed in connection with the 
approved WTFP are maintained in a manner that is not detrimental or injurious to 
the public health, safety, and general welfare and that the aesthetic appearance is 
continuously preserved, and substantially the same as shown in the approved plans 
at all times relevant to the WTFP. 

(b) Unless otherwise provided herein, all necessary repairs and restoration shall be 
completed by the permittee, owner, operator or any designated maintenance agent 
at its sole cost within 3 business days: 

(1) After discovery of the need by the permittee, owner, operator or any 
designated maintenance agent; or 

(2) After permittee, owner, operator or any designated maintenance agent 
receives notification from the City. 

(c) Insurance. The permittee shall obtain and maintain throughout the term of the 
permit a type and amount of insurance as specified by City’s risk management. The 
relevant policy(ies) shall name the City, its elected/appointed officials, commission 
members, officers, representatives, agents, and employees as additional insured. 
The permittee shall use its best efforts to provide thirty (30) days prior notice to the 
Development Services Director of the cancellation or material modification of any 
applicable insurance policy. 

(d) Indemnities. The permittee and, if applicable, the owner of the property upon which 
the wireless facility is installed shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the City, 
its agents, officers, officials, and employees: 

i. From any and all damages, liabilities, injuries, losses, costs, and 
expenses, and from any and all claims, demands, law suits, writs of 
mandamus, and other actions or proceedings brought against the City 
or its agents, officers, officials, or employees to challenge, attack, 
seek to modify, set aside, void or annul the City’s approval of the 
permit, and 

ii. From any and all damages, liabilities, injuries, losses, costs, and 
expenses, and any and all claims, demands, law suits, or causes of 
action and other actions or proceedings of any kind or form, whether 
for personal injury, death or property damage, arising out of or in 
connection with the activities or performance of the permittee or, if 
applicable, the private property owner or any of each one’s agents, 



20  

employees, licensees, contractors, subcontractors, or independent 
contractors.  

In the event the City becomes aware of any such actions or claims the City shall 
promptly notify the permittee and, if applicable, the private property owner and 
shall reasonably cooperate in the defense. The City shall have the right to approve, 
which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, the legal counsel providing the 
City’s defense, and the property owner and/or Permittee (as applicable) shall 
reimburse the City for any costs and expenses directly and necessarily incurred by 
the City in the course of defending itself against any such actions or claims as noted  
herein. 

 Performance and Removal Bond. Prior to issuance of a wireless encroachment permit, the permittee 
shall file with the City, and shall maintain in good standing throughout the term of the approval, a 
performance bond or other surety or another form of security for the removal of the facility in the event 
that the use is abandoned or the permit expires, or is revoked, or is otherwise terminated. The security 
shall be in the amount equal to 100% of the cost of removal of the facility as specified in the application 
for the WTFP or as that amount may be modified by the Development Services Director in in the 
permit based on the characteristics of the application as approved. The permittee shall reimburse the 
City for staff time associated with the processing and tracking of the bond, based on the hourly rate 
adopted by the City Council. Reimbursement shall be paid when the security is posted and during 
each administrative review. 

(e) Adverse Impacts on Adjacent Properties. Permittee shall undertake all reasonable 
and technically feasible efforts to avoid undue adverse impacts to adjacent 
properties and/or uses that may arise from the construction, operation, maintenance, 
modification, and removal of the facility. All facilities, including each piece of 
equipment, shall be located and placed in a manner so as to not interfere with the 
use of the PROW, impede the flow of vehicular or pedestrian traffic, impair the 
primary use and purpose of poles/signs/traffic signals or other infrastructure, 
interfere with outdoor dining areas or emergency facilities, or otherwise obstruct 
the accessibility of the PROW. 

(f) Contact Information. Each permittee of a wireless telecommunications facility shall 
provide the Development Services Director with the 24-hour local or toll free 
contact phone number of the permittee, the owner, the operator and the agent 
responsible for the maintenance of the facility (“contact information”). Contact 
information shall be updated within seven days of any change. 

(g) All facilities, including, but not limited to, telecommunication towers, poles, 
accessory equipment, lighting, fences, walls, shields, cabinets, artificial foliage or 
camouflage, and the facility site shall be maintained in good condition, including 
ensuring the facilities are reasonably free of: 

(1) Subsidence, cracking, erosion, collapse, weakening, or loss of lateral 
support to City streets, sidewalks, walks, curbs, gutters, trees, parkways, 
street lights, traffic signals, improvements of any kind or nature, or utility 
lines and systems, underground utility line and systems (water, sewer, storm 



21  

drains, gas, oil, electrical, etc.) that result from any activities performed in 
connection with the installation and/or maintenance of a wireless facility in 
the PROW; 

(2) General dirt and grease; 

(3) Chipped, faded, peeling, and cracked paint; 

(4) Rust and corrosion; 

(5) Cracks, dents, and discoloration; 

(6) Missing, discolored or damaged artificial foliage or other camouflage; 

(7) Graffiti, bills, stickers, advertisements, litter and debris. All graffiti on 
facilities must be removed at the sole expense of the permittee within forty 
eight (48) hours after notification from the City; 

(8) Broken and misshapen structural parts; and 

(9) Any damage from any cause. 

(h) All trees, foliage or other landscaping elements approved as part of the facility shall 
be maintained in neat, safe and good condition at all times, and the permittee, owner 
and operator of the facility shall be responsible for replacing any damaged, dead or 
decayed landscaping. No amendment to any approved landscaping plan may be 
made until it is submitted to and approved by the Development Services Director. 

(i) The permittee shall replace its facilities, after obtaining all required permits, if 
maintenance or repair is not sufficient to return the facility to the condition it was 
in at the time of installation. 

(j) Each facility shall be operated and maintained to comply with all conditions of 
approval. The permittee, when directed by the City, must perform an inspection of 
the facility and submit a report to the Development Services Director on the 
condition of the facility to include any identified concerns and corrective action 
taken. 

(k) Failure to comply with the City’s adopted noise standard, Section 4.12.710, et seq. 
after written notice and reasonable opportunity to cure have been given shall be 
grounds for the City to revoke the permit. 

(l) Interference. 

 

(1) The permittee shall not move, alter, temporarily relocate, change, or 
interfere with any existing structure, improvement, or property without the 
prior consent of the owner of that structure, improvement, or property. No 
structure, improvement, or property owned by the City shall be moved to 



22  

accommodate a permitted activity or encroachment, unless the City 
determines that such movement will not adversely affect the City or any 
surrounding businesses or residents, and the permittee pays all costs and 
expenses related to the relocation of the City's structure, improvement, or 
property. Prior to commencement of any work pursuant to a wireless 
encroachment permit, the permittee shall provide the City with 
documentation establishing to the City's satisfaction that the permittee has 
the legal right to use or interfere with any other structure, improvement, or 
property within the PROW or City utility easement to be affected by 
permittee's facilities. 

(2) The facility shall not damage or interfere in any way with City property, the 
City’s operations or the operations of prior-existing, third party 
installations. The City will reasonably cooperate with the permittee and/or 
carrier to carry out such activities as are necessary to correct the 
interference. 

i. Signal Interference. The permittee shall cure any such interference 
within 24 hours of written notification of the interference, or such 
other timeframes as may be dictated by FCC regulations, and in 
accordance with FCC regulations. Interference by applicant 
equipment impacting public safety signals shall be promptly and 
diligently resolved by the applicant, and may require a cease of 
operations of such equipment until the interference with public 
safety signals is fully resolved.  

ii. Physical Interference. The City shall give the permittee thirty (30) 
days to correct the interference after which the City reserves the 
right to take any action it deems necessary, which could include 
revocation of the permit. 

(3) The City at all times reserves the right to take any action it deems necessary, 
in its sole discretion, to repair, maintain, alter, or improve the sites. Such 
actions may temporarily interfere with the operation of the facility. The City 
will in all cases, other than emergencies, give the applicant written   
notification of such planned, non-emergency actions, which notice shall be 
provided commensurate with the City’s commencement of design planning 
or 30 prior to the non-emergency action, whichever is greater. 

(m) RF Exposure Compliance. All facilities must comply with all standards and 
regulations of the FCC and any other state or federal government agency with the 
authority to regulate RF exposure standards. 

(n) Wind Load. Each facility shall be properly engineered to withstand wind loads as 
required by this code or any duly adopted or incorporated code. An evaluation of 
high wind load capacity shall include the impact of modification of an existing 
facility. 

(o) Records. The permittee must maintain complete and accurate copies of all permits 



23  

and other regulatory approvals issued in connection with the facility, which 
includes without limitation this approval, the approved plans and photo simulations 
incorporated into this approval, all conditions associated with this approval and any 
ministerial permits or approvals issued in connection with this approval. In the 
event the records cannot be produced by the City or the applicant, the applicant 
shall have the opportunity to demonstrate by other relevant evidence that the facility 
as-built  is compliant with the applicable code and all entitlements in-place at the 
time of construction of the original facility and any subsequent modifications to the 
original facility.  

(p) Attorney’s Fees. In the event it is necessary to take legal action pursuant to this 
chapter, all costs of such legal action, including reasonable attorney’s fees, shall be 
paid to the prevailing party, even if the matter is not prosecuted to a final judgment 
or is amicably resolved, unless the parties otherwise agree to waive said fees or any 
part thereof. 

7.28.090 - NO DANGEROUS CONDITION OR OBSTRUCTIONS ALLOWED. 

No person shall install, use or maintain any wireless telecommunications facility that in whole or 
in part rests upon, in or over any public right-of-way, when such installation, use or maintenance 
endangers or is reasonably likely to endanger the safety of persons or property, or when such site 
or location is used for public utility purposes, public transportation purposes or other governmental 
use, or when such facility unreasonably interferes with or unreasonably impedes the flow of 
pedestrian or vehicular traffic including any legally parked or stopped vehicle, the ingress into or 
egress from any residence or place of business, the use of poles, posts, traffic signs or signals, 
hydrants, fire station, fire escape, water valve, underground vault, valve housing structure, 
mailboxes, permitted sidewalk dining, permitted street furniture or other objects permitted at or 
near said location. All facilities shall be designed and located in such a manner as to avoid adverse 
impacts on traffic safety. A facility shall not be located within any portion of the public right-of- 
way interfering with access to a fire hydrant or any other public health or safety facility. 

7.28.100 - NONEXCLUSIVE GRANT; NO POSSESSORY INTERESTS. 

(a) No permit or approval granted under this chapter shall confer any exclusive right, 
privilege, license or franchise to occupy or use the public right-of-way of the City 
for any purpose whatsoever. Further, no approval shall be construed as a warranty 
of title. 

(b) No possessory interest is created by a WTFP. However, to the extent that a 
possessory interest is deemed created by a governmental entity with taxation 
authority, the permittee acknowledge that the City has given to the applicant notice 
pursuant to California Revenue and Taxation Code Section 107.6 that the use or 
occupancy of any public property pursuant to a WTFP may create a possessory 
interest which may be subject to the payment of property taxes levied upon such 
interest. Wireless telecommunications facility operators shall be solely liable for, 
and shall pay and discharge prior to delinquency, any and all possessory interest 
taxes or other taxes, fees, and assessments levied against their right to possession, 
occupancy, or use of any public property pursuant to any right of possession, 



24  

occupancy, or use created by the WTFP. 

(c) The permission granted by a WTFP shall not in any event constitute an easement 
on or an encumbrance against the PROW. No right, title, or interest (including 
franchise interest) in the PROW, or any part thereof, shall vest or accrue in 
permittee by reason of a wireless encroachment permit or the issuance of any other 
permit or exercise of any privilege given thereby. 

7.28.110 - PERMIT EXPIRATION; ABANDONMENT OF APPLICATIONS. 

(a) Permit Term. Unless Government Code Section 65964, as may be amended, or any 
other law authorizes the City to issue a permit with a shorter term, a permit for any 
wireless telecommunications facility shall be valid for a period of ten (10) years, 
unless pursuant to another provision of this code it lapses sooner or is revoked. At 
the end of ten (10) years from the date of issuance, such permit shall automatically 
expire. 

(b) A permittee may apply for a new permit within 180 days prior to expiration. To the 
extent allowed by law, said application and proposal shall comply with the City’s 
current code requirements for wireless telecommunications facilities. 

(c) Timing of Installation. The installation and construction authorized by a WTFP 
shall begin within one (1) year after its approval, or it will expire without further 
action by the City. The installation and construction authorized by a WTFP shall 
conclude, including any necessary post-installation repairs and/or restoration to the 
PROW, within thirty (30) days following the day construction commenced, or at 
such later completion date as otherwise approved by the Director in writing based 
upon the City’s reasonable discretion. 

(d) Commencement of Operations. The operation of the approved facility shall 
commence no later than ninety (90) days after the completion of installation, unless 
additional delay is caused by power and/or backhaul providers, or the WTFP will 
expire without further action by the City. The permittee shall provide the 
Development Services Director notice that operations have commenced by the 
same date. 

7.28.120 - CESSATION OF USE OR ABANDONMENT. 

(a) A wireless telecommunications facility is considered abandoned and shall be 
promptly removed as provided herein if it ceases to provide wireless 
telecommunications services for ninety (90) or more consecutive days unless the 
permittee has obtained prior written approval from the director which shall not be 
unreasonably denied. If there are two or more users of a single facility, then this 
provision shall not become effective until all users cease using the facility. 

(b) The operator of a facility shall notify the Development Services Director in writing 
of its intent to abandon or cease use of a permitted site or a nonconforming site 
(including unpermitted sites) within ten days of ceasing or abandoning use. 
Notwithstanding any other provision herein, the operator of the facility shall provide 



25  

written notice to the Development Services Director of any discontinuation of 
operations of thirty (30) days or more. 

(c) Failure to inform the Development Services Director of cessation or  
discontinuation of operations of any existing facility as required by this Section 
hall constitute a violation of any approvals and be grounds for: 

(1) Litigation; 

(2) Revocation or modification of the permit; 

(3) Acting on any bond or other assurance required by this article or conditions 
of approval of the permit; 

(4) Removal of the facilities by the City in accordance with the procedures 
established under this code for abatement of a public nuisance at the owner’s 
expense; and/or 

(5) Any other remedies permitted under this code or by law. 

7.28.130 - REMOVAL AND RESTORATION—PERMIT EXPIRATION, REVOCATION 
OR ABANDONMENT. 

(a) Upon the expiration date of the permit, including any extensions, earlier termination 
or revocation of the WTFP or abandonment of the facility, the permittee, owner or 
operator shall remove its wireless telecommunications facility and restore the site 
to the condition it was in prior to the granting of the WTFP, except for retaining the 
landscaping improvements and any other improvements at the discretion of the 
City. Removal shall be in accordance with proper health and safety requirements 
and all ordinances, rules, and regulations of the City. Expired, terminated or 
revoked wireless telecommunications facility equipment shall be removed from the 
site at no cost or expense to the City. 

(b) Failure of the permittee, owner or operator to promptly remove its facility and 
restore the property within ninety (90) days after expiration, earlier termination or 
revocation of the WTFP, or abandonment of the facility, shall be a violation of this 
code. Upon a showing of good cause, an extension may be granted by the 
Development Services Director where circumstances are beyond the control of the 
permittee after expiration. Further failure to abide by the timeline provided in this 
Section shall be grounds for: 

(1) Prosecution; 

(2) Acting on any security instrument required by this chapter or conditions of 
approval of permit; 

(3) Removal of the facilities by the City in accordance with the procedures 
established under this code for abatement of a public nuisance at the owner’s 
expense; and/or 



26  

(4) Any other remedies permitted under this code or by law. 

(c) Summary Removal. In the event any City director or City engineer determines that 
the condition or placement of a wireless telecommunications facility located in the 
public right-of-way constitutes a dangerous condition, obstruction of the public 
right-of-way, or an imminent threat to public safety, or determines other exigent 
circumstances require immediate corrective action (collectively, “exigent 
circumstances”), such director or City engineer may cause the facility to be removed 
summarily and immediately without advance notice or a hearing. Written notice of 
the removal shall include the basis for the removal and shall be served upon the 
permittee and person who owns the facility within five business days of removal 
and all property removed shall be preserved for the owner’s pick-up as feasible. If 
the owner cannot be identified following reasonable effort or if the owner fails to 
pick-up the property within 60 days, the facility shall be treated as abandoned 
property. 

(d) Removal of Facilities by City. In the event the City removes a wireless 
telecommunications facility in accordance with nuisance abatement procedures or 
summary removal, any such removal shall be without any liability to the City for 
any damage to such facility that may result from reasonable efforts of removal. In 
addition to the procedures for recovering costs of nuisance abatement, the City may 
collect such costs from the performance bond posted and to the extent such costs 
exceed the amount of the performance bond, collect those excess costs in 
accordance with this code. Unless otherwise provided herein, the City has no 
obligation to store such facility. Neither the permittee, owner nor operator shall 
have any claim if the City destroys any such facility not timely removed by the 
permittee, owner or operator after notice, or removal by the City due to exigent 
circumstances. 

7.28.140 - EFFECT ON OTHER ORDINANCES. 

Compliance with the provisions of this chapter shall not relieve a person from complying with any 
other applicable provision of this code. In the event of a conflict between any provision of this 
chapter and other sections of this code, this chapter shall control. 

7.28.150 - STATE OR FEDERAL LAW. 

The implementation of this chapter and decisions on applications for placement of wireless 
telecommunications facilities in the PROW shall, at a minimum, ensure that the requirements of 
this chapter are satisfied, unless it is determined that the applicant has established that denial of an 
application would, within the meaning of federal law, prohibit or effectively prohibit the provision 
of personal wireless services, or otherwise violate applicable laws or regulations. If that 
determination is made, the requirements of this Chapter may be waived, but only to the minimum 
extent required to avoid the prohibition or violation. 

7.28.160   – LEGAL NONCONFORMING WIRELESS TELECOMMUNICATIONS 
FACILITIES IN THE RIGHT-OF-WAY. 

(a) Legal nonconforming wireless telecommunications facilities are those facilities that 



27  

existed but did not conform to this chapter on the date this chapter became effective. 

(b) Legal nonconforming wireless telecommunications facilities shall, within ten years 
from the date this chapter became effective, be brought into conformity with all 
requirements of this article; provided, however, that should the owner desire to 
expand or modify the facility, intensify the use, or make some other change in a 
conditional use, the owner shall comply with all applicable provisions of this code 
at such time, to the extent the City can require such compliance under federal and 
state law. 

(c) An aggrieved person may file an appeal to the City Council of any decision of the 
Development Services Director or other deciding body made pursuant to this 
Section. In the event of an appeal alleging that the ten-year amortization period is 
not reasonable as applied to a particular property, the city council may consider the 
amount of investment or original cost, present actual or depreciated value, dates of 
construction, amortization for tax purposes, salvage value, remaining useful life, 
the length and remaining term of the lease under which it is maintained (if any), 
and the harm to the public if the structure remains standing beyond the prescribed 
amortization period, and set an amortization period accordingly for the specific 
property. 



May 18, 2021 

AGENDA ITEM 1.F 

REQUEST 

ADOPT RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF THE CERTIFICATIONS 
AND ASSURANCES AND AUTHORIZED AGENT FORMS FOR THE LOW CARBON 
TRANSIT OPERATION PROGRAM (LCTOP) FOR THE USE OF FREE STUDENT 
BUS RIDES USING AN ALLOCATION OF $28,116 IN LCTOP FUNDS  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The Low Carbon Transit Operations Program (LCTOP) is one of several State funding 
programs that are part of the Transit, Affordable Housing, and Sustainable Communities 
Program established by the California Legislature in 2014. The City of Tracy is eligible to 
receive $28,116 from the program through a direct allocation from the State and through 
the San Joaquin Council of Governments (SJCOG). Staff would like to use these funds 
to continue a pilot program to provide free rides to students for the 2021-22 school year 
to encourage students to take public transportation. 

DISCUSSION 

The Low Carbon Transit Operations Program (LCTOP) is one of several State funding 
programs that are part of the Transit, Affordable Housing, and Sustainable Communities 
Program established by the California Legislature in 2014.  The LCTOP was created to 
provide operating and capital assistance for transit agencies to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions and improve mobility, with a priority on serving designated Disadvantaged 
Communities. 

The LCTOP program is administered by Caltrans in coordination with the California Air 
Resource Board and the State Controller’s Office. Funds are distributed based on prior 
use of State Transit Assistance (STA) funds with 50% to the regional agencies, and the 
other 50% to local transit operators. The San Joaquin Council of Governments (SJCOG) 
receives the regional apportionment for San Joaquin County. For the FY 2020-21 
LCTOP funding cycle, the City of Tracy is eligible to receive $1,397 in a direct allocation 
as a transit operator. In addition, SJCOG’s regional allocation of $795,881 will be 
allocated among the transit providers with the City of Tracy receiving $26,719.  This 
provides a total LCTOP allocation of $28,116. 

Because the LCTOP administration and reporting requirements are disproportionately 
onerous in relation to the relatively small direct allocations to transit operators, LCTOP 
funds were pooled to benefit larger, regional projects undertaken by San Joaquin RTD 
and the San Joaquin Regional Rail Commission. This LCTOP funding cycle, however, 
provides a larger allocation for transit operators and, therefore, a larger project and 
greater benefit to the community with the same reporting requirements.   

Staff proposes to utilize the City’s FY 2020-21 allocation of $28,116 in LCTOP funds to 
continue a fare subsidy pilot program.  The fare subsidies will provide free transit fares to 
students for a 6-month period beginning January 1, 2022 and ending June 30, 2022.  
The City received additional funding for this pilot program during FY19-20, however, due 



Agenda Item 1.F 
May 18, 2021 
Page 2 

to COVID-19 restrictions, the program was not able to run as anticipated. Staff is 
requesting these additional funds to be added to the existing pot of money to extend the 
duration of the program and promote the use of public transit among students with the 
anticipation of schools re-opening in the fall of 2021. An on-going marketing program will 
promote the project, with a focus on disadvantaged communities in the City.  If 
successful, it is anticipated that student ridership will increase by 10% during the pilot 
program period. 

To complete the application process and receive LCTOP funds, the City is required to 
submit several supporting documents approved by the City Council, (Attachment A): 

1. An “Authorized Agent” form to designate the Parks & Recreation Director, and/or
designee, as signatory on any documents associated with obtaining and managing
LCTOP funds.

2. The “Certification and Assurances” which contain general conditions of the
LCTOP program as well as some additional cost principles and record retention
requirements that are standard for other State-funded projects.

3. A Resolution adopted by Council approving all of the submittals on behalf of the
LCTOP program.

STRATEGIC PLAN 

This agenda item is a routine operational item and does not relate to the Council’s 
Strategic Plans. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

A total $28,116 in LCTOP funds will be used as additional revenue to offset fares in the 
Transit Fund.  There is no matching requirement and there is no impact to the General 
Fund. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the City Council adopt a resolution authorizing execution of the 
certifications and assurances and authorized agent forms for the LCTOP for the use of 
free student bus rides using an allocation of $28,116 in LCTOP funds. 

Prepared by: Ed Lovell, Transit Manager 

Reviewed by: Brian MacDonald, Parks & Recreation Director 
Karin Schnaider, Finance Director 
Midori Lichtwardt, Assistant City Manager 

Approved by: Jennifer D. Haruyama, City Manager 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A – FY20-21 LCTOP Allocation Request Signature Pages 



FY 2020-2021 LCTOP
Authorized Agent

AS THE Mayor 
(Chief Executive Officer/Director/President/Secretary) 

OF THE City of Tracy 
(Name of County/City/Transit Organization) 

I hereby authorize the following individual(s) to execute for and on behalf of the 
named Regional Entity/Transit Operator, any actions necessary for the purpose of 
obtaining Low Carbon Transit Operations Program (LCTOP) funds provided by 
the California Department of Transportation, Division of Rail and Mass 
Transportation.  I understand that if there is a change in the authorized agent, the 
project sponsor must submit a new form. This form is required even when the 
authorized agent is the executive authority himself.  I understand the Board must 
provide a resolution approving the Authorized Agent.  The Board Resolution 
appointing the Authorized Agent is attached. 

Brian MacDonald, Parks & Recreation Director OR 
(Name and Title of Authorized Agent) 

Click here to enter text. OR 
(Name and Title of Authorized Agent) 

Click here to enter text. OR 
(Name and Title of Authorized Agent) 

Click here to enter text. OR 
(Name and Title of Authorized Agent) 

Nancy Young Mayor 
(Print Name) (Title) 

(Signature) 

Approved this 18 day of May , 2021 

Attachment A



FY 2020-2021 LCTOP
Certifications and Assurances

Lead Agency: City of Tracy 

Project Title: Free Student Fares 

Prepared by: Ed Lovell, Transit Manager 

The California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) has adopted the following 
Certifications and Assurances for the Low Carbon Transit Operations Program (LCTOP).  
As a condition of the receipt of LCTOP funds, Lead Agency must comply with these 
terms and conditions. 

A. General
1. The Lead Agency agrees to abide by the current LCTOP Guidelines and applicable legal

requirements.

2. The Lead Agency must submit to Caltrans a signed Authorized Agent form designating
the representative who can submit documents on behalf of the project sponsor and a
copy of the board resolution appointing the Authorized Agent.

B. Project Administration
1. The Lead Agency certifies that required environmental documentation is complete before

requesting an allocation of LCTOP funds.  The Lead Agency assures that projects
approved for LCTOP funding comply with Public Resources Code § 21100 and § 21150.

2. The Lead Agency certifies that a dedicated bank account for LCTOP funds only will be
established within 30 days of receipt of LCTOP funds.

3. The Lead Agency certifies that when LCTOP funds are used for a transit capital project,
that the project will be completed and remain in operation for its useful life.

4. The Lead Agency certifies that it has the legal, financial, and technical capacity to carry
out the project, including the safety and security aspects of that project.

5. The Lead Agency certifies that they will notify Caltrans of pending litigation, dispute, or
negative audit findings related to the project, before receiving an allocation of funds.

6. The Lead Agency must maintain satisfactory continuing control over the use of project
equipment and facilities and will adequately maintain project equipment and facilities for
the useful life of the project.

7. Any interest the Lead Agency earns on LCTOP funds must be used only on approved
LCTOP projects.

8. The Lead Agency must notify Caltrans of any changes to the approved project with a
Corrective Action Plan (CAP).

Attachment A



FY 2020-2021 LCTOP

9. Under extraordinary circumstances, a Lead Agency may terminate a project prior to
completion.  In the event the Lead Agency terminates a project prior to completion, the
Lead Agency must (1) contact Caltrans in writing and follow-up with a phone call
verifying receipt of such notice; (2) pursuant to verification, submit a final report
indicating the reason for the termination and demonstrating the expended funds were
used on the intended purpose; (3) submit a request to reassign the funds to a new project
within 180 days of termination.

C. Reporting
1. The Lead Agency must submit the following LCTOP reports:

a. Semi-Annual Progress Reports by May 15th and November 15th each year.

b. A Close Out Report within six months of project completion.

c. The annual audit required under the Transportation Development Act (TDA), to
verify receipt and appropriate expenditure of LCTOP funds.  A copy of the audit
report must be submitted to Caltrans within six months of the close of the year
(December 31) each year in which LCTOP funds have been received or
expended.

d. Project Outcome Reporting as defined by CARB Funding Guidelines.

e. Jobs Reporting as defined by CARB Funding Guidelines.

2. Other Reporting Requirements:  CARB develops and revises Funding Guidelines that
will include reporting requirements for all State agencies that receive appropriations from
the Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund.  Caltrans and project sponsors will need to submit
reporting information in accordance with CARB’s Funding Guidelines, including
reporting on greenhouse gas reductions and benefits to disadvantaged communities.

D. Cost Principles
1. The Lead Agency agrees to comply with Title 2 of the Code of Federal Regulations 225

(2 CFR 225), Cost Principles for State and Local Government, and 2 CFR, Part 200,
Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and Cooperative Agreements to State
and Local Governments.

2. The Lead Agency agrees, and will assure that its contractors and subcontractors will be
obligated to agree, that:

a. Contract Cost Principles and Procedures, 48 CFR, Federal Acquisition
Regulations System, Chapter 1, Part 31, et seq., shall be used to determine the
allow ability of individual project cost items and

b. Those parties shall comply with Federal administrative procedures in accordance
with 2 CFR, Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and
Cooperative Agreements to State and Local Governments.  Every sub-recipient
receiving LCTOP funds as a contractor or sub-contractor shall comply with

Attachment A 



FY 2020-2021 LCTOP
Federal administrative procedures in accordance with 2 CFR, Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements for Grants and Cooperative Agreements to State 
and Local Governments. 

3. Any project cost for which the Lead Agency has received funds that are determined by
subsequent audit to be unallowable under 2 CFR 225, 48 CFR, Chapter 1, Part 31 or 2
CFR, Part 200, are subject to repayment by the Lead Agency to the State of California
(State).  All projects must reduce greenhouse gas emissions, as required under Public
Resources Code section 75230, and any project that fails to reduce greenhouse gases shall
also have its project costs submit to repayment by the Lead Agency to the State.  Should
the Lead Agency fail to reimburse moneys due to the State within thirty (30) days of
demand, or within such other period as may be agreed in writing between the Parties
hereto, the State is authorized to intercept and withhold future payments due the Lead
Agency from the State or any third-party source, including but not limited to, the State
Treasurer and the State Controller.

A. Record Retention
1. The Lead Agency agrees and will assure that its contractors and subcontractors shall

establish and maintain an accounting system and records that properly accumulate and
segregate incurred project costs and matching funds by line item for the project.  The
accounting system of the Lead Agency, its contractors and all subcontractors shall
conform to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and enable the
determination of incurred costs at interim points of completion.  All accounting records
and other supporting papers of the Lead Agency, its contractors and subcontractors
connected with LCTOP funding shall be maintained for a minimum of three (3) years
after the “Project Closeout” report or final Phase 2 report is submitted (per ARB Funding
Guidelines, Vol. 3, page 3.A-16), and shall be held open to inspection, copying, and audit
by representatives of the State and the California State Auditor.  Copies thereof will be
furnished by the Lead Agency, its contractors, and subcontractors upon receipt of any
request made by the State or its agents.  In conducting an audit of the costs claimed, the
State will rely to the maximum extent possible on any prior audit of the Lead Agency
pursuant to the provisions of federal and State law.  In the absence of such an audit, any
acceptable audit work performed by the Lead Agency’s external and internal auditors
may be relied upon and used by the State when planning and conducting additional
audits.

2. For the purpose of determining compliance with Title 21, California Code of Regulations,
Section 2500 et seq., when applicable, and other matters connected with the performance
of the Lead Agency’s contracts with third parties pursuant to Government Code § 8546.7,
the project sponsor, its contractors and subcontractors and the State shall each maintain
and make available for inspection all books, documents, papers, accounting records, and
other evidence pertaining to the performance of such contracts, including, but not limited
to, the costs of administering those various contracts. All of the above referenced parties
shall make such materials available at their respective offices at all reasonable times

Attachment A



FY 2020-2021 LCTOP
during the entire project period and for three (3) years from the date of final payment.  
The State, the California State Auditor, or any duly authorized representative of the State, 
shall each have access to any books, records, and documents that are pertinent to a 
project for audits, examinations, excerpts, and transactions, and the Lead Agency shall 
furnish copies thereof if requested. 

3. The Lead Agency, its contractors and subcontractors will permit access to all records of
employment, employment advertisements, employment application forms, and other
pertinent data and records by the State Fair Employment Practices and Housing
Commission, or any other agency of the State of California designated by the State, for
the purpose of any investigation to ascertain compliance with this document.

F. Special Situations
Caltrans may perform an audit and/or request detailed project information of the project 
sponsor’s LCTOP funded projects at Caltrans’ discretion at any time prior to the 
completion of the LCTOP. 

I certify all of these conditions will be met. 

Brian MacDonald Parks & Recreation Director 
(Print Authorized Agent) (Title) 

(Signature) (Date) 

Attachment A



RESOLUTION 2021-_____ 

AUTHORIZING THE SUBMITTAL OF A PROJECT NOMINATION AND ALLOCATION 
REQUEST FOR THE LOW CARBON TRANSIT OPERATION PROGRAM (LCTOP), THE 

EXECUTION OF THE CERTIFICATIONS AND ASSURANCES AND AUTHORIZED AGENT 
FORMS FOR LCTOP FOR THE FOLLOWING PROJECT: FREE STUDENT FARES, $28,116 

WHEREAS, The City of Tracy is an eligible project sponsor and may receive state 
funding from the Low Carbon Transit Operations Program (LCTOP) for transit projects, and 

WHEREAS, The statutes related to state-funded transit projects require a local or 
regional implementing agency to abide by various regulations, and 

WHEREAS, Senate Bill 862 (2014) named the Department of Transportation 
(Department) as the administrative agency for the LCTOP, and 

WHEREAS, The Department has developed guidelines for the purpose of administering 
and distributing LCTOP funds to eligible project sponsors (local agencies), and 

WHEREAS, The City of Tracy wishes to delegate authorization to execute these 
documents and any amendments thereto to the City of Tracy Parks & Recreation Director, and 

WHEREAS, The City of Tracy wishes to implement the following LCTOP project(s) listed 
above; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Tracy that the 
fund recipient (“City”) approves and agrees to comply with all conditions and requirements set 
forth in the Certification and Assurances and the Authorized Agent documents and applicable 
statutes, regulations and guidelines for all LCTOP funded transit projects. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of Tracy authorizes the 
Parks & Recreation Director to execute all required documents of the LCTOP program and any 
Amendments thereto with the California Department of Transportation. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of Tracy authorizes the 
submittal of the following project nomination and allocation request to the Department in FY20-
2021 LCTOP funds:  

Project Name:  Free Student Fares 
Amount of LCTOP funds requested: $28,116 
Short description of project: Fare subsidy for students K-12 attending 

schools in the City of Tracy 
Benefit to a Priority Populations:  Free fares for students to encourage 

ridership on the fixed-route bus system. 
Contributing Sponsors (if applicable): San Joaquin Council of Governments 

* * * * * * * * * * * * 



Resolution ________ 
Page 2 
 

 
 
The foregoing Resolution 2021-_____ was adopted by the Tracy City Council on the 18th   

day of May, 2021, by the following vote: 
 
AYES:  COUNCIL MEMBERS: 
NOES:  COUNCIL MEMBERS: 
ABSENT: COUNCIL MEMBERS: 
ABSTAIN: COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

 
______________________________ 
MAYOR 

 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________ 
CITY CLERK  



  May 18, 2021 

AGENDA ITEM 3.B 

REQUEST 

PUBLIC HEARING OF THE CITY COUNCIL TO CONSIDER ADOPTION OF THE CITY 
OF TRACY FISCAL YEARS 2021-22 OPERATING AND CAPITAL BUDGET AND 
ADOPTION OF THE FUND RESERVE, DEBT, AND INVESTMENT POLICIES  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

On March 2, 2021, Council was presented with the ten-year General Fund forecast.  
Budget workshops took place on March 16, March 23, and April 20, 2021, to discuss the 
proposed Operating and Capital Improvement Plan (CIP).  Focus was given to the City’s 
General Fund budget which projected a deficit of approximately $5 million.  Ultimately, 
Council directed to close the budget shortfall with a variety of one-time/temporary 
measures, including the use of the City’s Economic/Budget Stabilization Reserves. 

The public hearing scheduled for this evening will allow for additional discussion and 
community input prior to Council consideration and adoption of the Proposed Annual FY 
2021-22 Operating and Capital Budget.  

DISCUSSION 

Proposed FY 2021-22 Citywide Annual Budget (Operating and Capital) 

The goal of the City’s annual Operating and Capital budget is to provide a plan that 
allocates resources to meet the needs and desires of Tracy’s residents. It balances City 
revenues and costs with community priorities and requirements. In preparing the FY 
2021-22 Operating and Capital Budget, City staff reviewed the FY 2020-21 budget and 
estimated the expenditures and revenues anticipated for the next year, FY 2022-23. The 
Council’s 2021-2023 Strategic Plan is an integral part of the budget planning and 
development and can be seen integrated within department budget section.  The City is 
still facing a structural deficit as it develops the FY 2021-22 budget.  The City Manager 
has proposed a status quo budget to preserve service levels allowing from modest 
revenue recovery throughout the City funds. This includes continuing some of the budget 
solutions adopted in FY 2020-21.  

In FY 2021-22, the operating expenses were held flat, except for limited inflationary 
expenditure increases (e.g. pension, health care, and workers’ compensation).  The 
select vacancy and hiring freeze put in place March 2020 is expected to continue 
through FY 2021-22 and, likely, through FY 2022-23.  While primarily in the General 
Fund and Utilities, City implemented a hiring freeze of select vacant positons in order to 
generate $3.5 million salary savings (approximately 5-10%).  These salary savings have 
helped to temporarily mitigate personnel increases related to personnel increases that 
were approved in prior years’ employee contracts, pension, health, and workers’ 



Agenda Item 3.B 
May 18, 2021 
Page 2 

compensation benefits, lessening the overall deficit in the General Fund and Utilities 
Fund.  The proposed budget includes 542 approved full-time equivalent with 506 funded 
positions in FY 2021-22; of which 346 are funded by the General Fund.   

The FY 2021-22 proposed operating and capital budget appropriations total 
approximately $328.7 million (including from $38.5 million in Transfers Between funds) 
all funding sources including capital improvements of $77.4 million.  The Net Position 
decreased $5.8 million after the capitalization of $77.4 million in capital improvements.  

FY 2022 
PROPOSED 

BUDGET 

General Fund $  78,021,124 
Special Revenue Funds 87,587,448 
Capital/Debt 8,348,521 
Internal Services Funds 15,281,528 
Enterprise Funds $  100,941,784 
TOTAL EXPENDITURES (wo Transfers) $  290,180,405 
Transfers Between Funds 38,553,179 
TOTAL EXPENDITURES (w Transfers) $  328,733,584 

General Fund
28%

Special Revenue 
Funds
26%

Capital/Debt
10%

Internal 
Services Funds

5%

Enterprise Funds
31%

FY 2022 PROPOSED APPROPRIATIONS 
(with Transfers)



Agenda Item 3.B 
May 18, 2021 
Page 3 

Citywide Operating and Capital Budget 
SUMMARY OF PROPOSSED REVENUES AND EXPENSES FOR ALL FUNDS WITHOUT TRANSFERS 

REVENUES (in thousands) 
FY 19/20 
Actuals 

FY 20/21 
Projected 

FY 21/22 
Proposed 

FY 22/23 
Forecasted 

FY 23/24 
Forecasted 

GENERAL FUND  $       87,111  $       84,220  $       89,856  $       93,404  $       96,757 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES    7,751  11,113  11,751  11,894  12,043 
GAS TAX    3,775    3,796 4,169 4,294     4,423 
GEN FUND CAPITAL       213     - -     - - 
SCFA    6,448    7,216    9,419    9,687     9,963 
SPECIAL REVENUE  13,609  12,116    5,069    5,267         5,475 
CAPITAL  23,711  14,754       497       521  548 
DEBT 35,791 6,143 6,179    6,409     6,651 
INTERNAL SERVICES FUND  13,861  12,926  14,107  14,248  14,390 
WATER  31,290  21,309  21,252  21,464  21,679 
WASTEWATER  23,836  15,300  15,289  15,442  15,596 
SOLID WASTE  23,514  21,731  22,115  22,336  22,559 
STORM DRAIN    8,758       719       729       736  744 
AIRPORT    2,384       947       943       951  959 
TRANSIT    6,596    5,556    5,611    5,768     5,932 

TOTAL REVENUES         288,647 217,845 206,986         212,422 217,718 
EXPENSES (in thousands) 
GENERAL FUND  $       73,649  $       75,764  $       78,021  $       82,058  $       81,757 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES  11,241  12,888  13,760  13,948  14,143 
GAS TAX    2,129    5,333    5,013    1,609     1,663 
GEN FUND CAPITAL    4,843    1,986  17,400     - - 
GOVWIDE    5,550 - 1,190    1,202     1,214 
SCFA  21,468  22,747 24,280  24,856  25,598 
SPECIAL REVENUE  13,603    8,961 25,944    5,409     5,540 
CAPITAL  15,764    5,371 3,861 265  268 
DEBT  26,255    4,757    4,488    4,496     4,505 
INTERNAL SERVICES FUND  11,780  14,252  15,282  15,482  15,699 
WATER  18,156  18,910  20,544  20,552  20,907 
WASTEWATER  31,595  44,616  47,365  19,656  19,947 
SOLID WASTE  25,275  24,876  24,523  24,821  25,124 
STORM DRAIN       952       656       705       716  729 
AIRPORT       952    1,068       788       800  814 
TRANSIT    4,573    7,847    7,017    5,983     6,085 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES         267,783         250,031         290,180         221,854         223,987 

SURPLUS/DEFICIT  20,864        (32,186)       (83,195)          (9,431)  (6,268) 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT  15,935  42,527  77,379    3,183    3,231 

NET POSITION CHANGE  36,798  10,341          (5,816)          (6,248)          (3,038) 



Agenda Item 3.B 
May 18, 2021 
Page 4 

FY 2021-22 Proposed General Fund  
City expenditures have outpaced revenue in the previous budget cycles. The result is a 
projected deficit beginning in FY 2019-20; which was exasperated by fiscal impacts of 
COVID-19 in FY 2020-21. This deficit is expected to linger throughout the 10 year 
forecast, absent taking specific measures to reduce expenditures. In response, the City 
implemented some budget correction measures that are expected to continue for the 
next two budget cycles.  This will allow the modest growth in revenues to catch up with 
current service levels and reverse the deficit trend facing the City’s General Fund.  
These measures included a temporary hiring freeze of select vacant positions 
(approximately 15 FTE), limited purchases and services spending, delay replacement of 
vehicle and equipment funding, and use of the City’s Economic/Budget Stabilization 
reserves.  The City’s General Fund restored the funding the MCYSN’s funding and 
initiated funding for homelessness services and facilities. 

The initial proposed budget for FY 2021-22 expected a $5.4 million deficit.  The City 
Manager proposed closing the budget deficit by delaying funding for vehicle and 
equipment replacement ($2.1 million) and expect revenue to recover to pre-COVID-19 
growth ($1 million).  The General Fund’s remaining $2.3 million deficit will be mitigated 
by additional offsets in revenues and/or expenditures as they emerge and through 
continued borrowing from the City’s Economic Budget Stabilization Reserves.  In 
addition, the City has received some Federal funding through the American Rescue Plan 
Act that will mitigate some revenue loss and/or expenditures related to responding to 
COVID-19.   

General Fund Summary Proposed FY 2021-22 

(in thousands) 
 2021/2022 
(proposed) 

Revenues   $ 89,856 
*Expenses 78,021 
Transfers In/(Out)   (14,113) 
General Fund Surplus/(Deficit)   $  (2,279) 

FY 2021-22 Implemented Budget Solutions 
 Potential Revenue Recovery.  The City’s Sales Tax and TOT tax are projected to

recover slightly in FY 2021-22 and the budget reflects a moderate growth of $1.4
million, or 5%, between the two revenue sources.  This projected growth
assumes new tax generators will commence operations in FY 2021-22.  The
actual revenue growth is not certain today.  In addition, the City may experience
a larger recovery to the economic effects of COVID, receive additional grants and
federal aid, or generate higher cost recovery through fees.  It is moderately
possible that revenues may grow an additional $1 million (2-3%) over the current
projections.  This has been reflected in the proposed revenues.

 Delay Funding ISC-Vehicles. The City’s adopted General Fund FY 2020-21
budget included delaying contributions to the ISC-Vehicle and Equipment funds.



Agenda Item 3.B 
May 18, 2021 
Page 5 

The cost to fund these expenses is $2.1 million.  As a budget solution, the 
General Fund will delay the annual contribution in FY 2021-22; however, any 
further delay in funding may result in higher maintenance costs and larger future 
replacement needs as the current vehicles will continue to age.  It is not 
recommended to extend this budget solution more than two years; restoring 
funding in FY 2022-23 will need to be considered. This has been reflected in the 
proposed expenditures.  

FY 2021-22 Additional Budget Solutions 

Budget Solutions  
Use of 10% Economic/Budget 
Stabilization $1,000 
Additional Vacancy Savings 1,000 
Revised General Fund 
Surplus/(Deficit)   $   (279) 

*Includes funding for MCYSN and homelessness
services and facility; excludes funding for vehicle and
equipment replacement

 Use of Economic/Budget Stabilization. The General Fund has a projected $1 million
remaining in the 10% Economic/Budget Stabilization Reserves that will be used to
close the budget deficit.

 Additional Personnel/Non-Personnel Savings.  The proposed FY 2021-22 budget
includes a current vacancy and hiring freeze of 5% on select vacant positions.
Throughout the year, some departments experience higher attrition rates, which may
generate additional personnel savings in FY 2021-22.  The City Manager and
departments will observe expenditure levels and modify staffing levels, and non-
personnel expenses, as needed, to achieve a target savings in the amount of $1
million, or 1% of General Fund operating expenditures.



Agenda Item 3.B 
May 18, 2021 
Page 6 

Summary of Proposed FY 2021-22 Operating and Capital Budget 

REVENUES (in thousands) 
FY19/20 
Actuals 

FY20/21 
Amended 

FY21/22 
Proposed 

FY22/23 
Forecasted 

FY23/24 
Forecasted 

Property Tax $24,905 $26,776 $28,114 $29,520 $30,996 

Sales Tax    26,304      27,012 29,222       30,262        31,269 

Sales Tax Measure V  10,735      11,500      12,000       12,600        13,230 

Other Taxes    2,750 2,415 2,842          3,204          3,269 

Other Revenues  22,418      16,517      17,678        17,818        17,993 

TOTAL REVENUES $87,111 $84,220 $89,856 $93,404 $96,757 

EXPENDITURES (in thousands) 

Personnel $57,422 $58,016 $59,243 $60,600 $61,265 

Purchased Services and Supplies 12,990 14,532 15,489 18,027 16,906 

Utilities 1,807 1,940 2,168 2,299 2,437 

Capital 192 0 0 0 0 

Debt 1,238 1,276 1,121 1,133 1,144 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $73,649 $75,764 $78,021 $82,058 $81,751 

Transfers In $27 $56 $60 $61 $61 

Transfers Out (9,424) (2,338) (2,361) (2,385) (2,409) 

Transfers Out: Measure V Capital (14,000) (10,817) (11,812) (11,886) (13,039) 

TOTAL NET TRANSFERS IN/(OUT) ($23,397) ($13,099) ($14,113) ($14,210) ($15,386) 

Total Change in Net Position ($9,934) ($4,643) ($2,279) ($2,864) ($380) 

Prior Year Reserves $30,566 $20,631 $15,988 $13,710 $10,845 

Use of Reserves 

Non-Spendable Reserves 62 62 62 62 62 

Contingency/Emergency Reserves (17%)* 12,520 12,880 13,264 13,950 13,898 

Economic/Budget Stability Reserves (13%)* 9,574 9,849 10,143 10,668 10,628 

Prior Year Carryover 420 0 0 0 0 

Unassigned (1,946) (6,803) (9,759) (13,834) (14,122) 

Year End Reserves $20,631 $15,988 $13,710 $10,845 $10,465 
*Reserve policy amended by City Council in 2021.



Agenda Item 3.B 
May 18, 2021 
Page 7 

Estimated General Fund Reserve  
As part of the City Council Adopted Budget Principles, the City Council amended the 
General Fund Reserve Policy.  The City Council did not amend the total reserves of 
30%; however, to match best practices of Government Finance Officers Association, the 
Catastrophic Reserves was amended to two months of operations (or 17%); this was a 
decrease of 3% from the prior policy. The City Council desired to maintain the full 30% 
policy that was established in FY 2014-15.  As a result, the Economic/Budget 
Stabilization Reserves was increased by the 3% and is now 13%.  As part of the City 
Council Policy, the City Council may use the Economic/Budget Stabilization reserves as 
one-time funding to offset a deficit budget.  However, the policy requires a super majority 
vote of the City Council and a resolution providing the timeline to repay the reserves. 

The City Council, as part of the amended FY 2019-20 and adopted FY 2020-21 budget, 
approved Resolution 2020-107 allowing for the use of the Economic/Budget Stabilization 
Reserves to provide gap funding for the General Fund deficit.  At adoption of the FY 
2020-21 budget, the City Council approved a second resolution, Resolution 2020-105, 
allowing for borrowing of Measure V Capital for the General Fund deficit in FY 2020-21.  
Better than expected revenues materialized, despite the economic impacts of the 
pandemic.  As a result, the City will not use Measure V Capital funds as a funding 
source for the General Fund Operating Budget in FY 2020-21. The table above and 
chart below represent the estimated fund reserves at fiscal year ending 2020-2024. 

General Fund Estimated Year End Reserves 

 $-

 $5,000

 $10,000

 $15,000

 $20,000

 $25,000

 $30,000

FY19/20 Actuals FY20/21 Amended FY21/22 Proposed FY22/23 Forecasted FY23/24 Forecasted

IN
 T

HO
U

SA
N

DS

Year End Reserves Level Reserve Policy Level

$14.1M gap 
between Reserve
Policy and Actual 
Reserves



Agenda Item 3.B 
May 18, 2021 
Page 8 

RECOMMENDED RESOLUTION BUDGET APPROPRIATIONS 

Each year, the City of Tracy must formally adopt, by resolution, the annual operating, 
debt, and capital financial plans of each entity and include appropriations presented to 
the City Council.  In addition to adopting a resolution approving the FY 2020-21 
Operating and Capital Budget, the Council must also adopt the following budget 
resolutions described in detail below:  

Resolution Adoption of the FY 2021-22 Debt and Investment Policies:  California 
law requires that the governing board of each local governmental unit adopt its policies 
governing the management of debt and investment of local funds annually.  There are 
no amendments presented in the debt policy. There are minor amendments in the 
investment policy that have been approved by the Investment Review Committee during 
their regular meetings. The first amendment establishes the requirement that investment 
reports are to be completed within 60 days (two months) of the period ending. The 
second amendment was to clarify that the annual report could be presented to the City 
Council on consent following the close of each fiscal year.   

Resolution Amending the City’s Fund Reserve Policy effective June 30, 2021:   The 
City Council adopted Resolution 2021-23 approving the City Council’s Budget Principles. 
The fund balance policy was amended to align with Government Finance Officers 
Association’s recommendations for reserves.  The Catastrophic/Emergency Reserves 
were amended to 17% (or two-months of operations) and the Economic/Budget 
Stabilization Reserves were amended to 13%.  The total operating reserves remain at 
30%.  In addition, the reserve policies for Enterprise funds has been amended to add a 
capital reserve equal to one-year of depreciation expenses.  Staff is requesting approval 
of the amended fund reserve policy.  (A super majority vote is required to amend.) 

Resolution Adoption of the FY 2021-22 Annual Operating and Capital Budget for 
July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2022:   The City Council adopted Resolution 2020-105 
on June 16, 2020 approving the adoption of the FY 2020-21 Annual Operating and 
Capital Budget.  The City Council receives quarterly updates and amends the budget as 
needed throughout the year.  Staff is seeking the approval of the FY 2021-22 Annual 
Operating and Capital Budget.  The City Manager has implemented various budget 
strategies, such as status quo expenditures, freezing select vacant positions, delaying 
vehicle and equipment replacement funding, and revised revenue estimates.  The 
General Fund’s estimated deficit of ($2.3 million) will be funded through additional 
revenue growth/expenditure reductions and through borrowing of the City’s 
Economic/Budget Stabilization fund.  The City Manager’s proposes to repay the 
reserves within five years.  (A super majority vote is required for budget approval and 
use of reserves to cover the deficit.) 

STRATEGIC PLAN 

This agenda item supports Governance Strategic Goal 3:  Ensure Short and Long-term 
Financial Sustainability. 



Agenda Item 3.B 
May 18, 2021 
Page 9 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The FY 2021-22 proposed operating and capital budget appropriations total 
approximately $328.7 million (including from $38.5 million in Transfers Between funds) 
all funding sources including capital improvements of $77.4 million.  The Net Position 
decreased $5.8 million after the capitalization of $77.4 million in capital improvements.  

RECOMMENDATION 

It is recommended that the Council conduct a public hearing to consider and adopt the 
Proposed FY 2021-22 City of Tracy Operating and Capital Budget and corresponding 
budget resolutions:  

1. Adopt a resolution of the City Council of the City of Tracy approving the City’s Debt and 
Investment Policies.

2. Adopt a resolution of the City Council of the City of Tracy approving the amended  
City’s Fund Reserve Policy

3. Adopt a resolution of the City Council of the City of Tracy adopting the Operating and 
Capital Budget for Fiscal Year 2021-22.

Prepared by:   Karin Schnaider, Finance Director 

Reviewed by:  Midori Lichtwardt, Assistant City Manager 

Approved by:  Jenny Haruyama, City Manager 

Attachment: Proposed FY 2021-22 City of Tracy Operating and Capital Budget (Oversized:  Available 
at the City Clerk’s Office in City Hall and on the City of Tracy Website at: 
https://www.cityoftracy.org/?navid=12303 

https://www.cityoftracy.org/?navid=12303


RESOLUTION ________ 

APPROVING THE CITY OF TRACY DEBT AND INVESTMENT POLICIES FOR FY 2021-22 

WHEREAS, The City has an adopted Investment Policy that provides guidance 
regarding investment of City funds which is consistent with the statues of California Government 
Code that governs the investment of public funds, and 

WHEREAS, The City has an adopted Debt Policy that provides guidance regarding 
debts of City funds which is consistent with the statues of California Government Code that 
governs the debt management of public funds, and 

WHEREAS, Annually the City Treasurer reviews this policy with support from its 
registered investment advisors for any changes that would require revisions to the investment 
policy, and  

WHEREAS, The Debt and Investment Policies are consistent with the City Council’s 
overall Strategic Priorities and Budget Principles to have a fiscally responsible and efficiently 
operated City organization that is committed to maintaining its fiscal health; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED That the City Council approves the City’s Debt 
and Investment Policies for Fiscal Year 2021-22. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

The foregoing Resolution ________ is hereby passed and adopted by the Tracy City 
Council this 18th day of May 2021, by the following vote:  

AYES: COUNCIL MEMBERS 

NOES:  COUNCIL MEMBERS 

ABSENT: COUNCIL MEMBERS 

ABSTAIN: COUNCIL MEMBERS 

__________________________________ 
MAYOR  

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 
CITY CLERK 



RESOLUTION ________ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TRACY 
APPROVING THE FUND RESERVES POLICY EFFECTIVE FISCAL YEAR 

ENDING JUNE 30, 2021 

WHEREAS, City of Tracy follows Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB)  for the basis its financial reporting; and 

WHEREAS, GASB issued Statement 54: Fund Balance Reporting and 
Governmental         Fund Type Definition and the requirements of this Statement are effective 
for financial statements for periods beginning after June 15, 2010, and 

WHEREAS, The objective of this Statement is to enhance the usefulness of fund 
balance information by providing clearer fund balance classifications that can be more 
consistently applied and by clarifying the existing governmental fund type definitions, and 

WHEREAS, The City Council adopted Resolution No. 2021-23 adopting the City 
Council Budget Principles, and 

WHEREAS, The City Council desires to be consistent with Government Finance 
Officer Association (GFOA) recommendations, a funds’ Catastrophic/Emergency Reserve 
should be maintained at a minimum of 17% of annual operating revenue/expenditure, in 
addition, it recommends that a funds’ Economic/Budget Stabilization reserve which should 
be maintained at a minimum of 13% of annual operating revenue/expenditure; 

WHEREAS, The City Council desires to be consistent with Government Finance 
Officer Association (GFOA) recommendations that a fund’s Capital Replenishment 
reserves should be maintained at a minimum of one year’s annual capital depreciations; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the City Council of the City of Tracy 
hereby approves the attached amended Fund (Reserve) Balance Policy. 



* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

The foregoing Resolution ________ is hereby passed and adopted by the Tracy     
City Council this 18th day of May, 2021, by the following vote: 

AYES: COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

NOES:  COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

ABSENT: COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

ABSTAIN: COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

_________________________ 
MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

_________________________ 
CITY CLERK  



CITY OF TRACY 
COUNCIL POLICY AND PROCEDURES 

A-5

SUBJECT: Council General Fund Fund Committed Reserve Policy 

DATE UPDATED June 19, 2018May 18, 2018 

SECTION: A-5

SECTION 1: PURPOSE 

The purpose of this policy is for the City of Tracy to formally establish Contingency/Emergency and 
Economic/Budget Stability Reserves. The purpose of the Reserves is to mitigate the effect of 
unanticipated situations such as natural disasters and severe unforeseen events. Reserves also 
provide the City with stability in times of economic fluctuations that are non-reoccurring and/or 
unanticipated.  Reserves help provide for a smooth, temporary transition to prevent drastic or 
devastating changes in service levels caused by changes in the City’s financial situation.  These 
reserves are presented as Committed Fund balance in the General Fundfund financial statements and 
are adopted by City Council by resolution.  The City Council may authorize the use of these reserves 
by declaring a Catastrophic and/or Fiscal Emergency with a four-fifths vote. 

SECTION 2:  POLICY 

The City of Tracy is establishing reserves with the following designations: 

GENERAL FUND FUND CONTINGENCYCASTASTROPHIC/EMERGENCY RESERVE: 

The ContingencyCatastrophic/Emergency Reserve funds help mitigate the effects of unanticipated 
situations such as natural disasters and severe, unforeseen events. The Contingency Catastrophic 
Reserve also serves as back-up liquidity to self-insured losses if this need were to arise.  

The ContingencyCatastrophic/Emergency Reserve is to be established with a target goal of 2017% of 
the General Fund’sfunds’ adopted annual budget for operating expenditures and recurring transfers 
out.   

The City Manager will first evaluate the City’s financial condition and make a recommendation to City 
Council as to the need to make contributions to the Contingency Catastrophic Reserve or the possible 
need to access funds from the ContingencyCatastrophic/Emergency Reserve. This action is done as 
part of the annual budget adoption; however, these actions can be completed at any time the City 
Manager deems necessary. 

GENERAL FUND  AND ENTERPRISE FUNDS ECONOMIC/BUDGET STABILITY STABILIZATION RESERVE 

The Economic/Budget Stability Stabilization Reserve is to be established with a target goal of 1013% 
of the General Fund’s funds’ adopted annual budget for expenditures and recurring transfers out.  The 
Economic/Budget Stability Stabilization Reserve is intended to offset quantifiable 
revenue/expenditure uncertainty in the multi-year forecast thereby helping to stabilize service levels 



CITY OF TRACY 
COUNCIL POLICY AND PROCEDURES 

General Fund Fund Committed Reserve PolicyPage 2 of 4 

through economic cycles.  The City should develop measures that collectively are necessary to assess 
City’s fiscal sustainability.  

These specific measures include: 

• Projections of the major individual inflows of resources in dollars and as a percentage of total inflows 
of resources along with explanations of the known causes of resource fluctuations (including
nonrecurring resources)

• Projections of the major individual outflows of resources by program or function in dollars and as a
percentage of total outflows of resources along with explanations of the known causes of resource
fluctuations

• Projections of major individual financial obligations and total financial obligations including bonds,
pensions, OPEB, and long-term contracts

• Projections of annual debt service payments (principal and interest)

• Narrative discussion of the major intergovernmental service interdependencies that exist and the
nature of those service interdependencies.

Stabilization amounts may be authorized as expended only when certain specific circumstances exist. 

1) Revenue risks: Revenues falling short of budget projections may cause deficits. Transitional funding
may be necessary to respond to reductions in major revenues due to local, regional, and national
economic downturns. This may be due to a loss in housing values, a loss of a major employer, a loss
of major retailor, a sudden spike in unemployment or inflation, and/or other major economic factors.
This may also be due to state and/or voter initiatives; including changes in legislation, revenue sources 
that sunset or expire, or other political impacts to revenues that are outside of the control of the City
Council.
a) Projected General Fundfund revenue totals in aggregate are anticipated to decrease by 5% (or

more) over the prior-year or decrease by 10% (or more) cumulative over three-years; excluding
one-time revenue sources.

b) Projected General Fund fund revenues from a single revenue source are anticipated to decrease
by 10% (or more) over the prior-year or decrease by 15% over three-years; excluding one-time
revenue sources.

2) Expenditure Risks: The City may require a source of supplemental funding for uncontrollable costs or
contractually obligated costs.  Such costs may include maintaining service levels.
a) Projected General Fund fund expenditure totals (in aggregate) increase by 10% (or more) over the 

prior-year or increase by 15% over three-years; excluding one-time expenditure requests.
i) Examples may include: major individual financial obligations and total financial obligations

including bonds or other debt payments, employee contracts, and/or long-term contracts
that create a deficit budget of more than one year.



CITY OF TRACY 
COUNCIL POLICY AND PROCEDURES 

General Fund Fund Committed Reserve PolicyPage 3 of 4 

b) Projected General Fundfund expenditures from a single source are anticipated to increase by 10% 
(or more) over the prior-year or increase by 15% over three-years.
i) Examples include, but are not limited to: unanticipated increases in CalPERS retirement rates

resulting from CalPERS investment performance, or changes in actuarial assumptions CalPERS 
might impose.

ii) In addition, there may be other cost increases that are beyond the City’s control (e.g., various
fuel and utility charges).

3) Structural Deficit Risk: Economic factors may create a structural deficit when revenue growth does
not keep pace with expenditure growth. The City may elect to use the Economic/Budget Stability
Stabilization Reserve for up to 24 months while a plan is developed to correct the deficit.
a) Projected General Fundfund expenditure totals (in aggregate) exceed incoming revenues by 5%

(or more) over the prior-year or exceed by 10% over three-years; excluding one-time expenditure
requests.

b) Need funding for an unanticipated major repair, purchase, or other maintenance charge creating
a deficit of 5% of incoming revenues. The nature of these reserves is intended to stabilize the
General Fundfund budget in the short-term to address non-routine or unanticipated changes in
economic position.  A regular 5-year forecast should be used to identify foreseeable changes in
revenues and or expenditures.  However, not all changes in economic and fiscal position are
known.  In those cases, the City Manager will first evaluate the City’s financial condition and make
a recommendation to City Council as the possible need to access funds from the Economic/Budget 
Stability Reserve. This action is done as part of the annual budget adoption; however, these
actions can be completed at any time the City Manager deems necessary

ENTERPRISE CAPTIAL REPLENISHMENT RESERVE 

The Capital Replenishment Reserve is to be established with a target goal of at least one year of capital 
depreciation expense in the City’s Enterprise Funds.  The Capital Replenishment Reserve is intended 
to offset potential failure of capital assets that were unplanned in order to continue providing services 
to the public.  Capital Replenishment funds should hold at least one year of depreciations and should 
be supported by a multi-year forecast thereby helping to stabilize revenue and expenditures levels 
through on-going maintenance and capital replacement cycles.  The City should develop measures 
that collectively are necessary to assess City’s fiscal sustainability.  

USE AND REPLENISHMENT OF RESERVES 

The City Manager must present a report to the City Council to justify the use of the Contingency 
Catastrophic/Emergency Reserve and Economic/Budget Stability Stabilization Reserve and the 



CITY OF TRACY 
COUNCIL POLICY AND PROCEDURES 

General Fund Fund Committed Reserve PolicyPage 4 of 4 

circumstances of the Catastrophic and/or Fiscal Emergency. All uses of the Contingency Catastrophic 
Reserve and Economic/Budget Stability Stabilization Reserve must be approved by resolution of the 
City Council with a super majority (four-fifths) vote. Any such uses are to be repaid to the respective 
reserves over a period to be determined by the City Council at the time of usage approval, with a 
target repayment period of no more than three five years. 

YEAR-END EXCESS REVENUE 

Year-end excess and/or one-time revenue under the proposed reserves structure would remain in the 
City’s fund balance.  As part of the annual budget adoption process, or at any time the City Manager 
deems necessary, the City Manager would recommend whether the excess funds could be allocated 
to other reserves, or used as one-time funding with consideration given to economic development 
and/or capital projects. 

Resolution 2018-118-2021-XX, Dated 06/19/201805/18/2021 



RESOLUTION ________ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF TRACY 
 ADOPTING THE OPERATING, DEBT AND CAPITAL BUDGET 

FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021-2022 

WHEREAS, Tracy Municipal Code section 2.12.050 requires the City Manager of 
the      City of Tracy to submit a proposed budget to the City Council, and 

WHEREAS, The City Manager presented a proposed budget for fiscal year 2021-
22 to the City Council on March 16, 2021, March 23, 2021 and April 20, 2021 during budget 
and Capital Improvement Plan Workshops, for all Municipal Funds, and  

WHEREAS, On May 18, 2021 the City Manager proposed the adoption of the 
Financial    Plan along with specific adjustments directed by the City Council and listed in 
the attached Financial Plan Summaries attached to this resolution and hereby included 
herein, and 

WHEREAS, The City Council has reviewed the employee positions listed in the 
budget document and has considered authorizing the City Manager to fill those positions 
not specifically exempted, provided said positions have sufficient appropriations, and 

WHEREAS, The City Council has reviewed the level of budgeting control needed 
by the   City Manager to ensure efficiency in managing the operations of the City, including 
the authorization of budget transfers within a single fund and within given appropriations 
of said fund, and 

WHEREAS, The City's General Fund revenues have been negatively impacted 
by the economic impacts related to the COVID-19 public health emergency which has 
created a net loss to the General Fund budget of approximately $2.3 million, and 

WHEREAS, The City's General Fund budget included cost savings measures 
carried over from prior year to mitigate the budget deficit; which includes; 

• Continued a Citywide hiring freeze of select vacant positions ($3.5 million)
• Suspend Citywide vehicle and equipment contributions

($2.1million)
• Exhaust Remaining Balance of General Fund 13% Economic/

Budget  Stabilization Reserve ($1 million)
• Anticipate additional revenue recovery/expenditure savings ($1 million)
• Restored MCYSN Grant Allocation Process, $200,000
• Includes new funding for facility management and homelessness support 

services for the Arbor Road Temporary Emergency Housing Facility,
$600,000

WHEREAS, The City     Council further desires that the General Fund 13% 
Economic/Budget Stabilization Reserve ($10.6 million) be replenished within 5 years or 
less (FYE 2026), and 



Resolution ________ 
Page 2 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Tracy 
hereby  adopts the City of Tracy FY 2021-22 Operating and Capital budget estimated to 
be $290.2 million, with a General Fund Budget of $78 million (net of transfers), including 
$77.4 million in capital projects; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Council, through a majority vote of the 
City  Council, has provided partial funding through the one-time use of the General 
Fund's 13% Economic/Budget Stabilization Reserve to reduce the unfunded portion of 
the FY 2020-21 General Fund appropriations; these funds should be replenished within 
five (5) years or less (FYE 2026). 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

The foregoing Resolution ________ is hereby passed and adopted by the Tracy 
City Council this 18th day of May, 2021, by the following vote: 

AYES:  COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

NOES:  COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

ABSENT: COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

ABSTAIN: COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

__________________________ 
MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

___________________________ 
CITY CLERK 



AGENDA ITEM 3.C 

REQUEST 

INTRODUCE AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TRACY AMENDING CHAPTER 5.08 
“ANIMALS” OF TITLE 5 “SANITATION AND HEALTH” OF THE TRACY MUNICIPAL 
CODE TO ADHERE TO CURRENT STANDARDS OF ANIMAL CARE AND 
PRACTICES AND ESTABLISH NEW OPERATIONAL ADMINISTRATIVE PRACTICES 
AND PERMITTING REQUIREMENTS 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This agenda item is in response to the public’s interest in the welfare and treatment of 
animals within the City of Tracy, and Animal Services’ ability to effectively serve the 
needs of animals and their owners throughout the community.  In 2019, the City of 
Tracy’s Animal Services Unit (“Animal Services”) of the Tracy Police Department 
consulted with a nationally-accredited shelter consultant to address the public’s 
concerns surrounding the welfare of animals within the community and those that 
encounter Animal Services.  The consultant provided direction to update and add 
language to Chapter 5.08 “Animals” of the Tracy Municipal Code (“TMC”).  These 
suggestions, along with additional guidance provided by the UC Davis Koret Shelter 
Program, Best Friends Animal Society, and Maddie’s Fund, have shaped Animal 
Services’ current standards, practices, and enforcement.   

The proposed ordinance will help the City of Tracy transition to the current standard of 
care and practices that are conscious of animal welfare and rights, and will allow Animal 
Services to use the updated TMC as a tool for enforcement to ensure the humane 
treatment of animals.   

DISCUSSION 

In 2019, through many City Council discussions, City Council, Animal Services, and the 
public identified specific areas where Animal Services could potentially improve its 
practices and operations.  In order to make these improvements, Animal Services 
collaborated with Sarah Pizano, a nationally-accredited shelter consultant.   

Animal Services and Ms. Pizano worked together to conduct a full review of Chapter 
5.08 “Animals” of the TMC.  Ms. Pizano provided input on how Animal Services could 
improve its current standards, practices, and enforcement.  She also recommended 
various changes to the TMC, including changes to reflect the current terminology that is 
used and considered humane.  The proposed ordinance will change and omit 
terminology throughout the TMC, such as eliminating “tethering”, and changing “small 
animal shelter” to “Animal Shelter”, the word “kill” to “humanely euthanize”, and “Animal 
Control Officers” to “Animal Services Officers.”  

Updates to Current Standards and Practices 

In addition to changing language throughout the TMC, the proposed ordinance will 
update various sections of the TMC to reflect Animal Services’ current standards and 
practices.  Currently, TMC section 5.08.130(l) sets hold periods for stray dogs and cats 
at five days.  Based on Animal Services’ data for the last three years, 41.43% of the 

May 18, 2021



Agenda Item 3.C 
May 18, 2021 
Page 2 

dogs brought to the Tracy Animal Shelter were returned to their owners, and on average 
the owners redeemed their stray dogs within 2.44 days.  In addition, pursuant to 
California Food and Agricultural Code section 31108 and the current hours of operation 
at the Animal Shelter, the hold period can be reduced to three days.  The proposed 
ordinance will change the hold period to three days.  By establishing a shorter hold 
period, Animal Services will be better able to unite animals with their owners or potential 
adopters.  In addition, the five-day hold period puts healthy and adoptable animals at 
unnecessary risk by subjecting them to kennel stress and potentially euthanasia due to 
space issues.  The proposed ordinance will allow Animal Services to unite animals with 
their owners or potential adopters sooner, and will alleviate stress on animals and space 
issues at the shelter.  

Next, TMC section 5.08.170 refers to the burial of deceased animals, and requires that 
deceased animals of any size be buried one foot underground.  There have been 
various instances where an animal owner has unsuccessfully buried a large-breed dog.  
Animal Services then has to pick up the dog days later.  An animal that is 25 pounds or 
under is a more appropriate size if one wishes to bury a deceased animal on their own 
property.  

The proposed ordinance will also modify the number of poultry and rabbits residents are 
allowed to have on their property to better reflect the lot size and density within City 
limits.  TMC section 5.08.260 refers to limitations on poultry and rabbits. The proposed 
ordinance will decrease distance requirements when residents want to keep chickens or 
rabbits on their property.  Currently, in order for a resident to have less than 30 chickens 
in a coup, the coup must be kept 50 feet away from any dwelling or public building (e.g. 
school, church, or hospital). This requirement can be difficult for residents to meet 
because of lot sizes and existing structures.  The proposed ordinance will reduce the 
distance requirement to 25 feet.  In addition, the proposed ordinance will reduce the 
distance requirement for 30 or more chickens or rabbits from 100 feet to 50 feet.  Due to 
COVID-19, the number of residents with chickens on their property has increased.  The 
proposed ordinance will allow more residents to keep chickens on their property. 

TMC section 5.08.420(a) limits the number of dogs and cats allowed per household.  In 
the past, the recommended practice was to limit owners to two dogs and two cats per 
household, and to allow multiple pet permits for up to four dogs and four cats per 
household.  However, current data shows that the number of animals an individual owns 
does not necessarily impact an owner’s ability to provide proper care and medical 
treatment to their animals.  Due to this data, the proposed ordinance will increase the 
limits to three dogs and three cats per household, and will allow multiple pet permits for 
up to five dogs and five cats per household.  

Updates to License, Fee, and Permit Requirements 

Next, the proposed ordinance will make changes to license and fee requirements to 
reflect Animal Services’ current practices and operations.  First, per California Business 
and Professions Code section 4857, subsection (a), veterinarians are to provide Animal 
Services with information that ensures compliance with any federal, state, or local law or 
regulation.  Rabies vaccination information falls under this requirement.  In order to 



Agenda Item 3.C 
May 18, 2021 
Page 3 

ensure that dogs within City limits are current on rabies vaccinations and licensing, the 
proposed ordinance will require that upon request from Animal Services, a veterinary 
office must provide the necessary information for Animal Services to confirm that an 
animal has received its rabies vaccination and is licensed.  

San Joaquin County is not a rabies free county.  Within the last year, there was a 
positive canine rabies case within the county.  Monitoring rabies vaccinations and 
license compliance is a top priority for Animal Services.  Licensing is the main form of 
identification for animals, is the link between an owner’s information and the Animal 
Shelter’s software system, and ensures that dogs are rabies vaccinated.  The proposed 
ordinance will help Animal Services achieve these two goals more readily.  

Next, TMC section 5.08.130(d) is an outdated section that requires that licensing fees go 
towards a Livestock Indemnity Fund.  Animal Services does not use the fund referred to 
in this section, and it is unknown if it even exists.  The proposed ordinance will allocate 
these funds to a rabies-oriented program so that Animal Services can provide 
discounted rabies vaccines or bite prevention education.  Any remaining funds will be 
utilized for funding the Animal Shelter.  Furthermore, TMC section 5.08.330 outlines 
outdated fee requirements for pygmy goats and pot belly pigs.  The proposed ordinance 
will eliminate the reference to those fees and state that fees will be established by 
Council resolution..  

In addition, the proposed ordinance will modify certain permit requirements throughout 
the TMC.  TMC sections 5.08.360 and 5.08.370 currently do not require owners to 
purchase a dangerous dog/vicious dog permit.  Once a dog is determined to be 
dangerous or vicious, Animal Services has to spend a significant amount of time and 
resources conducting compliance checks, responding to complaints, and tracking 
whether owners are complying with the dangerous dog/vicious dog requirements under 
the TMC, such as properly securing the dog, obtaining current vaccinations and 
licenses, and spaying or neutering the dog.  As of February 2021, there were 40 
actively-deemed dangerous dogs within the City.  From the initial call for service to the 
present, Animal Services Officers had to respond to those 40 locations 195 different 
times in total.  This does not include telephone calls, report-writing time, or any 
administrative hearings that are requested.  Dangerous dog/vicious dog permits will 
allow Animal Services to monitor these dogs more closely and effectively, and will help 
Animal Services recoup the significant costs and resources spent monitoring these dogs 
and their owners. 

In addition to a dangerous/vicious dog permit, the proposed ordinance will allow Animal 
Services to request that an owner purchase a dangerous dog sign to place on the 
outside of their residence as an extra measure of safety.  This warning will help 
communicate to others to exercise caution while in the area.     

Lastly, TMC section 5.08.420 currently requires that anyone who desires to have more 
than two dogs and/or three cats apply for a multiple pet permit and pay a nonrefundable 
application fee.  The proposed ordinance will implement a permit fee in addition to the 
application fee, and multiple pet permits will need to be renewed every five years.   



Agenda Item 3.C 
May 18, 2021 
Page 4 

Animal Services conducts an in-depth investigation process when an individual applies 
for a multiple pet permit.  Animal Services investigates the location of the animals, 
provides letters to the surrounding neighbors, and reviews the Animal Shelter’s 
computer database and the Tracy Police Department’s database system for any prior 
contacts or complaints at the location.  Any letters that are returned from neighbors are 
evaluated and a recommendation is provided to the Animal Services Supervisor to issue 
any additional documentation.  The investigation requires a minimum of two hours of 
staff time, and the process costs an average of $134 an hour for an Animal Services 
Officer’s time.  The additional fee is necessary for the amount of time spent on this 
investigation and process.  This fee will be established by Council resolution at a later 
date. 

In addition, the current TMC does not specify when a multiple pet permit expires.  Animal 
Services has found that owners move, animals pass away, animals are rehomed, or a 
new animal is brought to the residence without Animal Services being notified.  The 
proposed ordinance will establish a five-year period will allow Animal Services to monitor 
owners with multiple pet permits and their changed circumstances.    

Allocation of Funds 

The proposed ordinance changes the allocation of funds, which will assist Animal 
Services in its ability to provide more lifesaving opportunities.  Council can review and 
change these additional fees in order to ensure that the public and the City’s needs are 
mutually met 

Alteration of Multiple Impounds and Hearing Process 

Finally, the proposed ordinance will add several new sections to the TMC.  First, the 
proposed ordinance will require mandatory alteration (spay or neuter) for multiple 
impounds.  Unaltered animals have an urge to escape and roam away from their 
owners.  Animal Services has experienced specific dogs that have been habitually stray 
and picked up by Animal Services on multiple occasions.  Animal Services will offer to 
have the animal altered at a discounted rate, but owners will rarely do so.  When an 
animal is altered, their desire to reproduce is completely eradicated, thus when animals 
are roaming and in heat, the urge to escape is eliminated.  Stray, unaltered dogs also 
have the same ability to impregnate other dogs or become pregnant, thus continuing the 
cycle of animals in the shelter environment and overpopulation.  The proposed 
ordinance will help eradicate this cycle, and will allow for a hearing process in the event 
an owner wishes to challenge this requirement.    

Community Cats 

Next, the proposed ordinance will implement community cat caretaker requirements, 
including registration with Animal Services, which will allow Animal Services to monitor 
whether residents are feeding feral cats in a responsible manner.   

Breeder Certificates 

Currently, the TMC does not contain any requirements or set any parameters for 
breeding dogs within the City.  Many California jurisdictions require private dog breeders 



Agenda Item 3.C 
May 18, 2021 
Page 5 

to register with their local animal shelter.  This type of process allows cities and shelters 
to ensure that breeders are breeding dogs responsibly and humanely.  The proposed 
ordinance will implement a breeder certificate application process and will set certain 
requirements for breeders.  This will allow Animal Services to ensure that breeders are 
meeting the needs to the dogs they are breeding and selling or adopting.     

Microchipping 

As of January 1st, 2021, Food and Agricultural Code section 31108.3 requires that all 
dogs and cats be microchipped. The proposed ordinance will require that all dogs and 
cats over the age of four months be microchipped, and provides an exemption for certain 
animals and if microchipping will result in an economic hardship.  Not only is this section 
necessary to comply with state law, but it will also assist Animal Services to reunite 
animals with their owners more readily.   

STRATEGIC PLAN 

This agenda item relates to the Council’s Strategic Plan in the area of Public Safety and 
Quality of Life. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact related to this agenda item.  The City is in the process of 
studying and updating the Master Fee Schedule, updates to fees will provide some 
revenue to mitigate the costs of providing Animal Control services to the public. Any fee 
not already included in the Master Fee schedule, would be brought back to council for 
discussion and adoption before implementation. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that Council introduce and waive the full reading of the proposed 
ordinance amending Chapter 5.08 “Animals” of Tile 5 “Sanitation and Health” of the 
Tracy Municipal Code to adhere to current standards of animal care and practices and 
establish new operational administrative practices and permitting requirements. 

Prepared by: Brittany Pasquale, Animal Services Supervisor 

Reviewed by: Beth Lyons-McCarthy, Police Support Operations Manager 
  Sekou Millington, Chief of Police 
  Karin Schnaider, Director of Finance 

Approved by: Jenny Haruyama, City Manager 

Attachments: 

Attachment A – Redline copy of proposed amendments to Chapter 5.08 “Animals” of the Tracy 
Municipal Code 

Attachment B – Ordinance amending Chapter 5.08 “Animals” of the Tracy Municipal Code 

Attachment C – Team Shelter USA, Dr. Sara Pizano – 2019 Consultant Report 



ATTACHMENT A









































ORDINANCE ______ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TRACY AMENDING CHAPTER 5.08 “ANIMALS” OF TITLE 
5 “SANITATION AND HEALTH” OF THE TRACY MUNICIPAL CODE TO ADHERE TO 

CURRENT STANDARDS OF ANIMAL CARE AND PRACTICES AND ESTABLISH NEW 
OPERATIONAL ADMINISTRATIVE PRACTICES AND PERMITTING REQUIREMENTS 

WHEREAS, in 2019, the City of Tracy’s Animal Services Unit (“Animal Services”) of the 
Tracy Police Department, City Council, and the public had various discussions to identify 
specific areas where Animal Services could potentially improve its practices and operations, and 

WHEREAS, in response to these discussions, Animal Services consulted with a 
nationally-accredited animal shelter consultant to address how Animal Services could improve 
its current standards, practices, and enforcement, and 

WHEREAS, Animal Services and the consultant conducted a full review of Chapter 5.08 
“Animals” of the Tracy Municipal Code and identified areas where changes could be made to 
reflect the current terminology that is used and considered humane, and  

WHEREAS, changes and updates to Chapter 5.08 “Animals” of the Tracy Municipal 
Code are necessary to adhere to current standards of animal care and practices, to align with 
Animal Services’ current operations and practices, to facilitate Animal Services’ goals, and to 
comply with state law, and 

WHEREAS, the City has an interest in the welfare and treatment of animals within the 
City. 

NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Tracy does ordain as follows: 

SECTION 1:  The City Council hereby amends Chapter 5.08 “Animals” of Title 5 “Sanitation 
and Health” of the Tracy Municipal Code as shown in Exhibit “A” attached hereto.

SECTION 2:  If any provision or the application of this Ordinance is for any reason held to 
be unconstitutional, invalid, or otherwise unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance or any part thereof.  The City Council hereby 
declares that it would have adopted each subsection or provision of this Ordinance irrespective 
of the invalidity of any particular portion thereof and intends that the invalid portions should be 
severed and the balance of the Ordinance enforced. 

SECTION 3:  This Ordinance shall take effect thirty (30) days after its final passage and 
adoption. 

SECTION 4:  This Ordinance shall either (1) be published once in a newspaper of general 
circulation, within 15 days after its final adoption, or (2) be published in summary form and 
posted in the City Clerk’s office at least five days before the ordinance is adopted and within 15 
days after adoption, with the names of the Council Members voting for and against the 
ordinance.  (Gov’t. Code §36933.)    

*  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  *  * 

ATTACHMENT B



The foregoing Ordinance _______ was introduced at a regular meeting of the 
Tracy City Council on the 18th day of May, 2021, and finally adopted on the 
______ day of __________, 2021, by the following vote: 

AYES: COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

NOES: COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

ABSENT: COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

ABSTAIN: COUNCIL MEMBERS: 

___________________________ 
MAYOR 

 

ATTEST: 

______________________ 
CITY CLERK 

Ordinance 
Page 2



Chapter 5.08 - ANIMALS  

Sections: 

Article 1. - Dogs  

5.08.010 - Unlawful to permit rabid animals to run at large. 

It shall be unlawful for any person owning, having an interest in, harboring, or having the care, 
charge, control, custody, or possession of a dog or other animal, knowing that such dog or animal has 
rabies, to allow or permit such dog or animal to go free and run at large within the City.  

(Prior code § 5-2.101) 

5.08.020 - Health Officer to be notified immediately upon suspicion of rabies. 

Whenever the owner or person having the custody or possession of any animal shall observe or 
learn that such animal has shown symptoms of rabies, or has acted in a manner which should lead a 
reasonable person to suspect that such animal might have rabies, such owner or person having the 
custody or possession of such animal shall immediately notify the Health Officer or his representatives 
and shall allow the Health Officer to make an inspection or examination of such animal and to quarantine 
such animal until it shall be established to the satisfaction of such official that such animal has or does not 
have rabies.  

(Prior code § 5-2.102) 

5.08.030 - Quarantine.  

Whenever it shall appear to the Health Officer or Animal Services Officer that there is reason to 
believe that any dog or other animal has rabies, or has been exposed to rabies, the Health Officer or 
Animal Services Officer shall make an inspection and examination of such animal and shall quarantine 
such animal until it shall be established to the satisfaction of such official that such animal has or does not 
have rabies.  

(Prior code § 5-2.103) 

5.08.040 - Quarantine required. 

Whenever it is shown that any dog or cat has bitten any person, the owner or person having the 
custody or possession thereof, upon an order of the Health Officer or Animal Services Officer, shall 
quarantine such animal and keep it confined for a period of ten (10) days and shall allow the Health 
Officer or Animal Services Officer to make inspections or examinations of such animal at any time during 
such period.  The Animal Services Officer has the discretion to determine the location of where such 
quarantine will take place.  

(Ord. 1120 § 1, 2008: Ord. 1040 § 5 Exh. E (part), 2002: prior code § 5-2.104) 

5.08.050 - Disposition of rabid dogs.  

EXHIBIT A TO ORDINANCE



If it shall appear to the Health Officer or Animal Services Officer, upon examination, that a dog or 
other animal has rabies, the officer shall humanely euthanize such dog or other animal forthwith.  

(Ord. 1120 § 2, 2008: prior code § 5-2.105) 

5.08.060 - Quarantine of animals biting another animal. 

Whenever any animal shall be bitten by another animal with rabies or that potentially has rabies, the 
owner or person having the custody or possession of the animal so bitten, upon being informed thereof, 
shall either humanely euthanize such animal or quarantine it and keep it confined for a period of six (6) 
months, and the Health Officer or Animal Services Officer shall have the power, in his or her discretion, to 
humanely euthanize or quarantine the animal so bitten in the event the owner or person having the 
custody or possession thereof shall fail to do so immediately or in the event the owner or person having 
the custody or possession thereof is not readily accessible.  

(Prior code § 5-2.106) 

5.08.070 - Transporting dogs to or from cities or counties in which there is or has been rabies. 

No person shall take a dog or permit or encourage a dog to go from a City or town in which rabies 
exists, or has existed, within six (6) months previously, or from any place in the County within five (5) 
miles of which rabies exists or has existed within six (6) months previously, to any county in which rabies 
does not exist or has not been known to be present within six (6) months.  

(Prior code § 5-2.107) 

5.08.080 - Transporting dogs from rabies areas. 

No person shall bring a dog into the City from a county in which rabies is present or has been known 
to be present within six (6) months.  

(Prior code § 5-2.108) 

5.08.090 - Entering upon premises. 

(a) The Animal Services Officer is authorized to enter upon any land or premises where any animal is
kept for the purposes of taking up, seizing, or impounding any animal running at large, staked, herded,
or grazing thereon contrary to the provisions of this chapter or for the purpose of ascertaining whether
any law of the County or State relating to the care, treatment, or impounding of any animal or whether
any provision of this chapter is being violated.

(b) The Animal Services Officer is authorized to enter upon any land or premises for the purpose of
apprehending and impounding a vicious dog or other animal that constitutes a threat or hazard to the
safety of any person.

(Prior code § 5-2.109) 

5.08.100 - Vicious or dangerous animals. 

(Repealed by Ord. 1074 § 1, 2005. For present provisions concerning potentially vicious or 
dangerous animals, see Article 4 of this chapter.) 



Article 2. - Animal Shelter and Animal Services 

5.08.110 - Animal shelter authorized.  

A public animal shelter is hereby authorized in the City. The animal shelter shall be located at some 
convenient place to be fixed by the Council. Such animal shelter shall be and remain under the charge 
and control of the Tracy Police Department.  

The Tracy Police Department shall cause all animals impounded to be provided with sufficient food 
and water suitable therefor and shall keep such animal shelter in a clean and sanitary condition at all 
times.  

(Ord. 1040 § 5 Exh. E (part), 2002: prior code § 5-2.201) 

5.08.120 - Office of Animal Services established.  

The Office of Animal Services is hereby established. The Animal Services Officer shall be appointed 
by the Chief of Police and shall receive such compensation as the Council, from time to time, may 
provide. For the purposes of enforcement of this chapter and other laws, the title "Animal Services 
Officer" shall be synonymous with "Animal Control Officer" and shall include the Animal Services 
Supervisor, Police Officers when enforcing this chapter, the Animal Services Officer, and assistants and 
deputies that have satisfactorily completed a certified course in "Powers and Arrest."  

(a)  The Animal Services Officer, and all assistants and deputies, shall satisfactorily complete a 
certified course in "Powers of Arrest." Such persons may thereafter exercise the powers of arrest 
as specified in section 836.5 of the California Penal Code on any person who has committed a 
misdemeanor or infraction in their presence which is a violation of the provisions of this chapter.  

(b)  The Animal Services Officer, and all assistants and deputies, may carry weapons when acting 
in the course of their employment, providing they have satisfactorily completed a course of 
training in the carrying and use of firearms.  

(Ord.  1040 § 5 Exh. E (part): prior code § 5-2.202) 

5.08.130 - License tags for dogs.  

(a)  Licenses required. It is hereby declared unlawful for any dog, not duly vaccinated, licensed, and 
registered in accordance with the provisions of this section, to be in the City or to be owned, kept, or 
possessed in the City by any person. Licenses shall not be transferable on a change of ownership, 
nor from one dog to another. Licenses will be issued for a term of one (1) year for dogs under one (1) 
year of age, and for a term of three (3) years for dogs over one (1) year of age. Licenses will be issued 
at the time they are purchased, and shall expire at the end of their term. 

(b)  Vaccinations required. Any person desiring to keep a dog in the City, within ten (10) days after the 
dog attains the age of four (4) months and prior to licensing the dog, shall have the dog vaccinated by 
a licensed veterinarian with a canine anti-rabies vaccine.  

(c) Veterinarian collaboration required. All veterinarians within the City shall provide rabies records to the 
Animal Services Supervisor upon his or her request. The records provided must specify the animal 
owner’s first and last name, address, and phone number, the name and physical description of the 
animal, and the date the rabies vaccine was administered.  

(d)  License fees. Any person desiring to keep a dog over the age of four (4) months in the City, shall pay 
the City a license fee within thirty (30) days after acquiring such a dog or within thirty (30) days of an 
owned dog attaining the age of four (4) months. The license fee shall be established by resolution of 
City Council. Such fee shall be reduced by one-half (½) or more if a certificate is presented from a 
licensed veterinarian that the dog is spayed or neutered. Licenses of dogs over the age of four (4) 
months shall be renewed before or upon expiration of the current license. The license fee shall be 



delinquent if not paid on or before the due date. A penalty determined by resolution of City Council 
shall be added to the fee when the license is delinquent. All license terms issued shall not exceed the 
expiration date of the anti-rabies vaccination.  

Two and 50/100ths ($2.50) dollars for each unaltered male or female dog and one and 50/100ths 
($1.50) dollars for each altered male or female dog of the fees collected pursuant to the provisions of 
this subsection shall be deposited into an account for Rabies Treatment and Eradication, thus allowing 
Tracy Animal Services to provide discounted rabies vaccines. At the end of each fiscal year, any 
remaining amount of such fees may be transferred, by the order of Council, to the General Fund 
provided that sufficient funds remain to adequately carry out the administration of the Animal Shelter’s 
operations.  

(e)  Certificates of vaccination. A dog license shall not be issued unless the applicant shows Animal 
Services a valid certificate of canine anti-rabies vaccination, which certificate adequately describes the 
physical features of the dog, the date of vaccination, the type of vaccine used, and bears the signature 
of a licensed veterinarian.  

(f)  Type and frequency of vaccinations. The type of vaccine acceptable and the frequency of vaccination 
shall be determined by the Department of Public Health of the State.  

(g)  House-to-house checks. A house-to-house check may be conducted to locate dogs which are not 
vaccinated or licensed according to the provisions of this section to cause licenses to be taken and 
vaccinations to be given for such dogs.  

 (h) License tags. A suitable tag shall be furnished by the City to each owner who shall pay such license 
fee, which tag the owner shall attach and keep attached to a collar around the neck of such dog at all 
times. Such tag shall have legibly stamped thereon the registered number of the dog.  

(i)  Registration records. The City shall keep a record in which it shall register the number of such tags 
supplied to each of the owners of such dogs, a description of the dog, the period for which such tag 
was purchased, the amount received therefor, and the residence address of the owner thereof.  

(j)  Dogs not allowed at large. Such license shall entitle the owner of the dog for which such license is 
issued to keep such dog in the City during the term for which the license was issued; provided, 
however, such owner at all times shall keep such dog securely enclosed in a room, pen, or enclosure 
or shall keep such dog secured on a leash, and it shall be unlawful for any person at any time to have, 
own, or possess any dog within the City, whether the dog shall be licensed or not, unless such dog 
shall be kept so enclosed or on a leash.  

(k)  Impoundment of dogs at large. It is hereby made the duty of the Tracy Police Department to take and 
impound any dog so licensed and registered which may be found in the City, and also to take and 
impound any dog, whether licensed and registered or not, which may be found in the City if such dog 
is not enclosed or is not on a leash as provided in this section, or if the owner cannot be located to 
return the dog.   

(l)  Notices of impoundment. If any dog so taken or impounded shall be licensed or registered, and if such 
tag and number shall be upon the collar of such dog, the Tracy Police Department shall give a notice 
to the owner thereof within forty-eight (48) hours after such dog shall have been taken. Such notice 
shall state that the dog has been taken and impounded and that such dog will be disposed of or 
humanely euthanized as provided in this section. Such notice shall be served upon the owner by 
delivering the notice to such owner personally, or by leaving the notice with any person at the place of 
residence of the owner, as stated in the records of the City, or by posting the notice in a conspicuous 
place at the address of such owner, or by United States mail.  

(m)  Redemption of impounded dogs and cats. At any time within three (3) days after such notice shall 
have been so given, the owner or possessor of such licensed dog may redeem the dog by paying to 
the City a redemption fee and a boarding fee established by resolution of the Council. The owner or 
possessor of an unlicensed dog may redeem the dog by purchasing a license and paying to the City 
the same charges and fees set forth in this subsection. The owner or possessor of a cat may redeem 
the cat by paying to the City the same charges and fees set forth in this subsection. All dogs and cats 
not redeemed, as provided in this section, may be assigned to a third party provided the third party 



agrees to indemnify the City for incurred costs of care, and for the proper license fees, and for 
assignment fees, and further agrees to carry out the other provisions of this section, or the dog or cat 
may be humanely euthanized by the Animal Service Officer after five (5) business days of the 
impoundment of cat and unlicensed dogs and five (5) business days after proper notification of 
impoundment to the owners of licensed dogs.  

(n) Mandatory alteration for multiple impounds. Any unaltered dog or cat impounded three (3) or more
times from the same owner within the lifetime of the animal shall be spayed or neutered at the owner’s
expense prior to redemption. Animal Services shall provide the owner with notice of such
determination.  At the option of the owner, a private veterinarian may perform the spaying or neutering.
In the event the owner chooses to have a private veterinarian perform the spaying or neutering, the
owner must provide animal services with documentation showing that the animal was altered within
thirty (30 days) of such alteration.

(1) Hearing. In the event an owner wishes to challenge the mandatory alteration for multiple impounds,
the owner shall notify Animal Services in writing within ten (10) days after receiving notice from Animal
Services that the animal must be altered. A hearing shall be set within thirty (30) days of receiving
written notice from the owner, and written confirmation of the date, time, and place of the hearing shall
be provided to the owner at least (5) days before the hearing by personal delivery or mail. The Hearing
Officer, as defined in Section 1.12.030 of this Code, shall consider all relevant evidence presented at
the hearing. The formal rules of evidence shall not apply.

(2) Hearing Officer’s decision. Following the hearing and within fifteen (15) days of the hearing, the
Hearing Officer shall notify the owner in writing of his or her decision.

(o) Prohibition against adopting unaltered dogs or cats.

(1) The animal shelter shall not adopt any dog or cat which has not been spayed or neutered, unless
the dog or cat cannot be medically-cleared for surgery by a veterinarian. The fee for alteration
shall be determined by resolution of Council, and shall be comparable to the fee charged by
veterinarians in the locale.

(2) In the event a dog or cat is adopted unaltered because the dog or cat is not medically-cleared for
surgery at the time of adoption, once medically-cleared the adopter shall provide Animal Services
with written documentation that the dog or cat has been spayed or neutered within sixty (60) days
of the surgery.  Failure to comply with this section shall result in an administrative citation specified
in Chapter 1.28 of this Code.

(p) Prohibition against adopting dogs which have not been vaccinated for rabies: Deposits for costs of
rabies vaccination.

(1) The animal shelter shall not adopt any dog which has not been vaccinated for rabies, unless the
adopter obtains a rabies vaccination voucher from Animal Services. The fee for the voucher shall
be determined by resolution of Council, and shall be comparable to the fee charged by
veterinarians in the locale.

(2) Any dog four (4) months of age or younger at the time of adoption shall be vaccinated for rabies
within ten (10) days after attaining the age of four (4) months and prior to licensing. Any dog over
four (4) months of age at the time of adoption shall be vaccinated for rabies and licensed within
ten (10) days.

(Ord. 1040 § 5 Exh. E (part), 2002; prior code § 5-2.203) 

(Ord. No. 1159, § 12, 6-7-2011) 

5.08.140 - Animal Service Officer shall wear a badge. 



The Animal Services Officer shall wear, while engaged in the discharge of his or her duties, a badge 
designating his or her office, except that when any police officer acts as Animal Services Officer, his or 
her badge as such police officer shall be sufficient.  

(Ord. 1040 § 5, Exh. E (part), 2002: prior code § 5-2.204) 

5.08.150 - Interference with Animal Services Officer unlawful.  

It is unlawful for any person to resist or interfere with the Animal Services Officer in the discharge of 
his or her official duties or to in any way, directly or indirectly, remove any animal from the animal shelter 
without lawful authority.  

(Ord. 1040 § 5 Exh. E (part), 2002: prior code § 5-2.205) 

5.08.160 - Record of all animals entering animal shelter required to be kept. 

The Animal Services staff shall keep a record of every animal entering the animal shelter, setting 
forth a description thereof, the date and manner of disposition of the animal, whether notice was given to 
the owner and the date such notice was given, and the name of the person to whom adopted or 
transferred.  

(Ord. 1040 § 5 Exh. E (part), 2002: prior code § 5-2.206) 

5.08.170 - Burial of deceased animals.  

It is the duty of all persons owning or possessing a deceased animal to dispose of such animal within 
twenty-four (24) hours upon the animal dying. If the animal weighs twenty-five (25) pounds or under, the 
animal may be buried at the owner’s premises, and shall be buried at least one (1) foot underground. If 
the animal weighs more than twenty-five (25) pounds, the owner must bring the animal to the animal 
shelter or a licensed veterinarian for disposal.  

(Ord. 1040 § 5 Exh. E (part), 2002: prior code § 5-2.207) 

5.08.180 - Failure or refusal of owner to bury deceased animal. 

If any person fails or neglects to bury or otherwise dispose of any animal as provided for in this 
article, then in such case it shall be the duty of the Animal Services Officer to proceed forthwith to have 
the same disposed of, and it shall be lawful for the City to charge to and recover from the owner or 
possessor of such deceased animal the cost of disposal thereof; and such person who shall neglect or 
refuse to bury or dispose, or cause the burial or disposal of, any deceased animal as provided for in this 
article upon his premises or in any public place of which he or she is the owner or possessor, or pay the 
City the cost incurred in burying such deceased animal, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. In case the 
Animal Services Officer, after diligent search, cannot find the owner or possessor of any deceased 
animal, in this article referred to, the Animal Services Officer shall cause the same to be disposed of and 
the cost thereof shall be paid by the City.  

(Ord. 1040 § 5 Exh. E (part), 2002: prior code § 5-2.208) 

5.08.185. - Owner surrender of live animals.  



If an owner wishes to surrender an animal to the Animal Services Officer or Police Department, the 
owner shall pay the cost of surrendering the animal, in an amount established by resolution of the City 
Council.  

(Ord. No. 1159, § 13, 6-7-2011) 

5.08.190 - Council may contract.  

The Council may contract with the Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals or the County for 
the administration of this article and section 5.04.240 of article 3 of this chapter.  

(Prior code § 5-2.209) 

Article 3. - Other Than Household Pets  

5.08.200 - Declaration of council.  

The Council does hereby find and determine that the growth and development of the City for 
residential purposes has reached such a stage that the keeping of animals or poultry within the City, 
unless properly regulated as to location and sanitary conditions and as to certain animals unless definitely 
limited in number or entirely prohibited, is detrimental to public health, safety and general welfare and that 
the public interest requires that the Council prescribe the following rules and regulations with respect 
thereto set forth in this article.  

(Prior code § 5-2.301) 

5.08.210 - Definitions.  

(a)  Wherever the word "animals" is used herein, it shall be construed to include horses, ponies, mules, 
jacks, jennies, cows, bulls, calves, heifers, sheep, goats, swine, rabbits and all other domestic or 
domesticated animals other than household pets.  

(b)  "Poultry" shall be construed to include pigeons, chickens, ducks, geese, turkeys, and all other 
domestic or domesticated fowls other than household pets.  

(c)  "Household pets" shall be construed to include cats, dogs, canaries, parrots and other kindred animals 
and birds usually and ordinarily kept as household pets.  

(d)  "Dwelling" shall be construed to mean the main or principal dwelling located on the property of a 
person other than the keeper of the animals or poultry.  

(Prior code § 5-2.302) 

5.08.220 - Unsanitary conditions prohibited.  

It is hereby declared to be a nuisance and it shall be unlawful for any person to keep or permit to be 
kept upon any premises, any animals or poultry or household pets in a foul, offensive, obnoxious, filthy 
unsanitary or inhumane condition.  

(Ord. 1040 § 5 Exh. E (part), 2002: prior code § 5-2.303) 

5.08.230 - Animals at large.  



It is hereby declared to be a nuisance and it is unlawful for any person to allow or permit animals, 
poultry or household pets, to run at large upon any public street or place, or to trespass upon the property 
of another.  This section shall not apply to community cats, as described in Article 6 of this Chapter. 

(Ord. 1040 § 5 Exh. E (part), 2002: prior code § 5-2.304) 

5.08.240 - Impounding.  

The Chief of Police and all police officers and other persons employed to perform any of such duties 
are hereby authorized and empowered to take up and impound any animals or poultry running at large in 
violation of the provisions of this article, and to keep such animals or poultry confined at the animal 
shelter or at such other place as the Chief of Police may provide, for not less than three (3) days unless 
such animals or poultry be redeemed by the payment in the amount established by resolution of the City 
Council. Notices containing a description of the animals or poultry impounded shall be posted publicly for 
at least three (3) days.  

If after five (5) days the animals or poultry are not redeemed, the Chief of Police shall be deemed to 
have acquired jurisdiction over the animals or poultry and is hereby authorized to humanely euthanize, or 
to sell, or to otherwise dispose of them, and any proceeds derived therefrom shall accrue to the City, to 
be deposited in its general fund.  

(Prior code § 5-2.305)  

(Ord. No. 1159, § 14, 6-7-2011) 

5.08.250 - Unnecessary noise.  

It is hereby declared to be a nuisance and it shall be unlawful to keep, maintain, or permit on any lot 
or parcel of land, any animals, poultry or household pets, which by any sound or cry shall disturb the 
peace and comfort of any neighborhood or interfere with any person in the reasonable and comfortable 
enjoyment of life or property.  

(Prior code § 5-2.306) 

5.08.260 - Limitations—Rabbits and poultry.  

It is hereby declared to be a nuisance and it shall be unlawful to keep or permit to be kept, upon any 
premises in the City, any rabbits or poultry:  

(a)  Within twenty-five (25') feet of any dwelling, school, church, or hospital, or,  

(b)  If more than thirty (30) in all of any such rabbits or poultry are kept, within fifty (50’) feet of any 
dwelling, school, church or hospital.  

(c)  If more than 200 in all, of such rabbits or poultry, except by special permit of the Council first had 
and obtained, or to keep any rooster over four (4) months old within fifty (50') feet of any dwelling, 
school, church, or hospital. This provision limiting the maximum number of rabbits or poultry to 
200 in all shall not be retroactive or effective as to rabbit or poultry ranches actually in operation 
as to the effective date hereof, where the average number of rabbits or poultry ordinarily kept at 
any such establishment exceeds the number.  

(Prior code § 5-2.307) 

5.08.270 - Horses, calves, goats, pygmy goats, etc.  



It is hereby declared to be a nuisance and it shall be unlawful to keep or permit to be kept upon any 
premises in the City, any horse, mule, jack, jenny, cow, bull, calf, heifer, sheep, goat (except pygmy 
goats), swine, hog or pig (except pot belly pigs):  

(a)  On any lot containing less than 20,000 square feet; or  

(b)  In any corral or barn within seventy-five (75') feet of any dwelling.  

(Prior code § 5-2.308) 

5.08.280 - Hog manure.  

It is hereby declared to be a nuisance and it shall be unlawful to use hog manure as a fertilizer within 
the City limits, unless such hog manure is turned into the soil within twenty-four (24) hours after it is 
spread.  

(Prior code § 5-2.309) 

5.08.290 - Abandonment.  

Any cessation of operations of existing dairies, coupled with a change in the use of the premises for 
other purposes, shall be construed to be an abandonment of the premises for such original purpose.  

(Prior code § 5-2.310) 

5.08.300 - Maintenance of existing dairies.  

The provisions of this article shall not be retroactive so as to apply to dairies actually in operation on 
November 21, 1950. No extensions or additions shall be permitted to be made to any such dairies except 
such alterations or repairs as may be required to be made therein to fulfill any requirements of the San 
Joaquin Department of Environmental Health and in such event such alterations or repairs may be made 
only upon the express permission of the Council, issued upon written approval of the San Joaquin 
Department of Environmental Health stating the necessity therefor; and provided further, that no 
enlargement of any existing dairy shall be permitted by adding to the number of animals kept upon any 
premises in the City in connection with such use.  

(Ord. 1120 § 3, 2008: prior code § 5-2.311) 

5.08.310 - Riding academies.  

From and after November 21, 1950, no riding academies, clubs, or schools having horse, mule or 
pony corrals or barns in connection therewith, may be commenced, maintained or operated within the 
City, excepting upon special permit from the Council first had and obtained.  

(Prior code § 5-2.312) 

5.08.320 - Special permits—Public hearings.  

In the event that any person believes that unreasonable restrictions or unnecessary and 
extraordinary hardship or damage will be imposed upon him or her from the carrying out of the strict letter 
of any of the provisions of this article, he or she may request a hearing thereon before the Council, and, 
after a public hearing thereon held upon notice to claimant, if the Council finds that unreasonable 
restrictions, unnecessary and extraordinary hardship or damage will be imposed upon him or her, then 



any of the provisions or regulations hereby may be modified in harmony with the general purposes and 
objectives hereof to the end that the public health, safety and welfare of the people may be secured and 
substantial justice done.  

(Prior code § 5-2.313) 

5.08.330 - Pygmy goats and pot belly pigs.  

Pygmy goats and pot belly pigs shall be allowed to be kept within the corporate limits of the City. All 
such pygmy goats and pot belly pigs will require registration and licensing with the City's Animal Services 
Officer.  

(a)  The license fee for pygmy goats and pot belly pigs shall be determined by resolution of City 
Council.  

(b)  Such license shall entitle the owner of the pygmy goat/pot belly pig for which such license is 
issued to keep such pygmy goat/pot belly pig in the City during the term for which the license was 
issued; provided, however, such owner at all times shall keep such pygmy goat/pot belly pig 
securely enclosed in a room, pen, or enclosure or shall keep such pygmy goat/pot belly pig 
secured or on a leash.  

(c)  It shall be unlawful for any person at any time to have, own, or possess any pygmy goat/pot belly 
pig within the City, whether the pygmy goat/pot belly pig shall be licensed or not, unless such 
pygmy goat/pot belly pig shall be kept so enclosed or on a leash as provided in subsection (b) of 
this section.  

(d)  It shall be unlawful for any person to keep a pot belly pig greater than nineteen (19") inches at 
the shoulders or weighing more than 150 pounds.  

(e)  It shall be unlawful for more than two (2) pygmy goats/pot belly pigs to be kept at any dwelling, 
establishment or residence within the City.  

(Prior code § 5-2.314) 

Article 4. - Potentially Dangerous or Vicious Animals  

5.08.340 - Purpose.  

This article is intended to reduce the risk of serious attacks or bites by dogs and other animals. The 
provisions of this article set forth the procedures for finding an animal potentially dangerous or vicious and 
subjecting the animal to appropriate controls and enforcement actions. This article is intended to 
supplement rather than supplant any other remedies available under this Code or State law.  

(Ord. 1074 § 3 (part), 2005) 

5.08.350 - Definitions.  

(a)  "Animal Services Officer" means a City of Tracy Animal Services Officer, assistant, or the City 
Manager's designee.  

(b)  "Hearing Officer" means a person designated by the City Manager to conduct an administrative 
hearing. The designated Hearing Officer shall be an impartial person, such as:  

(1)  A City employee from a department or division other than the Police Department, Animal 
Services division, or Code Enforcement division; or  



(2)  Someone selected randomly from a panel of law students and/or local attorneys willing to 
volunteer as a Hearing Officer; or  

(3)  Someone hired from an organization which provides Hearing Officers, in which case the cost will 
be shared equally by the City and the person cited.  

(c)  "Owner" of an animal shall include a keeper, custodian, handler, or a person having immediate control 
of the animal.  

(d)  "Potentially dangerous" describes an animal meeting any of the following criteria:  

(1)  Any animal which, when unprovoked, on two (2) separate occasions within the prior thirty-six 
(36) months, engages in aggressive behavior including, but not limited to growling, barking, 
chasing, lunging, and behaving in a manner that requires a defensive action by a person to 
prevent bodily injury when the animal is off the property of the owner of the animal;  

(2)  Any animal which, when unprovoked, bites a person inflicting a less severe injury than that 
defined in subsection (e) of this section;  

(3)  Any animal which, when unprovoked, has killed, seriously bitten, inflicted injury, or otherwise 
caused injury attacking a domestic animal off the property of the owner of the animal.  

(e)  "Severe injury" means any physical injury to a human being that results in muscle tear or disfiguring 
lacerations or requires multiple sutures or corrective or cosmetic surgery.  

(f)  "Vicious" describes an animal meeting any of the following criteria:  

(1)  Any animal which, when unprovoked, inflicts severe injury on or kills a human being;  

(2)  Any animal previously determined to be a potentially dangerous animal which, within thirty-six 
(36) months after its owner has been notified of this determination, engages in any of the 
behaviors described in subsection (d) of this section;  

(3)  Any dog seized under section 599aa of the California Penal Code and upon the sustaining of a 
conviction of the owner or keeper under subdivision (a) of section 597.5 of the California Penal 
Code;  

(4)  Any potentially dangerous animal for which the owner has violated any provision of the Animal 
Services Officer's order or, if applicable, any provision of the Hearing Officer's order under section 
5.08.380 of this article.  

(Ord. 1111 § 4 Exh. A (part), 2007: Ord. 1074 § 3 (part), 2005) 

5.08.360 - Determination of potentially dangerous animals and possible actions.  

(a)  Any animal that the Animal Services Officer believes to be potentially dangerous shall be impounded 
by or surrendered to the Animal Services Officer, or quarantined upon the owner's property in an 
approved enclosure, as directed by the Animal Services Officer.  

(b)  The Animal Services Officer shall take the severity of the injury and the number of attacks and the 
circumstances into consideration in making his or her determination. If the Animal Services Officer 
determines an animal to be potentially dangerous, he or she may take any of the following actions or 
a combination thereof:  

(1)  Take no further action against the animal and its owner;  

(2)  Order that the animal be put on a leash not to exceed six (6') feet long whenever accessible to 
public and/or be securely tied or chained and cage muzzled as ordered by the Animal Services 
Officer;  

(3)  Order that the owner of such animal shall immediately keep such animal in a run which is totally 
enclosed or held securely on a chain, or kept under other adequate control as approved by the 
Animal Services Officer. Or, if any of these means of restraint is impossible or impracticable, order 



that such animal shall be impounded in the animal shelter facility at the owner's expense, until 
such time as the owner of such animal shall provide for the restraint of the animal either in a run 
which is totally enclosed or held securely on a chain or kept under other adequate control as 
approved by the Animal Services Officer;  

(4) Order that the animal be spayed or neutered, at the owner's expense, within thirty (30) days of
the potentially dangerous animal determination;

(5) Order that the owner or possessor of the animal and the animal attend at least one, eight-week
training course, acceptable to the Animal Services Officer, on dog obedience;

(6) Order that the owner or possessor of the animal display a sign advising of the presence of a
dangerous or potentially dangerous animal at the entrance to every place wherein any such
animal is confined. The sign shall be capable of being understood by a child. The cost of the sign
shall be the responsibility of the owner of the animal, and must be approved by the Animal
Services Officer;

(7) Order that the owner or possessor of the animal purchase a dangerous dog permit from Animal
Services, the fee of which shall be established by resolution of City Council;

(8) Order that the owner or possessor of the animal notify Animal Services and complete a declaration
with Animal Services prior to any change in location of the animal or new ownership of the animal
at least thirty (30) days prior to any such change. Animal Services shall have the discretion to
require that the owner or possessor of the animal comply with certain conditions prior to any
change in location of the animal or new ownership of the animal;

(9) Order any other appropriate reasonable action; and

(10) In addition to any of the above, the Animal Services Officer may order the owner to reimburse
the City for the cost of maintaining the animal, if applicable.

(c) The Animal Services Officer, or his or her designee, is authorized to make whatever inspections he
or she deems necessary to ensure compliance with this chapter, the provisions of his or her order and,
if such order is appealed, any order the Hearing Officer may issue under section 5.08.380 of this article. 

(d) The Animal Services Officer shall notify the owner of the animal in writing of his or her determination
as well as the owner's right to appeal the officer's decision within five (5) business days, either in
person or by first class mail with return receipt requested.

(e) If an animal has been determined to be potentially dangerous under this section, the owner may
appeal such determination and any order resulting therefrom to the City Manager, under section
1.12.010 of this Code.

(f) It is unlawful to violate the terms of the Animal Services Officer's order or, if applicable, any order of
the Hearing Officer issues under section 5.08.380.

(Ord. 1111 § 4 Exh. A (part), 2007: Ord. 1074 § 3 (part), 2005) 

5.08.370 - Determination of vicious animals and possible actions.  

(a) Any animal that the Animal Services Officer believes to be vicious shall immediately be impounded
by or surrendered to the Animal Services Officer.

(b) The Animal Services Officer shall take the severity of the injury and the number of attacks and the
circumstances into consideration in making his or her determination. If the Animal Services Officer
determines an animal to be vicious, he or she may take any of the following actions or a combination
thereof:



(1)  Require that the animal be permanently removed from the City;  

(2)  Order that the animal be spayed or neutered, at the owner's expense, within thirty (30) days of 
the vicious animal determination;  

(3)  Order that the owner or possessor of the animal and the animal attend at least one, eight-week 
training course, acceptable to the Animal Services Officer, on dog obedience;  

(4)  Order that the owner or the custodian will lose all rights of ownership and control of the animal;  

(5)  Order the owner or possessor of the animal to surrender the animal to the Animal Services Officer 
for destruction;  

(6)  Order that the owner may not own or possess any dog or other animal weighing in excess of five 
(5 lbs.) pounds for a thirty-six-month period;  

(7) Order that the owner or possessor of the animal purchase a vicious dog permit from Animal 
Services, the fee of which shall be established by resolution of City Council; and 

(8)  Order the owner to reimburse the City for the cost of maintaining the animal, if applicable.  

(c)  Before allowing a person to keep a vicious animal, the Animal Services Officer shall find all of the 
following:  

(1)  That allowing such will not result in any detriment or danger to the peace, health or safety of the 
people in the vicinity of the location the animal will be kept;  

(2)  That possession and maintenance of the animal at the location has not resulted in and is not 
likely to result in the animal being subjected to neglect, suffering, cruelty or abuse;  

(3)  The location where the animal is possessed or maintained is kept clean and sanitary, and the 
animal is provided with proper and adequate food, water, ventilation, shelter and care at all times;  

(4)  Possession of the animal at the location shall not violate any law, code, or regulation; and  

(5)  The animal will not be possessed or maintained at any other location than that specified in the 
order.  

(d)  The Animal Services Officer, or his or her designee, is authorized to make whatever inspections he 
or she deems necessary to ensure compliance with this chapter, the provisions of his or her order and, 
if such order is appealed, any order the Hearing Officer may issue under section 5.08.380 of this 
chapter.  

(e)  The Animal Services Officer shall notify the owner of the animal in writing of his or her determination, 
and the basis therefor, as well as the owner's right to appeal the officer's decision within five (5) 
business days, either in person or by first class mail with return receipt requested.  

(f)  If an animal has been determined to be vicious under this section, the owner may appeal such a 
determination and any order resulting therefrom to the City Manager under section 1.12.010 of this 
Code.  

(g)  It is unlawful to violate the terms of the Animal Services Officer's order or, if applicable, any order of 
the Hearing Officer issues under section 5.08.380.  

(Ord. 1111 § 4 Exh. A (part), 2007: Ord. 1074 § 3 (part), 2005) 

5.08.380 - Hearing.  

(a)  The Hearing Officer shall hold a hearing within ten (10) days, not including weekends or holidays, 
after receipt of the request if the animal has been surrendered to or impounded by the Animal Services 
Officer. Where the animal has not been surrendered to or impounded by the Animal Services Officer, 
the Hearing Officer shall promptly set a time and place for the hearing and shall cause notice of the 
hearing to be personally delivered to the owner or deposited in the mail.  



(b)  Prior to taking evidence on whether an animal is potentially dangerous or vicious at the hearing, any 
person designated to serve as a Hearing Officer is subject to disqualification for bias, prejudice, interest 
or for any other reason for which a judge may be disqualified in a court of law. If a Hearing Officer is 
so disqualified, a new Hearing Officer shall be designated and the new Hearing Officer shall promptly 
set a time and place for the hearing and shall cause notice of the hearing to be personally delivered 
to the owner or deposited in the mail.  

(c)  The Hearing Officer may continue hearings, based on good cause, as established by one of the parties 
to the hearing or if the Hearing Officer independently determines that due process has not been 
adequately afforded.  

(d)  The Hearing Officer shall consider all relevant evidence presented at the hearing. The formal rules of 
evidence shall not apply. The Hearing Officer shall also consider circumstances of mitigation including, 
but not limited to, the owner's and animal's history with animal services, the age of any attacked 
persons and any legal training of the animal in the use of deadly force.  

(e)  If the hearing is based on a complaint, the Hearing Officer may find that failure of the complainant to 
appear and testify at the hearing makes that complaint less credible.  

(f)  Before allowing a person to keep a vicious animal, the Hearing Officer shall find all of the following:  

(1)  That allowing such will not result in any detriment or danger to the peace, health or safety of the 
people in the vicinity of the location the animal will be kept;  

(2)  That possession and maintenance of the animal at the location has not resulted in and is not 
likely to result in the animal being subjected to neglect, suffering, cruelty or abuse;  

(3)  The location where the animal is possessed or maintained is kept clean and sanitary, and the 
animal is provided with proper and adequate food, water, ventilation, shelter and care at all times;  

(4)  Possession of the animal at the location shall not violate any law, code, or regulation; and  

(5)  The animal will not be possessed or maintained at any other location than that specified in the 
order.  

(g)  The Hearing Officer may uphold, modify or dismiss the determination of the Animal Services Officer 
on the basis of evidence produced at the hearing. Subsequently, the Hearing Officer shall give written 
notice of his or her decision by first class or registered mail sent within fifteen (15) days of the hearing 
to the owner.  

(h)  If the owner or keeper of the animal contests the Hearing Officer's decision, he or she may, within ten 
(10) days of the mailing of the Hearing Officer's notice of decision, appeal the decision of the Hearing 
Officer directly to the Superior Court in and for San Joaquin County at the courthouse with jurisdiction 
to hear such matters located closest to the City of Tracy. The owner or keeper of the animal shall serve 
personally or by first class return receipt mail, notice of the appeal to the City Clerk's within three (3) 
days of filing same with the court. Any such appeal shall be by trial de novo. Failure to timely file such 
an appeal or properly serve notice of same on the City will result in the Hearing Officer's decision being 
final.  

(i)  The determination of the court hearing the appeal shall be final and conclusive upon all parties.  

(Ord. 1074 § 3 (part), 2005) 

5.08.390 - Control of vicious animals.  

(a)  If the Animal Services Officer, Hearing Officer, or court allows a person to own or have custody of an 
animal determined to be vicious, the animal shall be kept securely confined indoors or in a securely 
enclosed escape-proof locked kennel or pen other than when on a leash as described in subsection 
(b) of this section. Such kennel, pen or structure must have secure sides and a secure top attached 
thereto. The kennel or pen shall be constructed in a manner so that it cannot be broken down by any 
action of the confined animal. All structures used for confinement of vicious animals must be locked 



with a key or combination lock of sufficient strength to ensure confinement of the animal. Such 
structures must be erected upon a secure bottom or floor constructed of concrete or other material 
sufficient to prevent the animal from digging free. Vicious animals enclosed in a house, apartment, 
building or similar structure shall be allowed only where the windows and doors of such structure are 
secured to prevent the animal from exiting without the assistance of the owner or person with the right 
to control such animal.  

(b)  A vicious animal may be permitted off the owner's premises only when it is secured with a cage muzzle 
and is leashed on a leash not to exceed three (3') feet in length and under the control of a person 
eighteen (18) years of age or older, who is physically capable of restraining the animal. This leash 
must be capable of restraining four (4) times the weight of the animal. Moreover, the leash must be 
attached to a prong collar (commonly called a "pinch collar") of a type and fit acceptable and approved 
in advance by the Animal Services Officer. Vicious animals shall not be leashed or tethered at any 
time to inanimate objects such as trees, posts, or buildings. The muzzling device for vicious animals 
must be constructed so that it is impossible for the animal to remove it without human assistance.  

(c)  A sign advising of the presence of a vicious dog or animal shall be posted at the entrance to every 
place wherein any such vicious dog or animal is confined. The sign shall be capable of being 
understood by a child. The cost of the sign shall be the responsibility of the owner of the animal, and 
must be approved by the Animal Services Officer. 

(d)  Transportation of a vicious animal shall only be in locked animal carriers equivalent in construction 
quality to those used by commercial air carriers. Moreover, a vicious animal shall not be left unattended 
or loose in or about any motor vehicle.  

(e)  Upon any violation of this chapter, or a violation of any nonappealable order under this chapter, that 
is observed by the Animal Services Officer, or sworn to in a written affidavit from a complaining party, 
the Animal Services Officer shall issue an order for the owner or possessor of the vicious animal to 
surrender the vicious animal to the Animal Services Officer for destruction. This order shall be subject 
to the appeal provisions set forth in this chapter.  

(f)  The owner must notify Animal Services prior to any change in location of the animal or new ownership 
at least thirty (30) days prior to such change.  

(Ord. 1074 § 3 (part), 2005) 

5.08.400 - Exceptions.  

(a)  No animal may be declared potentially dangerous or vicious based only on any injury or damage 
sustained by a person who, at the time the injury or damage was sustained, was committing a willful 
trespass or other tort upon the animal possessor's or owner's premises, or the injured party was 
tormenting, abusing, or assaulting the animal, or was committing or attempting to commit a crime. No 
animal may be declared potentially dangerous or vicious based only on the animal protecting or 
defending a person within the immediate vicinity of the animal from an unjustified attack or assault. No 
animal may be declared potentially dangerous or vicious based only on an injury or damage sustained 
by a domestic animal which at the time of the injury or damage was sustained was tormenting, abusing 
or assaulting the animal.  

(b)  No animal may be declared potentially dangerous or vicious based only on an injury or damage to a 
domestic animal sustained while the animal was working as a hunting dog, herding dog, or predator 
control dog on the property of, or under the control of, its owner, and the damage or injury was to a 
species or type of domestic animal appropriate to the work of the dog.  

(c)  This article does not apply to Humane Society shelters, City Animal Services facilities, or to dogs while 
utilized by any Police Department or any Law Enforcement Officer in the performance of police work; 
guide dogs for the blind or deaf while performing their duties; dogs participating in field or obedience 
trials or conformation exhibitions; dogs assisting their owner in legal hunting activities or in the herding 
of livestock.  



(Ord. 1074 § 3 (part), 2005) 

Article 5. - Limitations on Number of Dogs and Cats  

5.08.410 - Number limited; multiple pet permit required.  

It shall be unlawful to own, keep or harbor more than three (3) adult dogs and/or three (3) adult cats 
at the same residence without first obtaining a multiple pet permit. For purposes of this section a cat or 
dog is considered to be an adult at four (4) months of age.  

(Ord. No. 1133, l § 1, 3-3-2009) 

5.08.420 - Application for multiple pet permit; fee’s, investigation.  

(a)  Any person who desires to keep more than three (3) dogs and/or three (3) cats at any single residence 
in the City must apply to Animal Services for a multiple pet permit. A multiple pet permit shall be 
effective for five (5) years and must be renewed upon expiration. 

(b)  The application must be made on a form provided by Animal Services and there shall be paid a 
nonrefundable application fee, the amount of which shall be set by Council resolution, and revised 
from time to time, in an amount sufficient to recover the costs of administering the multiple pet permit 
program.  

(c)  The application shall identify the owner by name, address and telephone number, the animals by 
name, breed, age, sex and for dogs, City of Tracy License Number.  

(d)  Upon receipt of the application and application fee, Animal Services shall serve notice of application 
and comment cards to neighboring property owners within a 100-foot radius of the applicant's 
residence.  

(e)  An Animal Services Officer shall inspect the applicant's property to determine if the size and condition 
of the property is adequate for keeping additional animals, and whether the manner of keeping the 
additional animals may violate any of the provisions of this chapter or of State or Federal law.  

(f) An Animal Services Officer shall investigate whether there have been previous complaints regarding 
animals involving the applicant in accordance with Section 5.08.430(c). 

(Ord. No. 1133, l § 1, 3-3-2009) 

5.08.430 - Application review.  

(a)  Issuance of a multiple pet permit is at the sole discretion of the Police Chief or designee, based on 
the criteria set forth in this section.  

(b)  At no time shall a permit be granted allowing more than five (5) dogs and/or five (5) cats. For the 
purposes of title 10 of this Code, the number of permitted dogs or cats allowed pursuant to the permit 
process set forth in this article shall not be counted in determining whether the residence meets the 
definition of "kennel".  

(c)  Permits shall not be granted when credible complaints exist regarding animals, kept at the applicant's 
current or previous residence, causing excessive noise, being overly aggressive, or running at large. 
The investigating Animal Services Officer shall determine the credibility of such complaints based on 
a preponderance of evidence standard.  

(d)  Permits shall not be granted when, in the discretion of the investigating Animal Services Officer, the 
condition of the residence is unsuitable for the health or proper containment of dogs or cats.  



(e)  Permits shall not be granted if neighboring property owners or persons in lawful possession of such 
neighboring properties provide credible testimony that the existing animals at the applicant's residence 
cause excessive noise, are overly aggressive, or have been found running at large. The investigating 
Animal Services Officer shall determine the credibility of such testimony based on a preponderance of 
evidence standard.  

(f)  Permits shall not be granted when, in the discretion of the investigating Animal Services Officer, 
additional animals may cause unreasonable noise, aggression, or sanitation issues.  

(g)  Permits shall be granted or denied within sixty (60) days of the Animal Services Division's receipt of 
a complete and accurate application, application fee and if approved, a permit fee.  

(h)  Denials of an application may be appealed to the City Manager, or designee, following the procedures 
set forth under section 1.12.010 of this Code.  

(Ord. No. 1133, l § 1, 3-3-2009) 

5.08.440 - Revocation of multiple pet permit.  

(a)  The permit may be revoked at any time by Animal Services when credible complaints on the keeping 
of additional animals are received or the applicant has provided false information on application. The 
investigating Animal Services Officer shall determine the credibility of such complaints based on a 
preponderance of evidence standard.  

(b)  Revocations may be appealed to the City Manager, or designee, following the procedures set forth 
under section 1.12.010 of this Code.  

(Ord. No. 1133, l § 1, 3-3-2009)  

Article 6. - Community cats 

5.08.450 - Definitions. 

(a)  “Community cat” is any free roaming cat that is cared for by a registered community cat caregiver; a 
community cat may or may not be feral.  Community cats are exempt from any licensing requirements 
required under this Chapter. 

(b)  “Community cat caregiver” is a person who registers with Animal Services as a community cat 
caregiver to provide food to community cats.  A community cat caregiver is not the owner of a 
community cat.   

5.08.460 - Community cat caregiver. 

It shall be unlawful for any person within the City of Tracy to intentionally provide food, water, or 
other forms of sustenance to a community cat, unless the person registers as a community cat caregiver 
with Animal Services.  Animal Services may impose certain conditions and requirements for a person to 
register as a community cat caregiver.   

Article 7. - Breeder certificates 

5.08.470 – Definitions. 

(a)   The term “breeder certificate” shall mean a written authorization issued by Animal Services giving the 
holder of the certificate permission to breed one (1) litter per year per designated animal.   



(b)   The term “breeder certificate holder” means the individual who applies for and obtains a breeder 
certificate from Animal Services. 

5.08.480 – Breeder certificate requirements. 

(a)   A breeder certificate shall be effective for a period of one (year).  Upon application and issuance of a 
breeder certificate, Animal Services will provide a breeder certificate number.  The designated animal 
must be licensed pursuant to Section 5.08.130 of this Chapter.  The fee for a breeder certificate shall 
be established by resolution of City Council. 

(b)   Any breeder certificate holder who advertises to the public the availability of any dog or cat for sale, 
adoption, or transfer, whether for compensation or otherwise, must prominently display the breeder 
certificate number on any such advertisement.  Further, the breeder certificate holder must provide the 
breeder certificate number on any receipt of sale or transfer document to any person who purchases, 
adopts, or receives any animal from the breeder certificate holder. 

(c)   A breeder certificate holder may not sell, adopt, or transfer, whether for compensation or otherwise, 
any animal until it has reached the age of at least seven (7) weeks and has received its first 
immunization. 

(d)   The following animals are exempt from the breeder certificate requirements: 

(1)  Dogs appropriately trained and actively used by law enforcement agencies for law 
enforcement and rescue activities; 

(2) Animals under the care of governmental agencies or Animal Services; 

(3) Dogs documented as guide, signal, or service dogs; 

(4) Dogs documented and enrolled in a guide, signal, or service dog breeding program; 

(5) Dogs and cats under the care of valid 501(c)(3) animal rescue organizations at the 
discretion of Animal Services; 

(6) Dogs and cats under the care of humane societies or societies for the prevention of cruelty 
to animals at the discretion of Animal Services; and 

(7) When a veterinarian has determined that spaying or neutering is inappropriate due to the 
animal’s age or health. 

Article 8. – Mandatory Microchipping for dogs and cats 

5.08.490 – Requirements. 

(a)   All dogs and cats over the age of four (4) months and kept within City limits for a period of sixty (60) 
days or longer must be implanted with an identifying microchip. The owner or custodian of the dog or 
cat shall provide the microchip number to Animal Services within thirty (30) days of the microchipping 
procedure.  

(b)  If a dog or cat is adopted from the animal shelter and is not microchipped, the new owner shall provide 
Animal Services with documentation that the dog or cat has been microchipped within thirty (30) days 
of the date the dog or cat is adopted.  

(c)   If a microchipped dog or cat is sold, adopted, or transferred, the new owner shall provide Animal 
Services with his or her current address and contact information.   

5.08.500 – Exemptions. 



(a) This article does not require that a dog or cat be microchipped if a licensed veterinarian certifies in
writing to Animal Services that the dog or cat is medically unfit for the microchipping procedure.

(b) This article does not require a dog or cat be microchipped in the event doing so would impose an
economic hardship for the owner. Animal Services may require the owner to sign an economic
hardship form.



Teamshelterusa.com 

Attachment C  

teamshelter usa

ANIMAL CONTROL AND 

SHELTERING ASSESSMENT 

City of Tracy, California 

Sara Pizano, DVM, MA 
Animal Welfare Strategist and Veterinarian 























































































































































































May 18, 2021 

AGENDA ITEM 3.D 

REQUEST 

APPOINT ONE APPLICANT TO SERVE ON THE MEASURE V RESIDENTS’ OVERSIGHT 
COMMITTEE FROM ELIGIBILITY LIST  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The City Clerk’s office received a resignation from Measure V Residents’ Oversight 
Committee member Allan Borwick effective April 21, 2021.  An eligibility list was created 
during the last Measure V Residents’ Oversight Committee recruitment in October 20, 2020. 
Council confirmation of the appointment from the eligibility list to the Measure V Residents’ 
Oversight Committee is requested. As an alternative, Council can direct staff to open a new 
recruitment. 

DISCUSSION 

On April 21, 2021, the City Clerk’s office received the resignation from Measure V 
Residents’ Oversight Committee member Allan Borwick.  The last time an appointment 
was made to the Measure V Residents’ Oversight Committee was October 20, 2020.  At 
that time, the subcommittee consisting of then-Mayor Pro Tem Young and then-Mayor 
Rickman nominated one applicant to fill a vacancy on the Measure V Residents’ Oversight 
Committee and recommended one applicant be placed on an eligibility list. 

Resolution No. 2020-009 (Attachment A), established the Council’s policy on the 
“Selections Process for Appointee Bodies.”  It states that if there are multiple qualified 
candidates, the subcommittee can recommend the Council establish an eligibility list that 
can be used to fill vacancies that might occur in the following 12 months.  On October 20, 
2020, Council confirmed the subcommittee’s nomination and the creation of an eligibility 
list for the Measure V Residents’ Oversight Committee. 

At this time, Council can either appoint Tai’Rance Kelly from the eligibility list to the Measure 
V Residents’ Oversight Committee to serve the remainder of an unexpired term commencing 
on May 19, 2021, and ending February 28, 2022, or direct staff to open a new recruitment. 

STRATEGIC PLAN 

This item is a routine operational item and does not relate to any of the Council’s Strategic 
Plans. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact associated with this discussion item. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council, by motion, approve the subcommittee’s recommendations to appoint 
Tai’Rance Kelly to the Measure V Resident Oversight Committee to serve the remainder 
of the term, beginning May 19, 2021 to February 28, 2022, or direct staff to open a new 
recruitment. 



Agenda Item 3.D 
May 18, 2021 
Page 2 

Prepared by: Necy Lopez, Deputy City Clerk 

Reviewed by: Midori Lichtwardt, Assistant City Manager 

Approved by: Jenny Haruyama, City Manager 

ATTACHMENT: 

Attachment A: Resolution 2020-009 



Agenda Item 
May 18, 2021 
Page 3 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
 
 

RESOLUTION 2020-009 
 

ADOPTING A COUNCIL POLICY ESTABLISHING A SELECTION PROCESS FOR 
APPOINTMENTS TO CITY ADVISORY BODIES AND REPEALING RESOLUTION NO. 

2004-089 AND RESOLUTION NO. 2004-152 
 

WHEREAS, In March 2004, the Tracy City Council adopted Resolution No. 2004- 
089 establishing a policy for the selection process and defining residency requirements 
for appointee bodies ("Policy") in accordance with Government Code sections 54970 et 
seq. that was last amended in May 2004, via Resolution No. 2004-152; 

 
WHEREAS, The current policy states that the Mayor (or designee) and a 

selected Council member shall serve on a selection subcommittee to review applications 
to serve on an advisory body, interview applicants, and make a recommendation to the 
full Council on a candidate for appointment to an advisory body, 

 
WHEREAS, In practice, Council appoints any two Council members to a 

subcommittee to review applications and interview applicants for an appointment to an 
advisory body, and 

 
WHEREAS, Council wishes to amend the policy to accurately reflect its current 

practice. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Tracy hereby adopts the 
Council Policy Establishing a Selection Process for Appointments to City Advisory 
Bodies, attached as Exhibit A, and thereby repeals and supersedes Resolution No. 
2004-089, and Resolution No. 2004-152. 

 
********** 

The foregoing Resolution 2020-009 was passed and adopted by the Tracy 
City Council on the 21st day of January, 2020, by the following vote: 

 
AYES: COUNCIL MEMBERS: ARRIOLA, RANSOM, VARGAS, YOUNG, RICKMAN 
NOES: COUNCIL MEMBERS: NONE 
ABSENT: COUNCIL MEMBERS: NONE 
ABSTAIN: COUNCIL MEMBERS: NONE 

( 

 

 

MAYOR 
 
 



Agenda Item 
May 18, 2021 
Page 4 
 

COUNCIL POLICY ESTABLISHING A SELECTION PROCESS FOR APPOINTMENTS TO 
CITY ADVISORY BODIES 

(Exhibit "A" to Resolution No. 2020-009) 
 
 

SECTION 1: PURPOSE 
 

To establish a selection process for appointments to City advisory bodies including defining 
residency requirements, in accordance with Government Code sections 54970 et seq. 

 

SECTION 2: SELECTION PROCESS FOR APPOINTEE BODIES 
 

A. On or before December 31st of each year, the City Clerk shall prepare an appointment list of 
all regular and ongoing boards, commissions and committees that are appointed by the City 
Council of the City of Tracy. The list shall contain the following information: 

 
1. A list of all appointee terms which will expire during the next calendar year, with the 

name of the incumbent appointee, the date of the appointment, the date the term 
expires and the necessary qualifications for the position. 

 
2. A list of all boards, commissions and committees whose members serve at the pleasure 

of the Council and the necessary qualifications of each position. 
 

3. The list of appointments shall be made available to the public for a reasonable fee that 
shall not exceed actual cost of production. The Tracy Public Library shall receive a 
copy of the list. 

 
B. Whenever a vacancy occurs in any board, commission or committee, whether due to 

expiration of an appointee's term, resignation, death, termination or other causes, a special 
notice shall be posted in the office of the City Clerk, The Tracy Public Library, the City 
website, and in other places as directed within twenty (20) days after the vacancy occurs. 
Final appointment to the board, commission or committee shall not be made by the City 
Council for at least ten (10) working days after the posting of the notice in the Clerk's office. 
If Council finds an emergency exists, the Council may fill the unscheduled vacancy 
immediately. 

 
C. Appointments shall be made for the remainder of the term created by the vacancy except as 

follows: 
 

1. If appointee will fill an un-expired term with six months or less remaining, the 
appointment shall be deemed to be for the new term. 

 
2. If the vacancy is filled by an emergency appointment the appointee shall serve only on 

an acting basis until the final appointment is made pursuant to section 2. 
 

D. The Council shall use the following selection process to provide an equal opportunity for 
appointment to a board, commission or committee: 

 
1 



Agenda Item 
May 18, 2021 
Page 5 
 

1. Council shall appoint two Council members to serve on a subcommittee to review 
applications, interview applicants and recommend a candidate for appointment to the 
board, commission or committee. 

 
2. If the Council subcommittee determines there are multiple qualified candidates, the 

subcommittee can recommend the Council establish an eligibility list that can be used to 
fill vacancies that occur in the following twelve (12) months. 

 
3. At the Council subcommittee's discretion, the chair (or designee) of the board, 

committee or commission for which a member will be appointed, can participate in the 
interviews. 

 
E. In the event there are not two or more applicants than vacancies on any board, commission 

or committee, the filing deadline may be extended by the City Clerk. 
 
F. An individual already serving on a City of Tracy board, committee or commission may not be 

appointed to serve on an additional City of Tracy board, committee, or commission 
concurrently. 

 
SECTION 3: DEFINITION OF RESIDENCY REQUIREMENTS 

 

A. The following definitions shall be used to determine whether residency requirements are met 
for boards and commissions to which the Tracy City Council appoints members: 

 
1. Tracy Planning Area means the geographical area defined in the City of Tracy General 

Plan and any amendments thereto. 
 

2. City of Tracy means within the city limits of the City of Tracy. 
 

3. Citizen means a resident of the City of Tracy. 
 

4. Tracy School District means the geographical area served by the Tracy Unified School 
District. 

 
5. Sphere of Influence shall be the geographical area approved by the Local Agency 

Formation Commission (LAFCo) of San Joaquin County and any amendments thereto. 
 
B. Residency, as defined above and as set forth in the applicable bylaws for each board or 

commission, shall be verified annually by the City Clerk. The residency must be verifiable 
by any of the following means: 

 
1. Voter registration, 

 
2. Current California Driver's License or Identification, 

 
 

2 



Agenda Item 
May 18, 2021 
Page 6 
 

3. Utility bill information (phone, water, cable, etc.), 
 

4. Federal or State tax returns. 
 

C. Members of boards or commissions shall notify the City Clerk in writing within thirty (30) 
days of any change in residency. If the change in residency results in the board member or 
commissioner no longer meeting the residency requirements, the member shall tender their 
resignation to the City Clerk who shall forward it to the City Council. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 



May 18, 2021 

AGENDA ITEM 3.E 

REQUEST 

APPOINT THREE APPLICANTS TO SERVE ON THE CITY OF TRACY 
TRANSPORTATION ADVISORY COMMISSION 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

On April 30, 2021, the terms of three of the members of the Transportation Advisory 
Commission expired.  A recruitment was conducted and appointments need to be made 
to fill those positions. 

DISCUSSION 

On April 30, 2021, the terms of three of the City of Tracy Transportation Advisory 
Commissioners expired. To fill the vacancies, the City Clerk’s office conducted a 
recruitment beginning on April 12, 2021 ending on May 3, 2021 during which eight 
applications were received.  

On May 5, 2021, a Council subcommittee consisting of Council Member Mateo Bedolla 
and Council Member Eleassia Davis interviewed seven applicants; one applicant 
withdrew his application, for the City of Tracy Transportation Advisory Commission. In
accordance with Resolution No. 2020-009, the Council subcommittee will recommend 
candidates for appointment to the City of Tracy Transportation Advisory Commission. 

STRATEGIC PLAN 

This item is a routine operational item and does not relate to any of the Council’s Strategic 
Plans. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

There is no fiscal impact. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That Council, by motion, approve the subcommittee’s recommendations and 
reappoint Gary Cooper, Rajnish Khanna, and appoint Sharanjit Dhillon to the City of
Tracy Transportation Advisory Commission to serve a 4-year term beginning May 19, 
2021 and ending April 30, 2025. The following candidates were placed on the 12-month 
eligibility list: 1) Nicholas Sese, (2) William Muetzenberg, (3) Manjit Ghuman, and (4) 
Raj Dhillon. 

Prepared by:   Necy Lopez, Deputy City Clerk 
Reviewed by:  Adrianne Richardson, City Clerk 

   Midori Lichtwardt, Assistant City Manager 
Approved by:  Jenny Haruyama, City Manager 

Attachment A: Resolution 2020-009 



RESOLUTION 2020- 009

ADOPTING A COUNCIL POLICY ESTABLISHING A SELECTION PROCESS FOR

APPOINTMENTS TO CITY ADVISORY BODIES AND REPEALING RESOLUTION NO. 

2004- 089 AND RESOLUTION NO. 2004- 152

WHEREAS, In March 2004, the Tracy City Council adopted Resolution No. 2004- 
089 establishing a policy for the selection process and defining residency requirements
for appointee bodies (" Policy") in accordance with Government Code sections 54970 et

seq. that was last amended in May 2004, via Resolution No. 2004- 152; 

WHEREAS, The current policy states that the Mayor (or designee) and a
selected Council member shall serve on a selection subcommittee to review applications

to serve on an advisory body, interview applicants, and make a recommendation to the
full Council on a candidate for appointment to an advisory body, 

WHEREAS, In practice, Council appoints any two Council members to a
subcommittee to review applications and interview applicants for an appointment to an

advisory body, and

WHEREAS, Council wishes to amend the policy to accurately reflect its current
practice. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Tracy hereby adopts the
Council Policy Establishing a Selection Process for Appointments to City Advisory
Bodies, attached as Exhibit A, and thereby repeals and supersedes Resolution No. 
2004- 089, and Resolution No. 2004- 152. 

The foregoing Resolution 2020- 009 was passed and adopted by the Tracy
City Council on the 21 st day of January, 2020, by the following vote: 

AYES: COUNCIL MEMBERS: ARRIOLA, RANSOM, VARGAS, YOUNG, RICKMAN

NOES: COUNCIL MEMBERS: NONE

ABSENT: COUNCIL MEMBERS: NONE

ABSTAIN: COUNCIL MEMBERS: NONE

MAYOR

ATT T: 

CLERK

ATTACHMENT A



COUNCIL POLICY ESTABLISHING A SELECTION PROCESS FOR APPOINTMENTS TO

CITY ADVISORY BODIES

Exhibit " A" to Resolution No. 2020- 009) 

SECTION 1: PURPOSE

To establish a selection process for appointments to City advisory bodies including defining
residency requirements, in accordance with Government Code sections 54970 et seq. 

SECTION 2: SELECTION PROCESS FOR APPOINTEE BODIES

A. On or before December 31st of each year, the City Clerk shall prepare an appointment list of
all regular and ongoing boards, commissions and committees that are appointed by the City
Council of the City of Tracy. The list shall contain the following information: 

1. A list of all appointee terms which will expire during the next calendar year, with the
name of the incumbent appointee, the date of the appointment, the date the term

expires and the necessary qualifications for the position. 

2. A list of all boards, commissions and committees whose members serve at the pleasure

of the Council and the necessary qualifications of each position. 

3. The list of appointments shall be made available to the public for a reasonable fee that

shall not exceed actual cost of production. The Tracy Public Library shall receive a
copy of the list. 

B. Whenever a vacancy occurs in any board, commission or committee, whether due to
expiration of an appointee' s term, resignation, death, termination or other causes, a special

notice shall be posted in the office of the City Clerk, The Tracy Public Library, the City
website, and in other places as directed within twenty ( 20) days after the vacancy occurs. 
Final appointment to the board, commission or committee shall not be made by the City
Council for at least ten ( 10) working days after the posting of the notice in the Clerk' s office. 
If Council finds an emergency exists, the Council may fill the unscheduled vacancy
immediately. 

C. Appointments shall be made for the remainder of the term created by the vacancy except as
follows: 

If appointee will fill an un -expired term with six months or less remaining, the
appointment shall be deemed to be for the new term. 

2. If the vacancy is filled by an emergency appointment the appointee shall serve only on
an acting basis until the final appointment is made pursuant to section 2. 

D. The Council shall use the following selection process to provide an equal opportunity for
appointment to a board, commission or committee: 



Council shall appoint two Council members to serve on a subcommittee to review

applications, interview applicants and recommend a candidate for appointment to the

board, commission or committee. 

2. If the Council subcommittee determines there are multiple qualified candidates, the

subcommittee can recommend the Council establish an eligibility list that can be used to
fill vacancies that occur in the following twelve ( 12) months. 

3. At the Council subcommittee' s discretion, the chair ( or designee) of the board, 

committee or commission for which a member will be appointed, can participate in the

interviews. 

E. In the event there are not two or more applicants than vacancies on any board, commission
or committee, the filing deadline may be extended by the City Clerk. 

F. An individual already serving on a City of Tracy board, committee or commission may not be
appointed to serve on an additional City of Tracy board, committee, or commission
concurrently. 

SECTION 3: DEFINITION OF RESIDENCY REQUIREMENTS

A. The following definitions shall be used to determine whether residency requirements are met
for boards and commissions to which the Tracy City Council appoints members: 

1. Tracy Planning Area means the geographical area defined in the City of Tracy General
Plan and any amendments thereto. 

2. City of Tracy means within the city limits of the City of Tracy. 

3. Citizen means a resident of the City of Tracy. 

4. Tracy School District means the geographical area served by the Tracy Unified School
District. 

5. Sphere of Influence shall be the geographical area approved by the Local Agency
Formation Commission ( LAFCo) of San Joaquin County and any amendments thereto. 

B. Residency, as defined above and as set forth in the applicable bylaws for each board or
commission, shall be verified annually by the City Clerk. The residency must be verifiable
by any of the following means: 

1. Voter registration, 

2. Current California Driver' s License or Identification, 

2



3. Utility bill information ( phone, water, cable, etc.), 

4. Federal or State tax returns. 

C. Members of boards or commissions shall notify the City Clerk in writing within thirty ( 30) 
days of any change in residency. If the change in residency results in the board member or

commissioner no longer meeting the residency requirements, the member shall tender their
resignation to the City Clerk who shall forward it to the City Council. 

3


	Agenda Cover
	1A
	1B
	1C
	1D
	1E
	1F
	3B
	3C
	3D
	3E



